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General Economic Overview

Dear shareholders,
In the introduction to this Report, we feel it is appropriate to express some considerations about 
the general global economic picture and about the situation in our own country.

The International Economic Scenario

During 2015 the global economy showed weak signs of growth, with positive trends in the more 
advanced countries and weakness in the emerging economies, which slows the expansion of trade 
and contributes to the compression of raw material prices.
Global GDP grew by 2.9% in 2015 and, in 2016, forecasts are for modest acceleration over 2015. 

In the United States the growth process begun in 2014 continued, resulting in an increment in GDP 
of 2.4%, sustained by a rise in corporate investments. In Japan, too, unlike the last period of the 
previous year, the economy reported growth of 1% in the fourth quarter. 

In the strongest emerging economies, the overall economic picture remains frail, with markedly 
varying trends in different countries. 
The worsening of the recession in Brazil was contrasted by the positive evolution of the economic 
situation in India, and an attenuation of the fall of GDP in Russia. 
The Chinese economy displayed a more incisive slowdown, driven mainly by a deceleration of in-
vestments that led to a weak trend in imports. Growth should settle at 6.8% in 2015 and is expected 
to fall to 6.3% next year compared to 7.3% reported in 2014.

OECD forecasts predict a gradual acceleration of global economic activity in the current year and 
next year, although its world growth forecasts for 2016 have been adjusted downward, especially 
for Japan, Russia and Brazil. 

Inflation continues to be very low in all the more advanced countries. 
In November the consumption deflator in the United States grew 0.5%. Prices in Japan reported 
an increase of 0.3% and in the United Kingdom 0.1%. In the emerging countries, inflation remained 
low in China (1.5% in November), on par with the aim of the Central Bank in India (5.4%) but higher 
in Russia and Brazil, which reported figures of 15% and 10.5% respectively.

In the United States the Federal Reserve began a normalization process of its monetary policy, 
raising the interest rate on federal funds by 25 basis points. This increase, the first since 2006, 
marks the end of the policy of zero interest rates adopted in December 2008. The increase had a 
modest impact on the financial and international currency markets. The Federal Reserve gave the 
main reason for raising the interest rate as being the significant rise in employment, confirming 
a gradual increase in the official interest rates, which could rise by one percentage point during 
2016. In the other economies, monetary policies remain strongly expansive. In the United King-
dom, no rise in the official interest rates is expected until at least June of this year. In China, the 
Central Bank lowered both the obligatory reserve coefficient and interest rates on bank deposits 
and bank loans, and injected liquidity by launching short-term repo transactions. In other emerg-
ing countries, there was no change in interest rates.
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Global trade began to grow again, albeit at a slower pace than that forecast by the OECD. In the 
first nine months of the year global trade rose 1.2%, compared to the same period in 2014.
In December and in January, the price of crude oil fell still further, sinking even below the threshold 
of U.S. dollars 30 a barrel due to the strengthening of the dollar, the slump in the Chinese economy 
and the excess supply of oil on the market.

In the Eurozone growth continues but remains fragile, with an increase in GDP of 1.5%. The con-
traction of exports and the weakening of investments were partly compensated by a rise in internal 
demand. The confidence shared by businesses and households, sustained by positive employment 
figures, suggests that the recovery is still ongoing. As for the future outlook, the prospects of a 
gradual increase in growth are still threatened by risks of a downturn associated with uncertainty 
about demand in key markets and the heightening of geo-political tensions in the Middle East. 
These factors could undermine the climate of confidence and slow down the recovery of consump-
tion and business on a global scale. Inflation remains very low, partly due to the effect of the fall 
in oil prices. In the months to come, the expectations of households and businesses should lead 
to a slight recovery in the growth of prices, which would, however, remain at modest levels. In ad-
dition to the fall in the prices of energy goods, the under-utilization of productive capacity also is 
contributing to keeping the general dynamics of prices at minimum levels.

The Governing Council of the ECB has strengthened its monetary stimulus program: the securities 
markets program is proving to be effective in terms of sustaining economic activity. At the meet-
ing held on December 3, 2015 the ECB issued a new package of measures, reducing the interest 
on deposits in the Eurosystem banks by ten basis points, to -0.30%, extending the duration of the 
securities markets program by six months, and extending the range of securities allowed so that it 
includes bonds issued by local and regional Public Administrations in the Eurozone. 
The monetary expansion policy is also having its effects on the credit market: bank loans to non-
financial companies reported an increase of 1.8% over the year and the growth of bank loans to 
households remained stable at 1.9%. Average interest rates on new loans to non-financial compa-
nies and households are at a historical low: 2.1% and 2.3% respectively.

Furthermore, the strengthening of the ECB’s securities markets program had a positive effect on 
the sovereign spreads of the Eurozone. Since the beginning of October, when expectations of an ex-
tension of the program were first consolidated, the differentials in the yield recorded contractions 
for Italy bringing the spread to about 100 basis points, also for Spain and Ireland, but remained 
more or less stable elsewhere. The ECB’s expansionist monetary policy and the move to increase 
interest rates in the United States are reflected in the Euro exchange rate which from about mid-
October onwards lost about 4% of its value against the U.S. dollar, and 3% against the yen.
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The Italian Economy in 2015 and Forecasts for 2016.
Comments on the Spanish and Portuguese Economies

In Italy, the very gradual recovery continues. Based on figures currently available, in 2015, GDP 
reported growth of 0.7% compared to a reduction of 0.4% in 2014. The drive from exports has 
weakened. Having sustained activity over the last four years, exports have now come to a halt, as 
in the rest of the Eurozone, owing to the fall in demand from extra-European countries. Exports 
are gradually being replaced by domestic demand, especially with regard to consumption and the 
replenishing of inventories. The positive cyclical conditions in manufacturing are accompanied by 
signs of expansion in the sphere of services and the end of the recessive phase in the construction 
sector.
 
Corporate profitability improved, partly due to lower funding requirements as a result of an im-
provement in self-financing capacity, which more than compensated the increase in investments. 
In the last quarter of the year, the trend of corporate bank loans became noticeably positive again, 
for the first time since the end of 2011.
There were comforting signs also in the labor market. In fact, in the third quarter the employment 
figures continued to improve, especially in the case of young people and in the services sector, 
leading to a significant reduction in applications for unemployment benefits. In fact, unemploy-
ment fell to 11.4% compared to 12.8% in 2014.

Following the gradual improvement in the economic situation, for banks, the flow of new impaired 
bank loans as a percentage of outstanding loans decreased to 3.6%, from 3.8% in the prior quarter 
of the year. The flow of new non-performing loans as a percentage of outstanding loans fell more 
decisively from 2.9% to 2.4%. Profitability of the largest banking groups increased compared to the 
prior year, thanks to the growth of fee and commission income (up 7.5%), and the reduction in im-
pairment losses on receivables (24.0% less). The strengthening of capital in the sector continues. 
At the end of September, the best quality capital, “common equity tier 1” and the total of own funds 
“total capital” of the banking system were equal on average to 12.3% and 15.1% of risk-weighted 
assets respectively.

On the basis of preliminary information, it is estimated that in 2015 the net debt of the Public Ad-
ministrations was 3% lower than in 2014, with the percentage close to the Government estimate 
of 2.6% of GDP. 
Official forecasts suggest that in 2016 net debt should contract even further, to 2.4% of GDP. The 
new Stability Law has cut revenues by €18 billion and expenditures by €0.4 billion. The main mea-
sures involve the removal of the safeguard clauses introduced by the Stability Laws for 2014 and, 
for 2015, the abolition of property tax on the main owned properties and the extension of incentives 
for employment.

Forecasts estimate a consolidation of the recovery of the Italian economy. To achieve this, it is as-
sumed that less input from foreign trade will be replaced by a greater contribution from domestic 
demand and from trade within the Eurozone. For this to happen, it is essential that the effects 
of the securities markets program of the Eurosystem and the improvement of credit conditions 
should continue. Potential risk factors could stem from the international scenario: the slowdown 
in China and in the emerging economies could become more marked and last longer than predict-
ed, raising levels of uncertainty and leading to greater caution over decisions about investments. 
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Also, heightened geo-political tensions, due to the situation in the Middle East and recent terrorist 
attacks, could have repercussions on the confidence of households and the corporate sector.  

In Spain in 2015 the economy grew, with an increase in GDP of 3.4%. This was influenced mainly by 
the growing domestic demand and the drop in oil prices, resulting a fall in the cost of raw materi-
als.

The year 2016 began in a situation of political instability driven by the results of the political elec-
tions held in December 2015, namely a shift towards two new political parties, “Podemos” and 
“Ciudadanos”, and a simultaneous fall in support for the traditional political parties, the  People’s 
Party and the Socialist Party. 

Consequently it has not yet been possible to form a new government.
In the last quarter of 2015 unemployment was 21.28%, an improvement on the 23.07% reported in 
2014. Despite this improvement, apart from Greece, Spain has the highest unemployment rate in 
Europe. 

In Portugal a new government took over at the end of November 2015. There was a period of un-
certainty following political elections in October 2015, which saw victory by the conservative “Por-
tugallo Avanti” party however the party did not command an outright majority. To begin with, Pedro 
Passos Coelho, leader of the winning party, was given the task of forming a government but did 
not survive a vote of confidence in Parliament. The new government is led by Antonio Costa of the 
Socialist Party who can count on external support from the Left Block and the Unitary Democratic 
Coalition.
In 2015 Portugal’s GDP recorded a growth of 1.4% due largely to an increase of 2.3% in domestic 
demand in the last quarter.
As far as public finances are concerned, from January to November 2015 the Public Administra-
tions showed a deficit of €4,805.3 million, an improvement of €1,736.3 million compared to the 
figure in 2014. This was possible mainly thanks to an increase in revenues of 0.6% and simultane-
ous cost cuts of 1.9%.

The National Debt Structure, Expenditures for Goods and Services 
and Healthcare in Italy. 
Comments on Spain and Portugal 

According to Ministry of Economy and Finance estimates (Document of Economy and Finance 
(DEF) April 2015), public expenditures in 2015 will be about €827 billion, a slight increase over 
€826 billion in 2014.
The 2015 figure was negatively affected by the failure to apply the spending review to the govern-
ment budget and the increase in expenditures for social benefits.

As for the national debt, on February 15, 2016 the statistical bulletin of the Bank of Italy was pub-
lished on the estimates of the debt and funding requirements of the Public Administrations for 
2015.
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At December 31, 2015 the national debt of Italy was €2,169.9 billion, recording an increase of €33.8 
billion compared to €2,136 billion at year-end 2014. The increase was nevertheless lower than the 
funding requirements of the Public Administrations (€49.3 billion) thanks above all to the reduc-
tion of €10.7 billion in the liquidity of the Treasury and the premiums and discounts on issues, 
which reduced the debt by €5.1 billion.
It should be noted that the consolidated debt of the local governments decreased by €6.6 billion 
whereas that of the central government rose by €40.5 billion.

Expenditures for goods and services of the Public Administration in 2014 totaled €135.2 billion, of 
which almost €29.5 billion related to the healthcare sector (DEF April 2015). Estimates for 2015 by 
the Ministry of Economy and Finance do not envisage changes in the overall figure (€135.2 billion), 
even though the expenditure level is expected to be €30.3 billion higher.
The estimate was arrived at by taking into consideration both the trend in expenditures reported 
over recent years and the effects of measures adopted to reduce the expenditures of the Public 
Administration (e.g. reduction of the central purchasing offices, established by Legislative Decree 
66/2014).

In recent years numerous actions have been taken to cut and reduce healthcare expenditures. The 
most important legislation in this respect is Legislative Decree 78/2010 which was converted with 
amendments, to Law 122/2010. This law introduced certain changes in terms of both the planning 
of the resources earmarked for the National Health Service and on the question of repayment 
plans.

In implementing the Healthcare Agreement 2014-2016, Law 190 of December 23, 2014 (so-called 
“Stability Law 2015”) set the funding level for the National Health Service at €112.1 billion for 2015 
and €115.4 billion in 2016.
However during 2015 measures to reduce expenditures were passed and this led to a new agree-
ment between the State and the Regions, as a result of which the expense of the financial ma-
neuver to be borne by the National Health Service was set at approximately €2.4 billion starting 
in 2015, with a consequent reduction, for the same amount, in the level of funding of the National 
Health Service, so that the budget was set at €109.7 billion for 2015 and €113.1 billion for 2016.

In 2015, therefore, the funding of the National Health Service was €109.7 billion against healthcare 
costs of €111.3 billion.
The healthcare deficit for 2015, taking into account only the funding by the State, was therefore 
approximately €1.5 billion.

Finally, Law 208 of December 28, 2015 (so-called “Stability Law 2016”) further reduced the funding 
level of the National Health Service for 2016 so that it is now set at €111 billion. 
Starting January 1, 2015, as established by the Stability Law 2015, a split payment mechanism was 
introduced (Art. 17-ter of D.P.R 633/1972) on the basis of which the public entities, and no longer 
the suppliers, would pay VAT to the tax office on certain sales of goods and on services rendered to 
those entities. In this way, the payment of invoices will be split between the tax office, with regard 
to VAT, and the supplier, for the taxable amount, thus resulting in a split payment.
Since this area is regulated by community law, the European Commission examined the Italian law 
and, in June, authorized the application of the split payment mechanism. The authorization is only 
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valid until December 31, 2017 when adequate controls will have been developed based on the data 
acquired through electronic invoicing. E-invoicing has been obligatory from the date of March 31, 
2015 for transactions carried out with all the Public Administrations.

During the period 2013-2014, various new legislation was issued to tackle the problem of the 
amounts payable by the Public Administration: Legislative Decree 35 in 2013, converted with 
amendments into Law 64/2013, budgeted €27 billion; Legislative Decree 102 of August 31, 2013 
increased the payments scheduled for 2013 by €7.2 billion, without reducing those anticipated 
for 2014; the Stability Law 2014 set aside another €0.5 billion for the year 2014; with Legislative 
Decree 66/2014, the government budgeted another €9.3 billion and made it possible to provide the 
State guarantee using receivables from the Public Administration as collateral.
 
As at July 20, 2015, €38.6 billion had been paid to creditors of the Public Administration against 
total funding to the debtors of €44.6 billion. Compared to the peak of amounts payable, estimated 
at €91 billion by the Bank of Italy at year-end 2012, an amount corresponding to payables consid-
ered past due and behind in payment has been absorbed by the debtor entities which, according to 
the Bank of Italy, is “only slightly more than half” of total payables. To correctly gauge the payment 
of this peak, it should be considered that the debtors had to use their own ordinary resources, 
besides the funding from the government.

Even after the passing the new regulations on “federal healthcare”, the main tool to ensure eco-
nomic equilibrium in the sector is the obligation that Regions with elevated deficits will have to 
adopt repayment plans.
Under the repayment plan system, Regions are obliged to activate fiscal levers to the maximum 
levels permitted by law in order to raise additional resources to cover their deficits arising from 
healthcare management.
Currently, the following Regions implementing this procedure are Piedmont, Apulia and Sicily, now 
joined by Lazio, Abruzzo, Molise, Campania and Calabria, Regions for which a Commissioner ad 
acta is required for the continuation of the repayment plan.
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With reference to the situation in Spain, 2015 ended with cumulative national debt of €1,062 billion, 
equal to 99.30% of GDP compared to €1,033.7 billion in 2014.

As regards the Spanish healthcare system, the most recent figures supplied by the Ministry of 
Economy and Finance place healthcare debt at November 2015 at €8,788 million compared to 
€6,066 million in 2014. According to Farmindustria estimates, 2015 should close with a 30% reduc-
tion in this debt compared to November owing to the injection of liquidity in the public system in 
December (FLA -“Fondo de Liquidez Autonómico”).
Concerning expenditures for the supply of drug products, in 2015 there was a 1.86% increase re-
corded compared to the prior year, contrary to the trend in recent years.

Starting from 2012 the Spanish government passed certain programs directed to improving the 
situation surrounding payment delays in the healthcare sector, reducing Days’ Sales Outstanding 
at the end of 2014 to around 200 days. 
Royal Decree 17/2014 of December 26, 2014 regulated the conditions for financing guaranteed by 
the State and directed to the Autonomous Regions that participate in the FLA in 2015, aimed at 
supporting the payment of suppliers of the Public Administration and the Healthcare System.

This Decree sets the conditions and the amounts of the FLA but left the times for the payment of 
the funds at the complete discretion of the central government, thus mitigating the negative ef-
fects, arising from the inflow of liquidity for the Autonomous Regions, on Farmafactoring España’s 
non-recourse receivables purchases business.
Days’ Sales Outstanding and the debt trend with suppliers of the National Health Service (exclud-
ing drug suppliers) are represented as follows: 

National Health Fund (MEF data)
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DSO / Debt Evolution

The reduction in DSO at the end of 2015 to 148 days is due to the payment of approximately €8,467 
million by the government under the FLA in 2015. This reduced trade debt and the times of payment 
by the public sector in general.
In December 2015, Farmafactoring España benefited from a collection flow that was higher than ex-
pected, amounting to more than €155 million. However, this reduced the propensity of the clientele 
to enter into transactions to sell receivables during the final part of the year.
In Portugal, on January 25, 2016, the DGO (the office that controls the implementation of the Por-
tuguese budget) published the budget figures for 2015: the country’s deficit totals €4,594 million; 
revenues came to €76,228 million while expenditures were incurred for €80,822 million.

Overall expenditures for goods and services of the Public Administration were €11,515 million and 
those relating to the healthcare sector stood at €5,256 million.

As regards the Portuguese healthcare sector, the DGO reported a simultaneous increase in costs 
and revenues in 2015 of 2% and 2.6%, respectively, compared to the prior year.
Portugal’s healthcare deficit is €120.2 million, with an improvement of €44 million compared to the 
prior year.

Among new legislation that came into force this year is a new code for administrative procedures 
that proposes to accelerate the executive process times by introducing, among other things, the 
figure of an “agente de execuçao”, a private clerk of the court who will replace the chancellor of the 
Court in questions of seizure of property.

Source: Fenin
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Developments in the Banking Group 

The Banking Group has again focused on the development of its business model by continuing to 
direct activities towards the management and sale of receivables due from the National Health 
Service and the entities of the Public Administration, in the countries in which it is present.

The diversification of sources of financing has likewise progressed during the course of the year, by 
also extending to Spain, through the Banca Farmafactoring branch in Madrid, the model of online 
deposit accounts already operating in Italy. The model is aimed at retail and corporate customers 
and is guaranteed by the Fondo Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi.

In this regard, the Bank of Italy informed Banca Farmafactoring on January 30, 2015 that it had 
proceeded to notify the Spanish Regulatory Authority of Banca Farmafactoring’s intention to es-
tablish a branch, in accordance with provisions in force on the subject (Circular 285 of December 
17, 2013, Title 1, Chapter 5, Section II). Banco de España then authorized the establishment of the 
branch on February 18, 2015.
The Spanish branch of Banca Farmafactoring commenced operations in July 2015.

As regards the calculation of amortized cost, including interest on late payments recognized on 
the accrual basis, the Bank integrated the time series of data utilized in the prior year, regarding 
the percentages and collection times of interest on late payments, with the collections recorded in 
2015. As concerns the percentages of realization of interest on late payments, the analysis on 2015 
showed that the recoverability percentages were higher than the average recorded up to last year, 
and which had led to the determination of the 40% used for amortized cost. However, prudently, 
the existing realization percentages have been confirmed. With reference to collection times, the 
times series analysis on 2015 indicated a longer time frame, but considering the average of the 
time series of data utilized (2010-2015), it is still lower than the 1800 days currently in use.

On March 31, 2015 Farma Holding S.à r.l., the majority shareholder, announced that it had a signed 
an agreement with BFF Luxembourg S.à r.l. – a company controlled by the Centerbridge Partners 
Europe L.P. Fund – for the purchase of the investment in Banca Farmafactoring.

On November 4, 2015, 1,602,341 shares – representing 94.26% of the share capital of the Bank – 
were transferred to BFF Luxembourg S.à r.l. by the majority shareholder Farma Holding S.à r.l. and 
some minority shareholders.

Following the change in the shareholder structure, the Bank interrupted the IPO launch and listing 
process for its shares on the regulated marked.
In its 2015 income statement, non-recurring expenses were recorded under administrative ex-
penses for more than €5 million.
Of these expenses approximately €3.5 million refers to expenses in connection with the IPO pro-
cess, the change in the shareholder of reference and other non-recurring transactions, whereas 
approximately €1.6 million refers to contributions paid into the Resolution Fund and the Fondo 
Interbancario Tutela dei Depositi.

From February 5, to April 22, 2015 the Bank of Italy conducted an inspection in Banca Farmafac-
toring. 
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On July 15, the inspectors of the Bank of Italy presented the “Findings and Observations” report to 
the board of directors. The inspection concluded with a positive opinion and there were no matters 
that arose such as to lead to the start of proceedings for sanctions.
The information provided to the Regulatory Authority describing the actions and the related timing 
for implementation that the Bank intends to take in respect of the recommendations received as a 
result of the inspection, was approved by the board of directors on September 10, 2015.

The Banking Group’s total exposure to its business risks at December 31, 2015 is considered more 
than adequate in relation to the level of capitalization and the identified risk profile.
The capital ratios for the CET1 Capital Ratio, the Tier 1 Capital Ratio and the Total Capital Ratio are 
24.3%. 

With regard to the liquidity ratios, LCR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio), NSFR (Net Stable Funding Ratio) 
and the Leverage Ratio, the Parent performs continuous monitoring, in addition to regularly trans-
mitting the reporting requirements required by regulations.
As concerns this activity, the Bank fully complies with requirements, including the application of 
the limits defined by the European Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) for future years.
The LCR ratio, pertaining to short term liquidity (within 30 days), at December 31, 2015 is approxi-
mately 390%, a percentage abundantly exceeding the 60% minimum established by the regulation. 
The NSFR ratio, referring to liquidity beyond 30 days, at the same date, is above 111% compared to 
the indicative percentage of 100% established by the Basel Committee for 2019.
The leverage ratio at December 31, 2015 is 6.1% against the 3% currently fixed by the Basel Com-
mittee. 
  
The business of the subsidiary Farmafactoring España was further consolidated in 2015 and op-
erations increased as a result of the purchase of non-recourse receivables for €450 million, com-
pared to €316 million in 2014. 
Thanks to the gains made in volumes and collections, the subsidiary reported a 420% increase in 
profit to €9,131 thousand compared to €2,175 thousand in the prior year.
Even activities in Portugal, exercised under the freedom of provision of services principle, recorded 
significant growth, with an increase in volumes.

A description is provided below on the trend of the most important indicators of the Banking 
Group’s business and the key consolidated balance sheet and income statement figures.

Performance by the Banca Farmafactoring Group in 2015

Overall volumes reported by the Banking Group totaled €6,286 million in 2015. This is an increase 
of 15% over €5,450 million recorded in 2014, while total collections came to €5,522 million com-
pared to €5,191 million in the prior year.

To counteract the challenging macroeconomic scenario and a more complicated competitive envi-
ronment, the Group continued to develop commercial policies designed to strengthen its relation-
ships with existing customers and to acquire new clientele both in the Bank’s traditional sector of 
business and in relation to other counterparties of the Public Administration.
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The purchase of non-recourse receivables totaled €2,986 million and is higher than the €2,502 
million of purchases in 2014 thanks to the acquisition of new clientele and the contribution to 
business by Farmafactoring España, which made purchases for €450 million compared to €311 
million in 2014. 
In particular, €992 million was purchased by the Group from other non-healthcare counterparties 
of the Public Administration compared to €336 million in 2014. As for the Portuguese market, the 
Group purchased €55 million of non-recourse receivables against €29 million last year.

These results seem even more significant when considering the introduction of the split payment 
mechanism under the “Stability Law 2015”. Under this mechanism, for invoices issued from Janu-
ary 1, 2015, it is the public entities, and no longer the suppliers, that pay VAT to the tax office on the 
sales of goods and on services rendered to those entities. 
For Banca Farmafactoring, the effect of the introduction of split payments led to a reduction in like-
for-like volumes of approximately 15% (average VAT rate of the transferred portfolios) on Italian 
trade receivables.

In Spain the government injected liquidity for the payment of amounts due by the regions to the 
suppliers of the National Health Service and the Public Administration in general (Plan Especial 
de Pagos – Fondo de Liquidez Autonómico – FLA and Fondo de Facilidad Financiera - FFF). Some €37 
billion was assigned to these entities (excluding the Basque Country). This led to a phase in which 
customers were scarcely inclined to sell their receivables, particularly in the last quarter of the 
year, which is traditionally the quarter with the highest volumes of receivables sales.
Nevertheless Farmafactoring España increased the volumes purchased by 39% over the prior year 
thanks to an active commercial policy geared both to existing customers and to acquiring new 
customers.
The following graphs represent the total volumes of the Group divided by country.
The data up to and including 2010 refer to Farmafactoring since Farmafactoring España only made 
its first purchases of non-recourse receivables in 2011, while the first purchases by Portugal were 
made in 2014.
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The next graph shows the distribution of volumes in each year by type of counterparty and market 
compared to those of the previous two years. The comparison highlights a strong contribution to 
growth by Spain, Portugal and the Italian Public Administration (PA). The total purchases, com-
pared to 2014, show a 19% increase, with those from the Public Administration increasing by 195%.
Considering an average VAT rate of 15%, the receivables purchased in Italy grew, net of the split 
payment, by approximately 66% compared to 2013, and approximately 32% compared to 2014.
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Total turnover
managed

12.31.2013

4,535 €mln

12.31.2014

+ 65%

5,450 €mln

12.31.2015 Var 15/13

+ 39% + 16%6,325 €mln

1680

36

1,773

2,501

2,985

1842

319

1519

937

Portugal

VAT receivables Italy
PA Italy
NHA Italy

Spain

57

311

29 25

450

55

Normalizing 2014 for the split payment effect, the overall turnover rose by €1 billion compared to 
the prior year, with an increase of approximately 32%.

Source: BFF internal data
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The following graph represents total collections of the Group according to country.

Collections on non-recourse receivables purchased amounted to €2,525 million.
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2015

Non-recourse Receivables - Purchases and Collections
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In 2015 the average days’ sales outstanding for receivables managed by Banca Farmafactoring on 
its behalf and on behalf of third parties, for Italy, was 216 days compared to 193 days in 2014. 

The higher number of days compared to the prior year is largely attributable to the notable in-
crease in volumes on purchases from other counterparties of the Public Administration, which 
have longer payment times than the entities of the National Health Service.

The payment times of the National Health Service are also influenced by the gradual lessening 
of the positive effects of the government measures that made resources available to the entities 
of the Public Administration so they could cope with the problem of accumulated liabilities in ar-
rears (Legislative Decree 35/2013, Legislative Decree 102/2013, Stability Law 2014 and Legislative 
Decree 66/2014).
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The expansionist measures adopted by the ECB have provided support to economic activities and 
credit recovery. The ECB is determined to use every instrument available including the possibil-
ity of varying the size, composition and duration of the programs for public and private securities 
purchases if this becomes necessary to counter the risks of a decline and to ensure that inflation 
returns to values consistent with the definition of price stability. 

In this context, the Bank has managed to operate adequately, thanks also to its solid capitalization 
and the stability of its financial resources. 
At December 31, 2015 financial resources arising from wholesale funding of a banking nature and 
from the bond issue floated in June 2014 amounted to €1,764 million.

Considering the approximately €418 million on the deposit-taking account, described below, the 
total amount of funding for the purchase of non-recourse receivables is equal to €2,182 million at 
December 31, 2015.

Source: Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A. internal data
Years
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Trend in wholesale funding and Direct Deposit-Taking
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The following activities were concluded during the year with the aim of diversifying and optimiz-
ing the deposit-taking structure and rendering it more flexible in relation to the dynamics of the 
development of the Bank’s business: 

•	Structuring of stand-by financing for a total amount, at the end of the year, of €590 million;
 
•	Reduction in the funding term loan structures from full utilization of €672.5 million to €260 mil-
lion, represented by the structured securitization transaction with the Deutsche Bank Group, the 
revolving period of which is expected to end on June 30, 2016, and the Club Deal loan arranged by 
the Intesa Sanpaolo Group, which is scheduled to end in April 2016. The term loan structures were 
also reduced by the full early repayment, originally scheduled for June 2015 by contract, of the pool 
loan organized by the Intesa Sanpaolo Group, for the remaining amount of €215 million, and the 
pool loan arranged by the Unicredit Group of €197.5 million; 
 
•	Increment, up to €330 million, in the existing collaboration with Unicredit Factoring and Ifitalia 
for the sale of receivables due by Banca Farmafactoring from debtors of the Public Administration.

The reimbursement of the Senior Notes under the FF Finance S.r.l. securitization program, origi-
nally for an amount of €100 million, was completed on February 25, 2015.
During March 2015 agreements and other required documents were signed with SPV (Issuer), the 
Intesa Sanpaolo Group (Account Bank and Cash Manager), Duomo Funding Plc (Noteholder) and 
other counterparties to the transaction for the closing of the securitization program.

2,182
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At the end of the year the face value of securities in portfolio amounted to €1,218.5 million, of 
which:
•	€419 million is classified in the Available-for-Sale (AFS) portfolio
•	€799.5 million is classified in the Held-to-Maturity (HTM) portfolio.

The securities held in the available-for-sale portfolio are at variable rates (CCT) with maturity 
dates within five years, whereas those held in the HTM portfolio are at fixed rates (BOT, BTP and 
CTZ) with maturity dates related to the sources of committed and unsecured funding held by the 
Bank according to company policy.

In addition, with regard to government securities used as collateral, during the year refinancing 
operations were put in place with the Eurosystem through participation in Open Market Operations 
with the ECB (currently full allotment at least until December 31, 2017), and with repos mainly with 
Cassa Compensazione e Garanzia through the MTS platform.

At December 31, 2015 the government securities portfolio was refinanced for a nominal value of 
€206 million through ECB auctions and €892 million with repos. The nominal value of securities 
available at December 31, 2015 is €120 million (of which €20 million in intraday credit with the 
Central Bank).

Deposit Account

In September 2014 Banca Farmafactoring launched an online deposit account in Italy called 
Conto Facto aimed at retail and corporate clientele and guaranteed by the Fondo Interbancario 
di Tutela dei Depositi of which the Bank is a member. The product was created with the strategic 
objective of diversifying the Group’s funding operations and reducing its borrowing cost.
Conto Facto can be held by individuals and companies resident in Italy. Account holders de-
posit their funds for a fixed term choosing the exact date between 3 and 36 months on which 
to withdraw their cash. The interest offered on the deposits varies according to the maturity 
date selected, as described in the “Fact Sheets” under “Transparency” on the Bank’s website 
(www.bancafarmafactoring.it) and Conto Facto’s website (www.contofacto.it), as well as at the 
Bank’s offices opened to the public. 

Since May 25, 2015 the offer for individuals has been extended by the addition of a new time de-
posit account denominated Conto Facto Plus, which provides account holders with the possibility 
of withdrawing up to 30% of the principal without a penalty. Conto Facto Plus comes with maturity 
dates of between 9 and 36 months. 
Both forms of time deposit accounts (Facto, on which funds cannot be withdrawn in advance, and 
Facto Plus) require a minimum deposit of €10,000 for each account to be opened, and the maxi-
mum balance per account is €3 million for individuals (Facto and Facto Plus) and microcompanies 
(only Facto) and €10 million for companies (only Facto).

In August 2015 the Spanish branch of Banca Farmafactoring launched a similar online deposit 
account, Cuenta Facto, also aimed at retail and company clientele and guaranteed by the Fondo 
Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi, of which the Bank is a member. In this case too, the product 
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aims to diversify the Group’s funding and reduce its borrowing cost, as well as take deposits in loco 
to fund the purchase of non-recourse receivables factoring activities by the Group in Spain.
Cuenta Facto can be held by individuals and companies resident in Spain. As with Conto 
Facto, account holders deposit their funds for a fixed term choosing the exact date between 
3 and 60 months on which to withdraw their cash. The interest offered on the deposits varies 
according to the maturity date selected, as described in the documents “Condiciones par-
ticulares” and “Anexo precios y tarifas” in the section “Contratos y tarifas” on Cuenta Facto’s 
website (www.cuentafacto.es).
The time deposit account, on which funds cannot be withdrawn in advance, require a minimum 
deposit of €10,000 for each account to be opened, and the maximum balance per account is €3 
million for individuals and €10 million for companies.

At December 31, 2015 deposits in Conto Facto, Conto Facto Plus and Cuenta Facto totaled €418 
million compared to €226 million at December 31, 2014.

Internal Control

Pursuant to the provisions dictated by the Regulatory Authority, the organizational framework of 
the Internal Control System of the Bank is based upon the following three levels of control.

First-level controls
The first-level controls aim to ensure that transactions are correctly performed and carried out 
by the same operating structures that execute the transactions, with the support of computer 
procedures.

Second-level controls
With regard to second-level controls aimed at the management of risks, compliance with norms 
and control over the risk of money laundering and terrorism financing, the board of directors of 
Banca Farmafactoring resolved to form the Risk Management, Compliance and Anti-Money Laun-
dering Functions composed of:
•	Risk Management Function: oversees the realization of the process for determining capital ad-
equacy, monitors the controls over the management of risks in order to define the methodologies 
used to measure risk, assists the company bodies in designing the Risk Appetite Framework, veri-
fies that the limits assigned to the various operating functions are being observed and checks that 
the operations of the individual productive areas are consistent with the assigned risk and return 
objectives;
•	Compliance Function: supervises, according to a risk-based approach, the management of the 
risk of non-compliance with regulations, with regard to all the activities falling within the regula-
tory perimeter for the Bank, continuously verifying whether internal processes and procedures are 
adequate in preventing such risk; 
•	Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Function: oversees conformity in matters of anti-money launder-
ing and anti-terrorism, and is responsible for the controls required by the anti-money laundering 
law so as to prevent the use of the financial system for purposes of money laundering the profit 
from criminal activities, and the financing of terrorism.
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Third-level controls
Internal audit activities are conducted by the Group’s internal audit function, in a staff position to 
the board of directors. The regulation approved by the board of directors specifies that the internal 
audit function, within the third-level controls, should evaluate the overall functioning of the system 
of internal control and bring to the attention of the corporate boards possible improvements, with 
particular reference to the Risk Appetite Framework (RAF), to the process for the management of 
risks as well as the tools for their measurement and control.
The person in charge of the internal audit function has the necessary autonomy and is independent 
of the operating structure, in compliance with Bank of Italy’s regulation on the subject of internal 
controls, and with regard to internal regulations, is the function with the organizational means to 
monitor company processes. The internal audit function performed, for the year 2015, the testing 
activities established in the three-year 2013-2015 audit plan of the Banking Group, carrying out 
follow-up activities and reporting on the results of its testing on a quarterly basis to governance 
and control bodies of the Bank.  
Specifically, with particular focus on the most important processes within a risk-based framework, 
planned controls were performed on the Group’s structures, and audit work was conducted on the 
subsidiary Farmafactoring España and on the Spanish branch in Madrid.
The process for audit planning and management is certified under the quality standard UNI ISO 
9001:2008.
In December 2015 the person in charge of the internal audit function was appointed by the board of 
directors to head up the internal systems for whistleblowing in conformity with the banking regula-
tory requirements of reference. 

Supervisory Body pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001
An Organizational, Management and Control Model was designed by the Bank pursuant to Legisla-
tive Decree 231/2001. The model consists of a General Part and Specific Parts, with a Supervisory 
Body that periodically monitors the model’s adequacy through planned testing activities.
The activities performed by the Supervisory Body in 2015 were principally directed to the assess-
ment of the adequacy of the 231 Organizational Model, the control over information flows, anti-
money laundering and workplace safety issues, careful examination of reporting by the internal 
audit function and all other control functions.

Systems Development

In 2015 investments were made in the Information & Communication Technologies sector. These 
investments were directed to applications software and basic software and hardware to ensure 
the availability, continuity, performance and security of the systems (see Bank of Italy Circulars 263 
and 285, and subsequent updates, regarding systems and operating continuity, Legislative Decree 
196 of June 30, 2003, as amended, and the international standards ISO/IEC 27001:2013 - ISO/IEC 
27002:2007).

In particular, the following main projects were implemented:
•	activation of new physical and logical system servers and new systems for communication and 
safety in the production and disaster recovery sites;
•	completion of the private data transmission network between the main branches of the Bank 
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using MPLS technology;
•	activation of the deposit account front end system for the Spanish branch of the Bank and the 
RSI software systems; creation of new websites for Farmafactoring España and for Fondazione 
Farmafactoring;
•	completion of new software modules relating to: 
-	system for the management of receivables portfolios to be purchased;
-	system for the management of receivables volumes; 
-	system for the management of the classification of debtors;
-	putting into operation the new software module for the management of fixed assets in the Bank’s 
accounting system;
•	creation of new software functionality within the factoring system for the management of: 
-	Italian Public Administration debtors and Portuguese National Health Service debtors, split pay-
ments and electronic invoicing;
-	improvements to the pricing system;
•	completion of the plan updating systems and operating continuity in accordance with the new 
Bank of Italy regulations (Circulars 263 and 285, and successive updates); 
•	update to meet the requirements of Legislative Decree 196 of June 30, 2003, and subsequent 
amendments (Italian Personal Data Protection Code and related Annex B – Technical specifica-
tions concerning minimum security measures).

New Deposit Guarantee Scheme

The 2014/49/EU directive (Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive - DGSD) introduced, in 2015, on 
the subject of deposit guarantee schemes, a new mixed financing mechanism, based on ordinary 
contributions (ex-ante) and special contributions (ex-post), anchored to the institutions’ covered 
deposits and the degree of risk of the individual member bank. 

In particular, Art. 10 provides that available financial resources should be set aside up to the target 
level of 0.8% of total covered deposits by July 3, 2024, through ordinary annual contributions of the 
member banks.

The board of the Fondo Interbancario Tutela Depositi (FITD) has established that the overall contri-
bution level for 2015 should be €205,972,064. This corresponds to 50% of the annual contribution 
(calculated based on the accounting data at June 2015), to be divided among the member banks in 
relation only to the amount of covered deposits. The contribution quotas have been calculated in 
reference to the contribution base at September 30, 2015.

The amount of the contribution by Banca Farmafactoring for 2015 is approximately €134 thousand 
and was paid in December 2015. This amount was recognized in item 180 b) “other administrative 
expenses”, as indicated in the Bank of Italy note of January 19, 2016 “Contributions to Resolution 
Funds: treatment in financial statements and in regulatory reporting”. 

As concerns special contributions, Art. 23 of the new FITD statutes provides that “whenever the 
available financial resources are insufficient to reimburse depositors, the member banks shall 
pay special contributions not to exceed 0.5% of covered deposits per calendar year. In exceptional 
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cases, and with the consent of the Bank of Italy, the FITD may ask for higher contributions”.

On November 26, 2015 the shareholders’ meeting of FITD members also approved a voluntary 
scheme to be set up to implement support measures in favor of member banks in conditions of 
or at the risk of becoming insolvent. Banca Farmafactoring has indicated that it will participate in 
the scheme which will presumably involve a payment commitment of approximately €22 thousand.

National Resolution Fund

With Legislative Decrees 180 and 181 of November 16, 2015, the 2014/59/EU directive (Banking 
Resolution and Recovery Directive - BRRD) was introduced into national law. The directive estab-
lishes a rescue and resolution framework for banks and investment firms and provides for the 
establishment of national resolution funds.
The Bank of Italy thus established the National Resolution Fund by Order of November 18, 2015, 
with authority to use the resolution tools.
Every Member State will have to set up, by December 31, 2024, its own financing arrangement 
so that the amount funded is equal to at least 1% of the amount of the covered deposits of all the 
authorized entities in its respective territory.
In order to reach this objective, therefore, the contributions from the authorized entities in the 
respective territories will have to be received, at least on an annual basis. 
The annual ordinary contribution required to be paid by Banca Farmafactoring in 2015 is equal to 
approximately €367 thousand.

In addition, the Bank of Italy took into consideration the need to have recourse to the Fund imme-
diately as part of the framework of the resolution program for the crises at Banca delle Marche, 
Banca Popolare dell’Etruria e del Lazio, Cassa di Risparmio della Provincia di Chieti and Cassa di 
Risparmio di Ferrara. The Bank of Italy therefore initiated the procedure for receiving the special 
contribution in the maximum amount established, equal to three years of the ordinary contribu-
tion, in accordance with the provisions of Art. 83 of the above-mentioned Legislative Decree 180. 
For Banca Farmafactoring, this amount is approximately €1,100 thousand.

The total impact of the ordinary and special contributions was recorded in item 180 b) “other ad-
ministrative expenses”, as indicated in the Bank of Italy note of January 19, 2016 “Contributions to 
Resolution Funds: treatment in financial statements and in regulatory reporting”.

Finally, Regulation 806/2014, which came into effect on January 1, 2016, has established the Eu-
ropean Single Resolution Fund – SRF, which will be managed by the new European resolution Au-
thority, the Single Resolution Board. The national resolution funds received in 2015 will, in 2016, 
therefore become part of the new European Resolution Fund.
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Change in Staff Headcount

In order to support the development plans of the Banking Group and best meet the critical situ-
ation of the period, headcount was steadily increased over the years, as can be seen in the table 
below, divided by country.

Category

Executives
Supervisors
Remaining Staff

Total by country
Total

7
31
67

105

2013 2014

11
51

104
166

Italy
2012

Spain
1
3
1
5

110

7
34
67

108

9
45
85

139

2015

1
3
1
5

113

1
3
8

12
151

1
4

17
22

188

Personnel costs increased mainly as a result of the new staff additions during the current year.

(in € thousands) 

Item
Personnel costs

2010
9,030

2011
8,814

2012
11,802

2013
13,227

2014
14,828

2015
18,476

Italy Spain Italy Spain Italy Spain

During the year 37 new resources were added to the Group. Such increase in headcount was aimed 
at reinforcing the management structure and adding qualified professional staff.
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Transactions with the Parent and Other Related Parties

On November 4, 2015, as previously described, 1,602,341 shares, representing 94.26% of the share 
capital of the Bank, were transferred to BFF Luxembourg S.à r.l. by the majority shareholder 
Farma Holding S.à r.l. and some minority shareholders.

Following this transaction, the new majority shareholder of the Bank is BFF Luxembourg, which 
holds 94.255% of share capital. 
The shareholders of Banca Farmafactoring are the following:

94.255% 
BFF LUXEMBOURG

5.745%
3.276% Bracco
0.850% L. Molteni & C. dei F.lli Alitti
1.207% Mediolanum Farmaceutici
0.412% UNIONE FIDUCIARIA

The Group has factoring and mandate arrangements for the management and collection of receiv-
ables with its shareholder companies, which are conducted on an arm’s length basis.

There is a license agreement between Banca Farmafactoring and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
Farmafactoring España S.A. This agreement covers IT user rights to the software, organizational 
methods and communication lines of Banca Farmafactoring, as well as the assistance, mainte-
nance and monitoring of these IT rights. Royalties are paid as consideration and, for the year 2015, 
amounted to about €441 thousand.

The total exposure of Banca Farmafactoring with the subsidiary amounts to €173.2 million at De-
cember 31, 2015.

The ordinary shareholders’ meeting of Farmafactoring España held on February 24, 2016 approved 
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. Thanks to the increment in vol-
umes and collections, the subsidiary reported a profit of €9,131 thousand. This is a 420% increase 
over the €2,175 thousand reported in the prior year. 
Following its engagement for a voluntary audit, Deloitte S.L. expressed an unqualified opinion on 
the financial statements of Farmafactoring España S.A..
Additional information on related party transactions is presented in the Notes in Part H – Related 
party transactions.

Report on Operations



33

Business Outlook

According to the approved planning guidelines, the Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group will pur-
sue the activities undertaken in past years, developing commercial policies geared to the strength-
ening of its relationships with existing clientele, expanding operations not only for the manage-
ment of receivables deriving from the supply of drugs or diagnostic products but also from the 
supply of other merchandise sectors, as well as those arising from services provided to the Public 
Administration in general, in European Union countries.

In keeping with these guidelines, in January 2016, the Bank, through the vehicle company Medio-
na, specifically acquired for this purpose, announced a tender offer to purchase 100% of the shares 
of Magellan S.A., a Polish joint-stock company listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.
Magellan is a leader in the financial services market targeting the healthcare sector in Poland and 
operates also in the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Spain.

Such initiatives will require a further increase in human resources and strengthening of the orga-
nization of the Bank and the Banking Group.

Accounting Principles

General principles
The financial statements have been prepared, as set out in Legislative Decree 38/2005, according 
to IAS/IFRS international accounting standards.

Structure of the IAS/IFRS financial statements
The financial statements conform to the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 
2005, and subsequent updates, “The Financial Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”. 

The Consolidated Annual Report consists of:
•	report on operations;
•	consolidated balance sheet;
•	consolidated income statement;
•	consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
•	consolidated statement of cash flows;
•	consolidated statement of changes in consolidated equity;
•	notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Reclassified Consolidated Balance Sheet

12.31.2015

160
429,438
822,859

60,523
1,962,004

12,666
2,747

28,053
3,106 

     3,321,555

688,081
1,726,683

452,962
0
0

70,583
45,885

883
5,195

262,493
68,791 

3,321,555

Change

 157
 59,258

(133,073)
(37,203)
 407,047

(27)
 694

(3,064)
 1,000

           294,788

(280,184)
 558,096
(15,600)

(46)
(47)

(2,474)
 13,508

 166
 879

 76,076
(55,587)

 294,788

12.31.2014

 3
 370,180
 955,932

 97,726
1,554,957

 12,693
 2,053

 31,117
 2,106

      3,026,767

968,264
1,168,587

468,562
 46
 47

 73,057
 32,377

 717
 4,316

186,416
 124,378

 3,026,767

Item

Assets
Cash and cash balances
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Due from banks
Due from customers 
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Tax assets
Other assets
Total Assets
 
Liabilities and Equity
Due to banks
Due to customers
Securities issued
Financial liabilities held for trading
Hedging derivatives
Tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Employee severance indemnities
Provisions for risks and charges
Equity
Profit for the year
Total Liabilities and Equity

(in € thousands)
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Reclassified Consolidated Income Statement

2015

 161,946
(28,898)

 
 133,047

 
 7,943

 
 46

 
(23)

 
 

872
 

 141,885
 

(1,126)
(45,567)

(2,137)
(879)

 4,144
 
 

96,320
 

(27,529)
 

 68,791

Change

 9,977
 15,341

 
 25,318

 
(296)

 
(451)

 
(15)

 

(82) 
 

24,474
 

(1,256)
(9,613)

(395)
 401

(2,889)
 
 

10,723
 

 600
 

 11,322

2014
Proforma

 151,968
(44,240)

 107,729
 

 8,239
 

 497
 

(7)
 
 

953
 

 117,411

 131
(35,954)

(1,743)
(1,280)
 7,032

 

 85,597
 

(28,129)
 

 57,468

(in € thousands)

Item

Interest income
Interest expenses

Net interest margin
 
Net fee and commission income

Gains/losses on trading
 
Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting
 
Gains /losses on disposal/repurchase of
 available-for-sale financial assets 

Operating income

Impairment losses/reversals 
on financial assets
Administrative expenses
Net adjustments to/ writebacks on property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets
Net provisions for risks and charges
Other operating income (expenses)

Profit before income taxes from 
continuing operations
 
Income taxes - ordinary rate
 
Profit for the year

2014

 252,550
(44,240)

 
 208,311

 
 8,239

 
 497

 
(7)

 

 953
 

 217,993
 

 43
(35,954)

(1,743)
(1,280)
 7,032

 
 

186,092
 

(61,714)
 

 124,378

For purposes of comparison with the prior year the figures for the year 2014 are also presented “pro-forma”, that is, they are presented as if 
the change in method used to estimate the interest on late payments, which took place in 2014, had been applied since 2011. The “pro-forma” 
data is unaudited.
 
If consideration is not given to the non-recurring costs relating to the shares listing process of €1.6 million, contributions paid to the Resolu-
tion Fund and the Fondo Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi of €1.6 million, expenses relating to other transactions for a total of €1.8 million, 
in addition to higher expenses for indirect taxes (non-deductible VAT) of €0.6 million, the profit for the year of the Banking Group would be 
€72.6 million.



The balance mainly represents the value of government securities purchased by Banca Farmafac-
toring to protect against liquidity risk and to optimize the cost of money, for a total nominal amount 
of €419 million.

The securities held are at variable rates (CCT) with a residual maturity date within two years.

These securities are classified in the available-for-sale portfolio and as such are measured at 
amortized cost. The interest earned is recorded in the income statement according to the effective 
interest method.  

At the end of the year the value of the securities is compared to their fair value and the fair value 
adjustment is recognized in equity under valuation reserves.
At December 31, 2015 the fair value reserves on available-for-sale securities amount to approxi-
mately €481 thousand net of the tax effect.

During the year available-for-sale securities were sold for a nominal amount of €552 million, real-
izing a gain of €872 thousand, gross of the tax effect, recognized in the income statement in item 
100 b) “Gains/losses on disposal/repurchase of available-for-sale financial assets”.
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(in € thousands)

Item
Government securities - AFS
Investments

Total

12.31.2015
 429,415

 23
 429,438

12.31.2014
 370,157

 23
 370,180

Change 
59,258

 0
 59,258

Comments on the Reclassified Consolidated Balance Sheet

The key line items in the reclassified consolidated balance sheet are commented below.

Available-for-sale financial assets
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(in € thousands)

Item
Government securities

Total

12.31.2015
 822,859
 822,859

12.31.2014
 955,932
 955,932

Change
(133,073)
(133,073)

37

The balance consists entirely of purchases of government securities, classified in the HTM portfo-
lio, to protect against liquidity risk and to optimize the cost of money, for a total nominal amount 
of €799.5 million.

These securities are at a fixed rate (BOT, BTP and CTZ) with maturity dates related to the sources 
of committed and unsecured funding. Such securities are classified in the HTM portfolio and there-
fore measured at amortized cost. The interest earned is recorded in the income statement accord-
ing to the effective interest method.  

The HTM portfolio refers to financial assets which the Bank intends to hold until the maturity date 
set in the contract, and which permits the collection of fixed and determinable amounts. 

The fair value of these securities at December 31, 2015 is €826,912 thousand, with a positive fair 
value change before income taxes compared to the carrying amount at the same date of €4,053 
thousand, which is not recognized in the financial statements.

Due from banks and customers

(in € thousands)

Item
Due from banks 
Due from customers

Total

12.31.2015
 60,523

 1,962,004
 2,022,527

12.31.2014
 97,726

 1,554,957
 1,652,683

Change
(37,203)
 407,047
 369,844

“Due from banks” consist mainly of the Group’s current account balances at the end of the year.

This line item includes approximately €5,788 thousand relating to the deposit of the mandatory 
reserve with Istituto Centrale delle Banche Popolari (ICBPI) since Banca Farmafactoring indirectly 
participates in the system. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets



As for “Due from customers”, details are as follows:   
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(in € thousands)

Item
Assignors – loan account
Non-recourse receivables purchased
Receivables purchased below face amount
Other receivables 

Total

12.31.2015
2,230

1,903,348
22,696
33,730

1,962,004

12.31.2014
855

1,520,001
15,733
18,368

1,554,957

Change
 1,375

 383,347
 6,963

 15,362
 407,047

Non-recourse receivables purchased are measured at “amortized cost” based on the present val-
ue of estimated future cash flows. They refer to both the principal amount and late interest which 
accrues from the due date of the receivable for the amount considered recoverable based on the 
time series analysis on the percentages and recoverability times.

As regards the calculation of amortized cost, including interest on late payments recognized on 
the accrual basis, the Bank integrated the time series of data utilized in the prior year, regarding 
the percentages and collection times of interest on late payments, with the collections recorded in 
2015. The outcome of this integration has confirmed, on the basis of the times series analysis, the 
recoverability rate of 40% for interest on late payments and 1800 days for collection times.
These recovery percentages have not been applied to the interest on late payments of non-per-
forming positions, which have been entirely written off.

The cumulative amount of interest on late payments to which the Group is entitled but has not yet 
collected, on non-recourse receivables purchased (the Provision account for interest on late pay-
ments), is €460 million, of which only €151 million was recognized in income in the current and 
prior years.
There is still an open securitization transaction on healthcare securities structured with Deutsche 
Bank.
The receivables in this transaction were sold to the special purpose vehicle Farmafactoring SPV 
I S.r.l. and the assets were not derecognized. The value of the receivables sold and not derecog-
nized, outstanding at December 31, 2015, amounts to €233,484 thousand.   

Credit quality
Again in 2015, as described below, the quality of credit remains significant: net non-performing 
receivables amount to €2,507 thousand (€4,226 thousand gross), with a reduction compared to the 
€2,936 thousand (€4,819 thousand gross) reported in 2014. The ratio of non-performing to total 
non-recourse receivables purchased is equal to 0.14%, down from 0.19% in 2014. 

The Bank carried out an analysis of the receivables portfolio to identify any impairment of its fi-
nancial assets.

This internal analysis made it possible to distinguish between “performing” and “non-performing” 
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receivables; included in the non-performing category are financial assets that show an individual 
risk of loss, while the remaining financial assets have been classified in the performing category. 
Performing receivables include receivables due from customers which, although past due more 
than 90 days, show no objective indication of loss at an individual level. 

Although the receivables are due almost entirely from the Public Administration, as in previous 
years, at the date of the interim and year-end financial statements, the Bank, in accordance with 
IAS 39, carried out a collective impairment test of performing receivables in order to monitor the 
quantitative content. 

In order to determine the Loss Given Default (LGD), the Bank assumed the value proposed by the 
“Basel Accord” for credits not covered by real guarantees from sovereign states, companies and 
banks as being equal to 45% of the Probability of Default (PD) found.
The collective assessment of the PD was performed by assigning a rating to the debtors (ASLs / 
AOs), corresponding to the credit rating assigned by the major rating agencies to the particular 
Region to which the debtors belong. This rating is then applied to exposures that are not classified 
as non-performing Exposures At Default (EAD).

At December 31, 2015, the calculation of collective adjustments showed an impairment loss of ap-
proximately €2.9 million, higher by €0.9 million compared to 2014 owing primarily to the increase 
in the outstanding of the Bank.

In accordance with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 2005, and subse-
quent updates, “The Financial Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”, the Bank has divided its 
credits between “performing” and “impaired”.

To this end, on July 24, 2014, the European Banking Authority (EBA) proceeded to publish the “Final 
Draft Implementing Technical Standards on Supervisory Reporting on Forbearance and Non-per-
forming Exposures” (EBA/ITS/2013/03/rev1 7/24/2014): this document introduces new definitions 
on the subject of impaired assets and forbearance measures.

These definitions have been introduced in the 7th update of Bank of Italy Circular 272 of January 
20, 2015: such new definitions provide for the breakdown of impaired assets into:

•	past due more than 90 days for impaired and performing assets;
•	unlikely to pay;
•	non-performing. 

All these categories provide for the subcategory of forborne exposures.

“Net impaired assets” total €45,741 thousand and correspond to the sum of:
•	Past due exposures;
•	Unlikely to pay;
•	Non-performing exposures.
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Past due exposures 
These are exposures to central administrations and central banks, territorial entities, public sec-
tor entities, non-profit entities and companies which, at December 31, 2015, are past due more 
than 90 days.
In particular, exposures to central administrations and central banks, public sector entities and 
territorial entities are considered past due when the debtor has not made any payment for any of 
the positions owed to the Bank for more than 90 days.
At December 31, 2015 net past due exposures amount to €43,234 thousand, compared to €9,779 
thousand at year-end 2014, of which €9,873 thousand is due from the entities of the Public Admin-
istration compared to €6,669 thousand at the end of 2014.

Unlikely to pay
The definition of this type of exposure represents the Bank’s assessment that, without recourse to 
actions such as the realization of collateral, it is unlikely that the debtor will pay (principal and/or 
interest) its credit obligations in full. This assessment is conducted regardless of the existence of 
any past due and unpaid amounts (or installments).

Therefore it is not necessary to wait for the explicit symptom of the event (e.g., failure to make 
payment) where elements exist that imply the risk of non-payment by the debtor. Exposures to 
retail parties can be classified in the “unlikely to pay” category at the level of individual transaction, 
provided that the bank assesses that no conditions exist for the classification in this category of the 
total exposure to the given debtor.

At December 31, 2015 the Bank does not have any positions classified as “unlikely to pay”.

Non-performing exposures
These refer to exposures to parties that are in a state of insolvency or in basically similar situa-
tions, regardless of any estimates of loss formulated by the Bank.

Gross non-performing receivables total €4.2 million, while net non-performing receivables amount 
to approximately €2.5 million, of which €0.9 million is due from Fondazione Centro San Raffaele 
del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors.
With regard to the percentages of recovery established in the composition agreement, and as a 
result of the recognition of receivables for interest on late payments, the principal was not written 
down.

In 2013 Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agree-
ment with creditors paid the first two distributions of about €9.6 million. 
In July 2015 a third distribution was paid by the non-performing debtor, Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors, of €1.5 
million, equal to approximately 6% of the liability, bringing the residual exposure from €2.4 million 
to €0.9 million. There was no effect on the income statement since the principal amount had not 
been written down.

The other non-performing positions amount to approximately €3.3 million, of which about €1.6 
million was completely written off against the provision account and the net book value is now zero. 
The remaining positions of about €1.6 million have not been written down since they refer to posi-
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tions guaranteed by sureties and to exposures relating to local entities in financial difficulties (of 
which €743 thousand was non-performing when purchased and €312 thousand was purchased 
performing and later became non-performing), for which no provision for loss was made as it is 
expected that at the end of the period of financial difficulty 100% of the receivables will be recov-
ered.
The provision account for interest on late payments on non-performing positions amounts to €13.6 
million and is completely written off. This refers mainly to the position with Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors.  

Unlike the considerations made for non-performing exposures, the assessment of past due expo-
sures is made at the level of portfolio since such positions show no objective indication of loss at 
an individual level.

The composition of impaired assets at December 31, 2015 compared to the prior year is presented 
in the following table.
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Legal actions undertaken by the Banking Group are mainly geared towards accelerating the recov-
ery of receivables.
During the year the Banking Group recovered approximately €0.2 million of receivables classified 
as non-performing and written down in prior years and €1.5 million relating to San Raffaele, as 
previously mentioned. 

The following table presents non-recourse receivables purchased, with an indication of impair-
ment losses, divided into “Performing exposures” and “Impaired Exposures”. The impairment loss 
for “Performing Exposures” represents a collective impairment. 

                     (in € thousands)

19,699
701

4,117
14,880

0
62

0
62

0
0
0

9,795
0

9,795
29,556

(16,763)
(275)

(1,608)
(14,880)

(0)
(0)

0
(0)

0
0
0

(16)
0

(16)
(16,778)

2,936
426

2,509
0
0

62
0

62
0
0
0

9,779
0

9,779
12,778

Type
Non-performing 
Exposures with assignors
Exposures with account debtors 
Provision for interest on late payments
Unlikely to pay
Doubtful
Exposures with assignors
Exposures with account debtors 
Restructured
Exposures with assignors
Exposures with account debtors 
Past due 
Exposures with assignors
Exposures with account debtors 

Total

Gross 
amount

Gross 
amount

Impairment 
losses 

Impairment 
losses 

Net 
amount

Net 
amount

12.31.2015 12.31.2014

 17,822
 514

 3,712
 13,596

 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0

 43,310
 0

 43,310
 61,132

(15,315)
(281)

(1,438)
(13,596)

 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0

(76)
 0

( 76)
(15,392)

 2,507
 234

 2,273
 

 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0
 0

 43,234
 0

 43,234
 45,741
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(in € thousands)

  
46,210

 
812

 1.884,288
 1,931,310

 
13,974

 
 1,526,051
 1,540,025

(1,446)

(69)
(3,750)
(5,265)

(1,624)

 
(2,668)
(4,292)

 
44,764

 743
 1,880,538
 1,926,045

 
12,351

 
 1,523,383
 1,535,734

Type
Impaired exposures purchased 
performing
Impaired exposures purchased 
impaired 
Performing exposures

Total

Gross 
amount

Gross 
amount

Impairment 
losses

Impairment 
losses

Net 
amount

Net 
amount

12.31.2015 12.31.2014

43

At the date of IFRS first-time adoption (January 1, 2005), the properties used in the business (Milan 
and Rome) were measured at fair value which then became the new carrying amount from that 
date.

The measurement at first-time adoption resulted in a revaluation of the buildings of about €4 mil-
lion, from approximately €5 million to €9 million. The carrying amount net of depreciation is now 
€7.5 million.

Among the largest net additions are “electronic machines” which mainly refer to hardware pur-
chases, whereas those of buildings represent renovation work on the building owned in Milan.

 211
 0

 30
 24

 703
 117

 1,084

(322)
 0

(149)
(57)

(514)
(68)

(1,111)

7,582
3,685

340
248
662
176

12,693

58,98%
29,09%

1,74%
1,69%
6,72%
1,77%

100,00%

(in € thousands)

Item
Buildings
Land
Systems
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic machines
Other property and equipment

Total

12.31.2014 12.31.2015
Net 

increase
Net 

decrease
%

of total
 7,470
 3,685

 221
 214
 851
 225

 12,666

Property, plant and equipment
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                     (in € thousands)

Item
Tax assets

current
deferred

Tax liabilities
current

deferred

12.31.2015
28,053
25,113

2,940
70,583
23,805
46,778

12.31.2014
31,117
28,572

2,545
73,057
30,885
42,171

Change
(3,064)
(3,458)

 395
 (2,474)
(7,080)
 4,607

Tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets amount to €25,113 thousand and mainly include advance payments for IRES 
and IRAP taxes paid by Banca Farmafactoring. 

Current tax liabilities total €23,805 thousand compared to €30,885 thousand in 2014. 
The amount relating to deferred tax liabilities mainly includes the taxes calculated on interest on 
late payments which will be paid when the interest is collected.

Such amounts in the prior year were affected by the change in method used to estimate the in-
terest on late payments which led to the recognition, in 2014, of very significant non-recurring 
income in the income statement. Such income gave rise, in 2014, to impacts of about €6 million on 
current taxes and about €31 million on deferred taxes.

Due to banks and customers
                     (in € thousands)

Item
Due to banks 
Due to customers 
Of which financial institutions

Total

12.31.2015
688,081

1,726,683
266,922

2,414,764

12.31.2014
968,264

1,168,587
231,365

2,136,852

Change
(280,184)
 558,096

 35,557
 277,912

“Due to banks” refers to loans received from the banking system of €482 million and also the de-
posit of €206 million at the Bank of Italy for Banca Farmafactoring’s participation in the ECB auc-
tion at the end of 2015, as part of the Central Bank’s monetary policy operations. The transaction 
is guaranteed by government securities pledged and deposited in the ECB’s Pool account.

“Due to financial institutions” refers primarily to:
• position of €155.6 million arising from the existing collaboration with International Factor Italia 
S.p.A. - IFITALIA;
•	position of €111.4 million arising from the existing collaboration with Unicredit Factoring S.p.A..
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“Due to customers” includes the Conto Facto and Cuenta Facto online deposit accounts equal to 
€422.3 million and also repo transactions of €920 million with Cassa di Compensazione e Garan-
zia as the counterparty, put into place to refinance the securities portfolio of the Bank. 

Securities issued

On June 12, 2014 Banca Farmafactoring successfully concluded its first Senior Unsecured bond 
issue. 
The bonds were privately placed with institutional investors for a total face value of €300 million. 
This is a three-year bond issue with a maturity date of June 12, 2017, unsecured and not rated.
The bonds are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and at December 
31, 2015 total €303 million.
The line item also comprises another bond issue of approximately €150 million as part of the se-
curitization transaction still open at year-end.

Provisions for risks and charges

At December 31, 2015 “Provisions for risks and charges” total €5,195 thousand and largely include 
provisions relating to personnel recorded in “Pension funds and similar obligations” for €4,830 
thousand.

  (in € thousands)

3,952
3,952

940
940

(63)
(63)

4,830
4,830

Item
Long-term employee benefits

Total

12.31.2014 12.31.2015Increase Decrease

These obligations were measured in accordance with IAS 19 and were computed using an actu-
arial calculation criterion.
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Comments on the Reclassified Consolidated Income Statement

The reclassified consolidated income statement for the year 2015 shows a profit of €68,790 thou-
sand.

In the prior year the profit was affected by the recognition of higher interest on late payments of 
€113,396 thousand arising from the change in the method of estimating such interest. For pur-
poses of comparison with the prior year, the figures for 2014 are also presented “pro-forma”, that 
is, they are presented as if the change in method used to estimate the interest on late payments, 
which took place in 2014, had been applied since 2011. The comparison shows that the profit for 
the year of the Group of €68.8 million would be higher than the “pro-forma” profit for the year 2014 
by approximately €11.3 million.

Furthermore if consideration is not given to the non-recurring costs relating to the shares listing 
process of €1.6 million, contributions paid to the Resolution Fund and the Fondo Interbancario di 
Tutela dei Depositi of €1.6 million, expenses relating to other transactions for a total of €1.8 mil-
lion, in addition to higher expenses for indirect taxes of €0.6 million, the profit for the year of the 
Banking Group would be €72.6 million.

The key line items in the consolidated income statement are commented below.

Operating income

Item
Maturity and interest on 
late payments
Interest on securities
Other interest
Total interest income
Interest expenses
Net fee and commission income
Gains/losses on trading
Fair value adjustments in 
hedge accounting
Gains on disposal of AFS 
financial assets
Operating income

 
154,364

 5,848
 1,734

 161,946
(28,898)

 7,943
 46

(23)
 

872
 141,885

 
145,495

 4,060
 2,414

 151,968
(44,240)

 8,239
 497

(7)

 953
 117,411

 8,869
 1,788
(680)

 9,977
 15,341

(296)
(451)

(15)

(82)
 24,474

6.10%
44.05%

(28.19%)
6.57%

(34.68%)
(3.59%)

(90.79%)

209.53%

(8.55%)
20.84%

2015

Change vs. 
pro-forma 

%
2014

PRO-FORMA Change

(in € thousands)

2014
 

246,077
 4,060
 2,414

 252,550
(44,240)

 8,239
 497

(7)

 953
 217,993
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The recognition of “Maturity commissions” in the consolidated income statement reflects the ef-
fective interest from the application of the amortized cost criterion for measuring non-recourse 
receivables purchased, in accordance with IAS 39. As a consequence the income connected with 
such activity is recognized in relation to the interest originating from the estimated cash flows. 

Maturity commissions and interest on late payments amount to €154,364 thousand in 2015 com-
pared to €246,077 thousand in the prior year which, however, included non-recurring income aris-
ing from the change in the estimation criteria for interest on late payments, in 2014, of more than 
€113 million. 

For purposes of comparison with the prior year, the figures for interest income for 2014 are also 
presented pro-forma. The comparison shows an increase in 2015 of approximately €10 million.

The following graph shows the cumulative amount of interest on late payments to which the Group 
is entitled but has not yet collected on non-recourse receivables purchased (the Provision account 
for interest on late payments). The total is €460 million compared to €427 million in the prior year. 
As of December 31, 2015 an amount of €151 million was released from the provision account to 
income in the current and prior years.

Banking Group - Provision for interest on late payments
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“Interest on securities” arises from government securities classified in the available-for-sale and 
held-to-maturity portfolios. The amortized cost method is used for the measurement of these se-
curities and the interest earned is recorded in the income statement using the effective interest 
method.

“Interest expenses” decreased by about €15.8 million compared to 2014. This decrease is mainly 
due to the reduction in the cost of money, the renegotiation of certain lines of financing and the 
diversification of sources of funding, despite the increase in the average financial position due to 
higher volumes of non-recourse receivables purchased.

Net fee and commission income

The income from net fees and commissions shows a decrease of approximately €296 thousand 
compared to the prior year as presented in the following table. 

The following graph illustrates the trend of interest collected on late payments in recent years.

Banking Group - Provision for interest on late payments

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0
2011

57,209

2012

50,832

2013

51,188

2014

60,051

2015

66,362

€
 m

ill
io

ns

Years

Report on Operations



49

(in € thousands)

Item
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expenses
Net fee and commission income

 8,389
(446)

 7,943

 9,444
(1,205)
 8,239

(1,056)
 760

(296)

(11.18%)
(63.03%)
(3.59%)

2015 Change %2014 Change

Gains/losses on trading

“Gains/losses on trading” refer to the recognition of the fair value change on derivative instruments 
which in 2015 shows a positive change of €46 thousand.

Fair value changes on derivative instruments

Item
Financial assets held for trading
Amount at 12/31/2014
Amount at 12/31/2015
Financial liabilities held for trading
Amount at 12/31/2014
Amount at 12/31/2015
Net fair value changes recorded in gains /losses on trading

 0
 0
 

 46
 0

 0
 
 

 46
 46

ChangeCarrying amount

Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting

A hedge is considered effective if, at the inception of the hedge and during its life, changes in the 
hedged item’s fair value or cash flows are offset by changes in the hedging derivative’s fair value. In 
this case, the fair value changes are recognized in equity. 
The ineffectiveness of the hedge is represented by the difference between the change in fair value 
of the hedging instrument and the change in fair value of the hedged item, and is shown in the 
income statement in item 90. In 2015, this item amounts to €22 thousand.
At December 31, 2015 there are no hedging instruments outstanding.

(in € thousands)
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Objectives and Policies on the Assumption, Management
and Hedging of Risks

Going concern

In accordance with IAS 1, paragraph 24, the Banking Group assesses its ability to continue as a 
going concern by taking into account the trend of its main core indicators and available information 
about the future for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Performance review
The performance review of the last few years shows a continuing positive trend. 

The data can be summarized as follows:
•	increasing trend in equity;
•	steady increase in the number of staff over the last few years;
•	adequacy of capital in relation to the risks connected with lending activities;
•	sufficient availability of financial resources;
•	positive commercial prospects associated with the trend in demand.

A quantitative summary of such review is presented below.

Item
Hedging derivatives – Balance sheet
Hedging derivatives (item 90)
Equity + Deferred tax assets
Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting

0
(22)

(22)

ChangeCarrying amount

(in € thousands)
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(1) The weighting applied to receivables due from the Italian Public Administration is equal to 50%.
(2) The figures for 2014 take into account non-recurring income arising from the change in the estimation criterion for interest 
on late payments.

(in € millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Item
Net interest income 
Operating income
EBTDA
Profit for the year
 
R.O.E. (Return On Equity) (%)
Operating income / Non-recourse volumes (%)
Interest expense / Maturity commissions (%)
Net interest income / Interest income (%)
Non-performing (net of impairment losses) / Factoring 
receivables (%)
Own funds / Weighted factoring receivables (%) (1)
Financial leverage 

Equity
Own Funds

133.0
141.9

99.6
68.8

 
26.2%

4.8%
45.5%
82.2%

0.14%
38.4%

12.7
 

331.3
259.3

208.3
218.0
187.8
124.4

 
66.7%
10.0%
60.3%
82.5%

0.19%
42.1%

16.3
 

310.8
260.1

101.0
111.9

88.2
48.9

 
26.6%

6.3%
53.1%
65.3%

0.21%
34.0%

8.7
 

233.0
185.3

20132015 2014 (2)

In prospective terms, the Banking Group’s plans for growth highlight further significant margins 
for expansion, shaped partly by the extension of the operating activities of Farmafactoring España 
S.A., which will bring a new vision to the group’s development.

Consequently, there are no elements such as to compromise the going concern assumption.

Prospective review 
The considerations described previously are borne out by the Business Plan for the three years 
2014 – 2017, approved by the board of directors of the Bank in May 2014 and updated in March 
2015, from which it can be seen that, in prospective terms, there are good expectations from both 
the standpoint of turnover and earnings.

Commercial efforts will be directed, from the broader prospective of a banking group, both to-
wards cementing and expanding relations with the traditional clientele and also acquiring new 
clientele and developing new products.
In an economic and financial context that is still challenging, the Group has further strengthened 
its position in the country by building up commercial relations and diversifying banking relations in 
order to reduce, as much as possible, the risk of the concentration of relationships and minimizing 
the timing process for the crediting of sums made available by the entities of the National Health 
Service and the Public Administration. 
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In view of the aforementioned considerations associated with the historical and prospective review 
of the earnings of the Bank and its ability to access financial resources, the Group will continue 
its operating activities under the assumption of a going concern and, consequently, these financial 
statements are drawn up under such assumption.

Risk management and compliance with prudential supervision regulations

The prudential supervision regulations are regulated by Bank of Italy Circulars 285 “Supervisory 
provisions for banks” and 286 “Instructions for the preparation of regulatory reporting for banks and 
investment companies”, both of December 17, 2013, which adopt the new regulation harmonized 
for banks and investment firms, contained in the CRR community regulation (Capital Requirements 
Regulation) and in the European Directive CRD IV (Capital Requirement Directive) of June 26, 2013.

These regulations include the standards set forth by the Basel Committee for banking regulations 
(known as the Basel 3 framework), whose implementation, pursuant to the Consolidated Law on 
Banking, is the responsibility of the Bank of Italy, and define the ways with which the discretionali-
ties attributed by community discipline to the national authorities were exercised.
 
The above circulars outline the complete, organic, rational and integrated regulatory framework 
with the directly applicable community provisions, which will be completed with the emanation of 
the execution measures, contained in the regulatory technical standard and implementation techni-
cal standard, adopted by the European Commission under the proposal by the European Banking 
Authority (EBA).

The regulation applicable at December 31, 2015 is based on three pillars.

Pillar I – Capital requirements to meet typical risks associated with financial activities

From the standpoint of operations, the absorption of risks, where significant, is calculated using 
various methods:
•	credit risk	  	 → standardized approach
•	counterparty risk	 → standardized approach
•	market risk	 	 → standardized approach
•	operational risk 	 → basic indicator approach

Own funds

Own funds represent the first line of defense against risks associated with overall financial activi-
ties and constitutes the main parameter of reference for the assessment of the capital adequacy of 
the Banking Group. The purpose of the prudential supervision regulation is to assure the Regula-
tory Authority that the banks have a minimum obligatory capital in relation to the risks assumed.

The Group constantly assesses its capital structure, developing and utilizing techniques for moni-
toring and managing regulated risks, assisted also by its internal Risks Committee.
From the standpoint of prudential supervision, the amount of capital required is determined on the 
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basis of current reporting regulations.

Own funds are composed of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1), which contain the main elements 
that form own funds, Additional Tier 1 Capital (AT1) and Tier 2 Capital (T2) net of items to be deducted 
and IAS/IFRS prudential filters. 

The CET1 Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted As-
sets. 
The Tier 1 Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets.
The Total Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Total Own Funds to Risk-Weighted Assets. 

In accordance with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 2005, “The Financial 
Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”, the amount of risk-weighted assets is determined as 
the product of the total of prudential capital requirements and 12.5 (the inverse of the minimum 
obligatory ratio equal to 8%).

Banca Farmafactoring Group’s total exposure to business risks at December 31, 2015 is amply 
adequate in relation to the level of capitalization and the identified risk profile.
The CET1 Capital Ratio, the Tier 1 Capital Ratio and the Total Capital Ratio are 24.3%. 

(in € millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Details
Total Tier 1 capital 
Total Tier 2 capital
Own Funds
Risk-weighted assets
CET1 Capital Ratio (%)
Tier 1 Capital Ratio (%)
Total Capital Ratio (%)

259.3
0

259.3
1,065.8
24.3%
24.3%
24.3%

260.1
0

260.1
947.1

27.5%
27.5%
27.5%

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

Beginning in 2013 Banca Farmafactoring adopted Dominion Bond Rating Service (DBRS) as the 
ECAI ratings agency.
The unsolicited rating assigned to the Republic of Italy by DBRS is “A low” and therefore the receiv-
ables exposures due from the Public Administration fall into the Credit Quality Class of 2, with a 
weighting equal to 50%. 

Pillar II – Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) Summary

This Pillar requires banks to have control strategies and processes for determining the adequacy 
of current and future capital. It is the Regulatory Authority’s responsibility to verify the reliability 
and accuracy of the relative results and, where necessary, to take the appropriate corrective ac-
tions.
The Bank will present the ICAAP summary to the Bank of Italy by April 30, 2016. The ICAAP sum-
mary shows the updated risk management system for the determination of the adequacy of capital.
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Pillar III – Disclosure to the public

Pursuant to Art. 433 of the CRR, banks disclose the information required by community regula-
tions in a document at least once a year, together with their financial statements.
The regulation relating to Pillar III establishes specific obligation for the periodic publication of 
information relating to capital adequacy, exposure to risks and the general features of the systems 
used for their identification, measurement and management.

The Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group draws up this document in accordance with the provi-
sions in effect on a consolidated basis, with reference to a consolidation area that is considered 
significant by regulatory requirements.

To this end, the board of directors of Banca Farmafactoring has approved a dedicated procedure 
denominated “Disclosure to the Public (Pillar III)”.

The procedure provides that the information should be:
•	approved by the board of directors before its distribution;
•	published on the website www.bancafarmafactoring.it at least once a year, within the time frame 
established for the publication of the financial statements, thus within 30 days of the date of the 
approval of the financial statements by the shareholders’ meeting.

With regard to the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 285 of December 17, 2013, and subsequent updates, 
the Banca Farmafactoring Group will publish on its website www.bancafarmafactoring.it, at 
least once a year, within the time frame established for the publication of the financial state-
ments, the “Disclosure to the Public”, which, in accordance with country by country reporting 
requirements contains information inherent to the business, turnover and the number of staff 
in the various countries in which the Group is present. 
The information to be rendered public is defined by Appendix A, first part, Title III, Chapter 2 of 
the above Circular.
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Reconciliation between Equity and Profit for the Year of the Parent 
and the Consolidated Figures of the Group

Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A.
Differences compared to the carrying 
amounts of the consolidated companies
- Farmafactoring España SA
- Mediona sp. z o.o.
Other adjustments
Consolidated figures of the Group

321,572

 
9,905

(0)
(194)

331,283

310,214
 

774
 

(194)
310,794

59,659
 

9,131
(0)

 
68,791

122,202
 

2,175
 
 

124,378

Equity 
12.31.2015

Equity 
12.31.2014

Profit 
2015

Profit 
2014

Other Information Required by Art. 2428 of the Italian Civil Code

Other information required by Art. 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, not provided in the preceding 
paragraphs, is presented below.

Treasury shares
The Bank does not possess treasury shares or quotas of the parent, either directly, through indi-
viduals or trustee companies.

Significant events subsequent to the end of the year
On January 8, 2016 Banca Farmafactoring announced a public tender offer to purchase 100% of 
the shares of Magellan S.A., a Polish joint-stock company listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.
Magellan is a leader in the financial services market targeting the healthcare sector in Poland and 
operates also in the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Spain.
The tender offer is conditional on receipt by Banca Farmafactoring of approval from the Bank of 
Italy and clearance from the Polish Antitrust Authority.

On February 16, 2016 Professor Lorenzo Pozza, a member of the board of statutory auditors, re-
signed from the board. He will be replaced by Patrizia Paleologo Oriundi, the most senior alternate 
auditor, until a new appointment is made by the shareholders’ meeting.

There are no events or facts subsequent to the end of the reporting period such as to require an 
adjustment to the results of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.

(in € thousands)
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Appropriation of the Profit of the Banking Group 

The profit of the Group of €68,790,823 is composed of the sum of the profit of Banca Farmafactor-
ing of €59,659,457 and that of Farmafactoring España of €9,131,372.
The ordinary shareholders’ meeting of the subsidiary Farmafactoring España held on February 
24, 2016 approved the financial statements at December 31, 2015 and resolved to appropriate the 
profit to retained earnings. 
The following motion for the appropriation of the profit of Banca Farmafactoring will be put for-
ward to the shareholders’ meeting of the Bank on March 31, 2016, in first call, or on April 2, 2016, 
in second call.

Motion for the Appropriation of the Profit of Banca Farmafactoring

Dear Shareholders,

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 of Banca Farmafactoring, which 
we submit for your approval, show a profit of €59,659,457, which the board motions to distribute in 
full, since the legal reserve has reached the maximum limit by law, together with €9,105,543 to be 
drawn from retained earnings, for total proposed dividends of €68,765,000.
The shareholders will thus be entitled to dividends of €40.45 for each of the 1,700,000 shares.
 
After appropriation of the profit, retained earnings will be equal to €91,454,515. 

The Chairman of 
the Board of Directors

Salvatore Messina
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

159,775
 

429,437,687
 

822,858,767
 

60,522,545
 

1,962,004,347
 

12,665,596
 

2,746,916
 
0
 

28,053,378
25,113,356

2,940,022
546,940

 
3,105,924

3,321,554,935

3,213
 

370,179,751
 

955,931,754
 

97,726,016
 

1,554,957,278
 

12,692,677
 

2,052,729
 
0
 

31,117,308
28,571,839

2,545,469
469,560

 
2,106,081

 
3,026,766,808

Cash and cash equivalents
 
Available-for-sale financial assets
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets 
 
Due from banks
 
Due from customers 
 
Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets
               of which:
              - goodwill

Tax assets
   a) current
   b) deferred
           of which under Law 214/2011
 
Other assets

Total Assets

10.

40.

50.

60.

70.

120.

130.

140.

160.

Assets 12.31.201412.31.2015

(in euros)
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688,080,771
 

1,726,682,877
 

452,962,115
 
0
 
0
 

70,582,775
23,804,794
46,777,981

 
45,884,998

 
883,124

 
5,194,831
4,829,872

364,959
 

4,183,573
 

127,409,048
 

130,900,000
 

68,790,823

3,321,554,935

968,264,434
 

1,168,587,308
 

468,562,312
 

45,760
 

47,224
 

73,056,615
30,885,193
42,171,422

 
32,376,784

 
716,829

 
4,315,574
3,952,350

363,224
 

4,034,924
 

51,481,508
 

130,900,000
 

124,377,536
 

3,026,766,808

Due to banks
 
Due to customers
 
Securities issued
 
Financial liabilities held for trading
 
Hedging derivatives
 
Tax liabilities
   a) current
   b) deferred 
 
Other liabilities
 
Employee severance indemnities
 
Provisions for risks and charges:
   a) pension funds and similar obligations
   b) other provisions
 
Valuation reserves
 
Reserves
 
Share capital
 
Profit for the year
 
Total Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities and Equity 12.31.201412.31.2015

10.

20.

30.

40.

60.

80.

100.

110.

120.

140.

170.

190.

220.

(in euros)



60

Consolidated Income Statement

 252,550,454

(44,239,657)

 208,310,797

 9,444,411

(1,205,443)

 8,238,968

 496,971

(7,378)
 
 

 953,391

 

 217,992,749
 

 43,395

 218,036,144

 218,036,144

 
(14,828,301)
(21,125,921)

(1,279,960)

(1,053,239)

(689,285)

 7,032,444

(31,944,263)

 186,091,881

(61,714,345)

 124,377,536

 124,377,536

 124,377,536

Interest and similar income

Interest and similar expenses

Net interest margin

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expenses

Net fees and commissions

Gains/losses on trading

Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting

Gains /(losses) on disposals/repurchases of:
   a)   receivables and loans
   b)   available-for-sale financial assets
   c)   held-to-maturity financial assets
   d)   financial liabilities

Operating income

Impairment losses/reversals on:
   a)   receivables and loans
   b)   available-for-sale financial assets
   c)   held-to-maturity financial assets
   d)   other financial transactions

Net profit from banking activities

Net profit from financial and insurance activities

Administrative expenses:
   a)   personnel costs
   b)   other administrative expenses

Net provisions for risks and charges

Net adjustments to/writebacks on property, plant and equipment

Net adjustments to/writebacks on intangible assets

Other operating income/expenses

Operating expenses

Profit before tax from continuing operations

Income taxes on profit from continuing operations

Profit after tax from continuing operations

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent

10.

20.

30.

40.

50.

60.

80.

90.

100.

120.

130.

140.

170.

180.

190.

200.

210.

220.

230.

280.

290.

300.

320.

340.

Item 12.31.201412.31.2015

02

  161,945,547

(28,898,423)

 133,047,124

 8,388,544

(445,659)

 7,942,885

 45,760

(22,837)
 

 871,871

 141,884,803
 

(1,125,531)

 140,759,272

 140,759,272
 

(18,476,448)
(27,090,536)

(879,257)

(1,114,700)

(1,022,515)

 4,143,812

(44,439,644)

 96,319,628

(27,528,805)

 68,790,823

 68,790,823

 68,790,823

(in euros)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(in euros)

68,790,823
 
 
 
 

(121,102)
 
 
 
 
 

 
26,669

243,082
 
 

 
148,649

68,939,472

0

68,939,472

124,377,536
 
 
 
 

1,546
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(26,669)
(158,523)

 
 
 

(183,645)

124,193,891

0

124,193,891

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to the income statement, net of tax

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Defined benefit plans
Non-currents assets classified as held for sale
Portion of valuation reserves from investments accounted 
for using the equity method

Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified 
subsequently to the income statement, net of tax

Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries
Exchange differences
Cash flow hedges
Available-for-sale financial assets
Non-currents assets classified as held for sale
Portion of valuation reserves from investments accounted 
for using the equity method

Total Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Comprehensive income (items 10+130)

Attributable to non-controlling interests

Attributable to owners of the parent

10.

20.
30.
40.
50.
60.

70.
80.
90.

100.
110.
120.

130.

140.

150.

160.

Item 20142015
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2015

130,900,000
 
 
 

53,099,365
(1,617,853)

4,034,924
 
 

124,377,536

310,793,972

130,900,000
 

 
53,099,365
(1,617,853)

4,034,924

124,377,536

310,793,972

74,309,683
1,617,853

 
 
 

(75,927,536)

148,649
 

68,790,823

68,939,472

(48,450,000)

(48,450,000)

130,900,000
 

127,409,048

4,183,573

68,790,823

331,283,444

Share capital: 
   - ordinary shares
   - other shares
Share premium
Reserves:
   - income reserves
   - other reserves
Valuation reserves
Equity instruments
Treasury shares
Profit for the year
Equity attributable to 
owners of the parent
Equity attributable to 
minority interests
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Equity transactions

Change in equity during the yearAppropriation of prior 
year profit
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(in euros)

130,900,000

50,595,778
(1,617,853)

4,218,570

48,912,826

233,009,321

130,900,000

50,595,778
(1,617,853)

4,218,570

48,912,826

233,009,321

2,502,826

(2,502,826)

(183,645)

124,377,536

124,193,891

(46,410,000)

(46,410,000)

130,900,000

53,099,365
(1,617,853)

4,034,924

124,377,536

310,793,972

761

761
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Equity transactions

Change in equity during the yearAppropriation of prior 
year profit
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For the year ended December 31, 2014

Share capital: 
   - ordinary shares
   - other shares
Share premium
Reserves:
   - income reserves
   - other reserves
Valuation reserves
Equity instruments
Treasury shares
Profit for the year
Equity attributable to 
owners of the parent
Equity attributable to 
minority interests
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Indirect Method
(in euros)

02

72,931,996
68,790,823

 
 

1,125,531

2,136,385
879,257

 
 
 

294,846,909

 
59,014,854

(37,203,471)

408,172,600
(135,137,074)
273,322,007

(280,183,663)

558,095,569
 (15,600,197)

(45,760)
 

11,056,058
51,407,094

0 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(2,800,532)

 
(1,083,831)
(1,716,702)

 
(2,800,532)

(48,450,000)
(48,450,000)

156,562

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES                                                     
1. Operations
- profit for the year (+/-)	
- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on financial 
   assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (-/+)
- gains/losses on hedging activities (-/+)
- impairment losses/reversals (+/-)
- net adjustments to/writebacks on property, plant and equipment
	 and intangible assets (+/-)
- net provisions and other expenses/revenues (+/-)
- not cashed net premiums (-)
- other not collected income and expenses from insurance activities (-/+)
- unpaid indirect taxes and duties (+)
- net losses/reversals of disposal groups of assets held for sale, net of tax effect (+/-)
- other changes (+/-)
2. Cash flows from/used by financial assets
- financial assets held for trading
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- available-for-sale financial assets
- due from banks: on demand
- due from banks: other receivables
- due from customers 
- other assets
3. Cash flows from/used by financial liabilities
- due to banks: on demand
- due to banks: other amounts due
- due to customers 
- securities issued
- financial liabilities held for trading
- financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- other liabilities

Net cash flows from/used in operating activities
B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flows from
- disposals of investments
- dividends collected from investments
- sales of held-to-maturity financial assets
- sales of property, plant and equipment
- sales of intangible assets
- disposals of subsidiaries and business segments
2. Cash flows used in
- purchases of investments
- purchases of held-to-maturity financial assets
- purchases of property, plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets
- purchases of subsidiaries and business segments

Net cash flows from/used in investing activities
C. FINANCING ACTIVITIES
- issues/purchases of treasury shares
- issues/purchases of equity instruments
- payment of dividends and other

Net cash flows from/used in financing activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

20142015

Amount

127,015,106
124,377,536

(43,395)

1,742,524
938,441

1,418,172,456
(4,877)

288,322,966
(228,218,197)

418,335,913
939,736,651

1,340,103,065
163,813,314

995,149,797
148,562,312

(501,848)

33,079,490
48,945,715

0

(2,533,666)

(913,497)
(1,620,169)

(2,533,666)

(46,410,000)
(46,410,000)

2,049
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Amount

Reconciliation

3,213
156,562

159,775

1,164
2,049

3,213

20142015

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Change in cash and cash equivalents from/used during the year
Cash and cash equivalents: effect of exchange rate differences
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Item

(in euros)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The notes are arranged in the following order:

Part A - Accounting Policies
Part B - Consolidated Balance Sheet
Part C - Consolidated Income Statement
Part D - Consolidated Comprehensive Income
Part E - Information on Risks and related Risk Management Policies
Part F - Consolidated Equity
Part H - Related Party Transactions
Part L - Segment Reporting

Part A – Accounting Policies 

A.1 – GENERAL CRITERIA

Section 1 – Statement of compliance with international financial reporting standards
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the international 
accounting principles (IAS/IFRS) issued by the IASB, approved by the European Commission as 
established in EC Regulation 1606 of July 19, 2002, which regulates the coming into force of IAS/
IFRS, as well as the relative interpretations (IFRIC), approved by the European Commission and in 
effect at the end of the reporting period.
IFRS have been applied by complying with the “systematic framework” for the preparation and the 
presentation of the financial statements with particular reference to the fundamental principle of 
substance over form and the concept of relevance or significance of the information.

Section 2 – Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2015 have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 2005, and subsequent updates,  
“The Financial Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”.
The consolidated financial statements include the balance sheet, the income statement, the state-
ment of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows 
and the notes to the financial statements and are accompanied by the directors’ report on opera-
tions.
The financial statements agree with the accounting records.
In conformity with art. 5, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 38 of February 28, 2005, the financial 
statements are expressed in euros, which is the functional currency. 
The notes are prepared in thousands of euros, unless otherwise indicated, and present compara-
tive figures for the prior year.
The components of the financial statements are measured in accordance with the general criteria 
of prudence, the going-concern concept and on the accrual basis.
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Significant accounting policies
The most significant accounting policies adopted are described below and are pursuant to the 
provisions of IAS 1 (paragraphs 108 to 115) and the Instructions contained in Bank of Italy Circular 
262 of December 22, 2005, and subsequent updates.

New accounting principles

New IFRS standards, amendments or interpretations applicable to the financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2015

•	Amendment to IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”, regarding defined benefits plans
The amendment, endorsed by Regulation 2015/29, is not obligatory for financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2015. The objective of the amendment is to simplify the accounting 
for contributions by third parties or employees to defined benefit plans that are independent of the 
number of years of service.

• Annual Improvements 2012
Endorsed by Regulation 2015/28, the Annual Improvements 2012 are not obligatory for financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, but application is voluntary, also retroactively. 
The annual improvements contain amendments to the following accounting standards.

- IFRS 2, “Share-based Payments”: Appendix A clarifies the definition of ‘vesting condition’ as 
a “condition that determines whether the entity receives the services that entitle the counter-
party to receive cash, other assets or equity instruments of the entity, under a share-based pay-
ment arrangement”. The definitions of “service condition” and “performance condition” were 
also introduced.
- IFRS 3, “Business Combination”: was amended to clarify that contingent consideration falls 
within the definition of financial instrument and must be classified as a financial liability or as 
equity on the basis of the indications contained in IAS 32.
- IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”: introduces the requirement of disclosure on judgments made 
by management in applying the aggregation criteria to operating segments, giving a description 
of the operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic indicators 
that have been assessed in determining that the aggregated operating segments share similar 
economic characteristics. In addition, a reconciliation is required for the total of the report-
able segments’ assets to the entity’s assets in the statement of financial position only if such 
amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker.
- IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”: the Basis for Conclusions of IFRS 13 has been modified 
to clarify that it is possible to measure short-term receivables and payables at their invoice 
amounts without discounting if the effect of not discounting is immaterial. 
- IAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment” e IAS 38, “Intangible Assets”: were amended to clarify 
how historical cost and accumulated depreciation of an asset must be evaluated when the en-
tity adopts the criteria of revalued cost.
- IAS 24, “Related Party Disclosures”: the amendment establishes the disclosure necessary 
when there is a third-party entity that provides key management personnel services to the re-
porting entity that prepares the financial statements.

•	Annual Improvements 2013
Endorsed by Regulation 1361/2014, the Annual Improvements 2013 contain amendments to the 
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following accounting standards:
- IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”: the Basis for Con-
clusions of IFRS 1 was amended to clarify that if a new or revised IFRS is not yet mandatory but 
permits early application, that IFRS is permitted, but not required, to be applied in the entity’s 
first IFRS financial statements, on condition that the same version is applied in all periods 
presented.
- IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”: clarifies that the paragraph contained in IFRS 13 accord-
ing to which a group of financial assets and liabilities can be measured at fair value on a net 
basis applies to all contracts within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 
(or IFRS 9) regardless of whether they meet the definitions of financial assets or financial li-
abilities in IAS 32.

•	IFRIC 21, “Levies”
The interpretation endorsed by Regulation 634/2014, comes into effect for annual periods begin-
ning on or after June 17, 2014.
IFRIC 21 covers the accounting for outflows imposed on entities by governments (levies) other 
than income taxes, fines or other penalties for which the entity does not receive specific goods and 
services. The objective of the interpretation is to provide guidance for the accounting of a liability to 
pay a levy and explains what the “obligating event” is that gives rise to the recognition of a liability 
in accordance with IAS 37.

New standards, amendments or interpretations in effect from January 1, 2016

•	Amendment to IAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment” and IAS 38,”Intangible assets”, on depre-
ciation and amortization
The amendment to both standards establishes that it is not appropriate to calculate the deprecia-
tion of an asset according to revenue-based methods. 
 
•	Amendments to IAS 27, “Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements”
The amendments reinstate the equity method as an accounting option for investments in subsid-
iaries, joint ventures and associates in an entity's separate financial statements.

•	Annual Improvements Cycle 2012-2014
The amendments contained in the Annual Improvements cycle 2012-2014 to existing standards 
are as follows:

- IFRS 7, “Service Contracts”: if any entity transfers a financial asset to third parties and com-
plies with all the conditions of IAS 39 for the derecognition of the asset, the amendment to IFRS 
7 requires disclosure of any continuing involvement that the entity could still have in the trans-
ferred asset. The amendments to IFRS 7 also included a description of the term “continuing 
involvement” for purposes of the transfer disclosure requirements and adds a specific guide to 
help management determine whether the terms of the agreement for the rendering of services 
regarding the transferred asset, do or do not determine a continuing involvement.
- IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”: the standard requires that the rate used to discount post-em-
ployment benefits shall be determined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate 
bonds. In countries for which there is no deep market in such high quality bonds, the market 
yields on government bonds denominated in that currency shall be used.
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•	Amendments to IAS 1, ”Presentation of financial statements” on the disclosure initiative
The amendments clarify the various guidance contained in IAS 1 on materiality, the aggregation of 
line items, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and the disclosure 
of accounting policies.
The amendments also modify the additional information requirements for other components of 
other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income.
The amendments also added additional examples for general disclosures, such as those on the 
systematic presentation of the notes and the identification of accounting policies, etc.

•	IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (effective from January 1, 2018)
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and contains a model for the measurement of financial instruments based 
on three categories: amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The standard introduces a new ‘expected loss’ impairment model which 
differs from the one currently envisaged by IAS 39. Moreover, a substantially reformed approach is 
introduced for hedge accounting.

Section 3 – Principles and scope of consolidation
The principles adopted by the Group in determining the scope of consolidation and the relative 
principles of consolidation are described in the following paragraphs.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the Group. The Group controls a company when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the company and has the abil-
ity to affect those returns through its power over the company. Generally, control exists when the 
company holds, directly or indirectly, more than half of the voting rights, considering also exercis-
able or convertible potential voting rights. 
Subsidiaries also include special purpose entities in which the Group, in substance, holds the 
majority of the risks and rewards of their activities or those over which it exercises control. The 
existence of an equity investment in these entities is not relevant for this purpose.
All subsidiaries are consolidated line-by-line from the date the Group obtains control until such 
control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto prepared by the companies consoli-
dated line-by-line are drawn up in accordance with IAS/IFRS for purposes of inclusion in the con-
solidated financial statements.
The principles applied in line-by-line consolidation are the following:

• assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the consolidated companies are consolidated on a 
line-by-line basis and, non-controlling interests, if applicable, in equity and in the profit (loss) for 
the year are disclosed separately in equity and in the consolidated income statement.

• significant gains and loss, including the related tax effects, arising from transactions between 
companies consolidated line-by-line and not realized with third parties are eliminated, except for 
the losses that are not eliminated whenever the transaction indicates an impairment of the trans-
ferred asset. Also eliminated, if significant, are reciprocal receivables and payables, revenues and 
expenses as well as financial income and expenses.
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Held by
A. Company
A.1 Line-by-line
1. Farmafactoring España S.A.

2. Mediona

3. Farmafactoring SPV I S.r.l.

A.2 Companies consolidated 
proportionally

Headquarters 
and operating 

offices
Holding 

%
Voting 

Rights%

Type of 
relationship 

(1) Held by
 

Madrid
C/ Luchana 23
Warsaw- Plac 

Marszalka 
Jozefa 1
Milano -

Via Statuto 10

Banca
Farmafactoring 

Banca
Farmafactoring 

Banca
Farmafactoring 

100%

100%

0%

100%

100%

0%

1

1

4

Investment relationship

Section 4 – Significant events subsequent to the end of the year

On January 8, 2016 Banca Farmafactoring announced a public tender offer to purchase 100% of 
the shares of Magellan S.A., a Polish joint-stock company listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.
Magellan is a leader in the financial services market targeting the healthcare sector in Poland and 
operates also in the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Spain.
The tender offer is conditional on receipt by Banca Farmafactoring of approval from the Bank of 
Italy and clearance from the Polish Antitrust Authority.

On February 16, 2016 Professor Lorenzo Pozza, a member of the board of statutory auditors, re-
signed from the board. He will be replaced by Patrizia Paleologo Oriundi, the most senior alternate 
auditor, until a new appointment is made by the shareholders’ meeting.

There are no events or facts subsequent to the end of the reporting period such as to require an 
adjustment to the results of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.

1. Investments in subsidiaries consolidated line-by-line

Key:
(1) Type of relationship
1 = majority voting rights at the ordinary shareholders’ meetings
2 = dominant influence at the ordinary shareholders’ meetings
3 = agreements with other shareholders
4 = other forms of control
5 = unified management pursuant to art. 26, paragraph 1 of “Legislative Decree 87/92”
6 = unified management pursuant to art. 26, paragraph 2 of “Legislative Decree 87/92”
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Section 5 – Other matters

Use of estimates and assumptions in the preparation of the financial statements
In compliance with IFRS, the preparation of the financial statements at December 31, 2015 re-
quires estimates and assumptions by management. These involve the use of available informa-
tion and the adoption of subjective judgments based also upon historical experience in order to 
formulate reasonable assumptions for the recognition of operating events. These estimates and 
assumptions may vary from one year to the next and, hence, the actual results recorded in the 
financial statements may differ significantly owing to changes in the subjective judgments utilized.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Any changes resulting from such reviews are 
recognized in the period in which the review was carried out, provided the change refers only to 
that period. If the revisions refer to both current and future periods, the change is recognized in 
both the current and future periods accordingly.
Uncertainties in estimates are mainly inherent in the measurement of:
• degree of recoverability and estimated collection times for interest on late payments due on the 
purchase of non-recourse receivables, to which the Bank is entitled, based upon an analysis of 
company historical data;
•	measurement of impairment losses on receivables and, in general, on other financial assets;
•	fair value estimation of financial instruments to be used for disclosure purposes;
•	fair value of financial instruments not listed in active markets, using estimation models;
•	any impairment of investments;
•	employee benefit obligations based on actuarial assumptions and provisions for risks and charges;
•	recoverability of deferred tax assets.

The description of the accounting policies adopted for the main aggregates of the financial state-
ments at December 31, 2015 provides the information needed to identify the major assumptions 
and subjective judgments used in the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit
The shareholders’ meeting of Farmafactoring S.p.A. held on May 3, 2012 appointed Pricewater-
houseCoopers S.p.A. for the audit of the financial statements for the nine years from 2012 to 2020, 
pursuant to the provisions of art. 2409 bis of the Italian Civil Code and Legislative Decree 39/2010.

A.2 - INFORMATION ON THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information is provided below on the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the finan-
cial statements with reference to the criteria for the recognition, classification, measurement and 
derecognition of the various items of the assets and liabilities and revenues and expenses. 

1 - Financial assets held for trading

Recognition 
Financial assets held for trading are initially recognized at the settlement date at fair value, which 
usually corresponds to the amount paid, excluding transaction costs and income, which are rec-
ognized immediately in the income statement even if directly attributable to the financial assets. 
Trading book derivatives are recognized at the trade date.
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Classification
Financial assets held for trading include financial instruments used to hedge fluctuations in mar-
ket interest rates as compared with the fixed rate implicit in non-recourse fees and commissions.
Derivatives are recognized as assets/liabilities held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 although 
operationally they are considered as hedges of interest rate risk relating to activities for the pur-
chase of non-recourse receivables. 

Measurement
Financial assets held for trading are adjusted to the relative fair value. 
If the fair value of a financial asset becomes negative, it is recognized as a financial liability.
Since these instruments are not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined using es-
timation methods and valuation models which take into account all the risk factors related to the 
instruments and are based on data obtained in the market where available. Accordingly, consider-
ing that the inputs used for the measurement of financial assets held for trading are different from 
the quoted prices but observable directly or indirectly in the market, in accordance with Bank of 
Italy Circular 262, the fair value hierarchy is “Level 2”.

Derecognition
Financial assets held for trading are derecognized when the contractual rights have expired and 
when, as a result of the sale, substantially all the risks and rewards relating to these financial as-
sets are transferred.

2 - Available-for-sale financial assets

Recognition
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognized at the settlement date at fair value, which 
usually coincides with the consideration on the transaction plus transaction costs and income di-
rectly attributable to the instrument.

Classification
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets or financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. These assets are held for an indefinite period of time and can fulfill the need to pro-
vide liquidity or meet changes in interest rates, exchange rates and prices.
Available-for-sale financial assets can be money market securities, other debt instruments (in-
cluding the host contract of hybrid instruments after the bifurcation of the embedded derivative) 
and equity instruments; included are shares held as minority investments that do not constitute 
controlling, joint or associate interests. 
Available-for-sale financial instruments include principally government securities and the invest-
ment in Nomisma S.p.A., since it is not subject to “significant influence”.

Measurement
Available-for-sale financial assets in subsequent periods are measured at fair value, with the in-
terest being recognized at amortized cost in the income statement. Gains or losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognized in equity in item 140 “Valuation reserves” – except for losses 
due to impairment and exchange rate gains or losses on monetary items (debt instruments) which 
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are recognized, respectively, under item 130 b) “Impairment losses/reversals on available-for-sale 
financial assets” and item 80 “Gains/losses on trading” respectively - until the financial asset is 
sold, at which time the cumulative gains and losses are recognized in the income statement under 
item 100 b) “Gains/losses on disposal/repurchase of available-for-sale financial assets”.

Fair value changes recognized in item 140 “Valuation reserves” are also reported in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

Equity instruments (shares) not listed in an active market and whose fair value cannot be de-
termined reliably due to the lack or unreliability of information for fair value measurement are 
measured at cost, at the last fair value reliably measured. The investment in Nomisma S.p.A. is 
accounted for at cost and tested for impairment.

If there is objective evidence of an impairment loss on an available-for-sale financial asset, the 
cumulative loss that was recognized directly in the equity item 140 “Valuation reserves” is removed 
from equity and recognized in the income statement under item 130 b) “Impairment losses/rever-
sals on available-for-sale financial assets”. For debt instruments, any circumstances indicating 
that the borrower/issuer is experiencing financial difficulties, such as to prejudice the collection 
of the principal or interest, constitute evidence of an impairment loss. The amount recorded in the 
income statement is the difference between the carrying amount (value at initial recognition net of 
any impairments already recognized in the income statement) and current fair value. 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be 
related objectively to an event such as an improvement in the debtor’s creditworthiness occurring 
after recognition of the impairment loss in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed 
and the amount of the reversal is recognized in the same item of the income statement.
The reinstatement cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the amortized cost would 
have been had the impairment loss not been recognized.

Derecognition
Available-for-sale financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights expire and when, 
following a sale, substantially all the risks and benefits relating to the financial asset are trans-
ferred.

3 - Held-to-maturity financial assets 

Recognition
Held-to-maturity financial assets are initially recognized at fair value, which usually corresponds 
to the consideration paid plus transaction costs and income which are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or provision of the financial asset.

Classification
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments and fixed maturity for which there is the positive intention and ability to hold them to ma-
turity. This type of instrument can be used for repurchase transactions, loan or other temporary 
refinancing transactions.
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As set out in IAS 39, a financial asset cannot be classified as held-to-maturity if, during the cur-
rent or in the preceding two financial years, more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments are sold or reclassified before maturity.

Measurement
After initial recognition at fair value, held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets are measured at am-
ortized cost using the effective interest method.

In the event of a sale or derecognition of a held-to-maturity financial asset, the difference between 
the carrying value of the asset and the amount received is recognized in the income statement 
under item 100 c) “Gains/losses on disposal/repurchase of held-to-maturity financial assets”.

If there is objective evidence that a held-to-maturity investment is impaired, the impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted using the original effective interest rate of the financial as-
set. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced accordingly and the loss is recognized in profit or 
loss under item 130 c) “Impairment losses/reversals on held-to-maturity financial assets”. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event such as an improvement in the debtor’s creditworthiness occurring 
after recognition of the impairment loss in the income statement, the previously recognized im-
pairment loss is reversed. The reinstatement cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what 
the amortized cost would have been had the impairment loss not been recognized. The amount of 
the reinstatement is recognized in the same item of the income statement.

Held-to-maturity financial investments cannot be hedged for other than the credit/non-perfor-
mance risk.

Derecognition
Held-to-maturity financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights expire and when, 
following a disposal, substantially all the risks and benefits relating to the financial asset are 
transferred. 

If, during the financial year, more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments 
are sold or reclassified before maturity, the remaining held-to-maturity financial assets shall be 
reclassified as available-for-sale and no financial assets shall be classified as held-to-maturity 
investments for the two following financial years, unless the sales or reclassifications: 
•  are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of inter-
est would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;
•  occur after substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal has been collected through 
scheduled payments or prepayments; or
•  are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the reporting entity’s control, is non-recurring 
and could not have been reasonably anticipated.
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4 - Receivables 

Recognition
Receivables are recognized initially at fair value, which usually corresponds to the consideration 
paid plus transaction costs and income which are directly attributable to the acquisition or provi-
sion of the financial asset, even though not yet settled.

Non-recourse receivables:
a) non-recourse receivables purchased, with the transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership, are initially recognized at fair value, represented by the face value of the receivable 
net of fees and commissions charged to the assignor;
b) receivables purchased for amounts below face value are recognized for the amount effectively 
paid at the time of purchase.

Classification
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets due from customers and banks with fixed or de-
terminable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Receivables are recognized on the 
date of signing the contract, which normally coincides with the date of disbursement to the coun-
terparty.

All purchases of non-recourse receivables refer to factoring transactions pursuant to Law 52/91.
The amounts due from banks refer mainly to current account transactions generated by liquidity 
from collections received in the final days of the year, pending clearance, relating to both “receiv-
ables management” and “management of non-recourse receivables purchased”.

Receivables from customers comprise principally receivables from debtors relating to factoring 
activities and interest on late payments, calculated on non-recourse receivables purchased ac-
cording to existing law (Legislative Decree 231/2002 “Implementation of Directive 2000/35/EC on 
combating late payment in commercial transactions”).

Measurement of purchases of non-recourse receivables
Purchases of non-recourse receivables, subsequent to initial recognition, are measured at amor-
tized cost determined on the basis of the present value of estimated future cash flows.

The new due date of such receivables is the expected collection date determined at the time of 
quotation and formalized with the assignor in the sales contract.

Performing receivables include receivables due from customers which, although past due more than 
90 days from the face due date, show no objective indication of impairment at an individual level. 

Although the receivables are due almost entirely from the Public Administration, as in previous 
years, at the date of the preparation of the interim and year-end financial statements, the Bank, 
in accordance with IAS 39, carried out a collective assessment of performing receivables in order 
to correctly monitor the intrinsic risk of the portfolio even in the absence of individual impairment 
indicators. 
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This measurement is performed using, as a basis, the risk parameters of Probability of Default 
(PD), and Loss Given Default (LGD) for potential loss. This rating is then applied to exposures that 
are not classified as non-performing Exposures At Default (EAD).

The collective assessment of the PD was performed by assigning a rating to the debtors (ASLs / 
AOs), corresponding to the credit rating assigned by the major rating agencies for the particular 
Region to which the debtors belong.
With regard to receivables from central administrations of the Italian State, the rating assigned to 
the Italian State was used.

In order to determine the LGD, the Bank assumed the value proposed by the “Basel Accord” for 
credits not covered by real guarantees from sovereign states, companies and banks, equal to 45% 
of the PD found. 
Under IAS 39, and for the purposes of an analytical evaluation, an assessment of the financial 
assets classified in receivables was carried out in order to identify any objective impairment of 
individual positions.
Such “non-performing” receivables were assigned impaired receivables status in accordance with 
Bank of Italy regulations consistent with IAS standards currently in effect. They are measured at 
estimated realizable value by recognizing any impairment losses determined on an individual ba-
sis, based on the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable at the time of measure-
ment (amortized cost) and the present value of estimated future cash flows, calculated by applying 
the original effective interest rate. The cash flows take into account:
• estimated recovery times; 
• estimated realizable value of any guarantees; 
• costs that it is believed will be incurred for the recovery of receivables;
• any reinstatements.
Cash flows of receivables which are expected to be recovered in the short term (up to 12 months – 
short-term receivables) are not discounted to present value.
The impairment loss on a receivable is reversed and the receivable is reinstated to its original car-
rying amount when the reasons for the impairment no longer exist.

Non-recourse receivables purchased are measured at “amortized cost” based on the present val-
ue of estimated future cash flows. They refer to both the principal amount and late interest which 
accrues from the due date of the receivable.

Pursuant to IAS 18, interest income should be recognized in the income statement only if it is 
probable that positive cash flows will flow to the entity and the amount can be measured reliably. 

As regards the calculation of amortized cost, including interest on late payments recognized on 
the accrual basis, the Bank integrated the time series of data utilized in the prior year, regarding 
the percentages and collection times of interest on late payments, with the collections recorded in 
2015. The outcome of this integration has confirmed, on the basis of the times series analysis, the 
recoverability rate of 40% for interest on late payments and 1800 days for collection times.
These recovery percentages have not been applied to the interest on late payments of non-per-
forming positions, which have been entirely written off.
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Derecognition
Receivables are derecognized when they are considered unrecoverable.
Receivables sold are derecognized only when the sale transfers all the risks and rewards relating 
to such receivables.

When, instead, the risks and rewards are retained, the receivables sold will continue to be record-
ed in the assets of the financial statements until, legally, ownership of the receivables is actually 
transferred.

6 - Hedging transactions

Recognition
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges are initially recognized at their fair value. At 
December 31, 2015 there are no outstanding hedging transactions.

Classification
Hedging transactions are aimed at reducing potential losses attributable to specific types of risks.
The possible types of hedges are as follows: 
• fair value hedge: a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of assets, liabilities or other 
investments in the balance sheet; 
• cash flow hedge: a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to recognized 
assets or liabilities in the financial statements.
Instruments which can be used for hedging are derivative contracts (including purchased options) 
and non-derivative financial instruments, for hedges of exchange rate risk only. Derivative hedg-
ing instruments are classified in the balance sheet respectively in item 80 “Hedging derivatives” in 
the assets or 60 “Hedging derivatives” in the liabilities, according to whether there is a positive or 
negative fair value at the balance sheet date.

Measurement 
Derivative hedging instruments are measured subsequently at fair value.

When a financial instrument is designated as a hedge, the Bank formally documents the relation-
ship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. Consequently, the Bank assesses the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness, at inception and during its life, in offsetting the exposure to 
changes in the hedged item’s fair value. A hedge is considered effective if, at the inception of the 
hedge and during its life, the changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows are offset by the 
changes in the hedging derivative’s fair value.
Therefore the hedge is regarded as effective by a comparison of the above changes, taking into 
account the risk management objective when the hedge was put into place. It is effective (within a 
range of 80-125 percent) when the estimated and effective changes in fair value or cash flows of the 
hedging instrument offset almost entirely the changes in the hedged item, for the element of risk 
hedged. The hedge’s effectiveness is assessed at each balance sheet date or interim date using: 
•	prospective tests: which justify the application of hedge accounting, since they indicate its ex-
pected effectiveness; 
•	retrospective tests: which indicate the degree of effectiveness of the hedge reached in the period 
to which they refer. In other words, they measure to what extent the effective results differ from the 
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perfect hedge.
Hedge accounting is discontinued in the following cases: a) the hedging relationship ceases or is 
no longer highly effective; b) the hedged item is sold or is repaid; c) early revocation of the designa-
tion; d) the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.
Accounting for gains and losses arising from fair value changes depends on the type of hedge:
• fair value hedge: changes in fair value of the hedged item referring only to the hedged risk is 
recorded in the income statement, the same as the fair value change of the derivative instrument; 
any difference, which represents the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge, consequently results in 
the net gain or loss;
• cash flow hedge: changes in fair value of the derivative are recognized in equity, for the effective 
portion of the hedge, and are recognized in the income statement only when, with regard to the 
hedged item, there is a fluctuation in the cash flows to be offset or the hedge is ineffective.
The ineffectiveness of the hedge is represented by the difference between the change in fair value 
of the hedging instrument and the change in fair value of the hedged item, both shown in the in-
come statement.
Allocation of the gains or losses to the pertinent items of the income statement is made on the 
basis of the following:
• differences accrued on the derivative instruments hedging interest rate risk (in addition to the 
interest of the hedged positions) are allocated to “Interest and similar income” or “Interest and 
similar expenses”;
• gains and losses arising from the measurement of hedging derivative instruments designated as 
a fair value hedge are allocated to the item “Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting”;
• gains and losses arising from the measurement of a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge, 
for the effective portion, are allocated to a specific equity valuation reserve “Cash flow hedge re-
serve”, net of the deferred tax effect. For the ineffective portion, the gains and losses are recorded 
in the income statement in the item 90 “Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting”.

Derecognition
The Bank ceases to consider transactions as hedging relationships, and account for them as such, 
if the derivative designated as a hedge is no longer effective.
Furthermore the hedged financial assets and liabilities are eliminated when there are no longer 
contractual rights (e.g. expiration of the contract, early closing exercised according to the contrac-
tual clauses – unwinding) to receive cash flows relating to the financial instruments, hedged as-
sets/liabilities and/or derivative designated as a hedge or when the financial assets/liabilities are 
sold thus substantially transferring all the risks and benefits connected thereto.  

8 - Property, plant and equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is recognized initially at cost, including all directly attributable costs 
to bring the asset to use (transaction costs, professional fees, direct transport costs incurred in 
bringing the asset to the assigned location, installation costs, dismantling costs).

Costs incurred subsequently are added to the carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset 
only when it is probable that there will be future economic benefits in excess of those initially fore-
seen and the cost can be reliably measured. Other expenses incurred at a later date (e.g. ordinary 
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maintenance costs) are recognized in the year incurred in the income statement in item 150 b) 
“other administrative expenses”, if they refer to assets used in the business.

Classification
Property, plant and equipment include movable property and buildings, systems, other machinery 
and equipment held for use by the companies in the Banking Group for more than one period.

Measurement
After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost net of accumulated de-
preciation and impairment losses. 

Such assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, as follows:

•	buildings: maximum 34 years
•	furniture and fixtures: maximum 9 years
•	systems: maximum 14 years
•	machines: maximum 3 years
•	other: maximum 11 years

Land and buildings are treated separately for accounting purposes, even if purchased together. 
Land is not depreciated since it usually has an indefinite useful life.

The estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at the end of each report-
ing period and takes into account the conditions of use of the assets, maintenance conditions, 
expected obsolescence etc. and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the depreciation 
rate for the current and subsequent years is adjusted. 

At the date of IFRS first-time adoption (January 1, 2005), the properties used by the Bank in its 
business (Milan and Rome) were measured at fair value which then became the new cost from 
that date.

If there is objective evidence that an asset has been impaired the carrying amount of the asset is 
compared with its recoverable amount, equal to the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use, i.e., the present value of future cash flows expected to originate from the asset. 
Any adjustments to the value of the asset are recognized in the income statement in item 200 “Net 
adjustments to/writebacks on property, plant and equipment”.
If the value of a previously impaired asset is reinstated, the new carrying amount cannot exceed 
the net carrying amount of the asset that would have resulted had no impairment loss been rec-
ognized in prior years.

Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when future economic 
benefits are not expected from its use or sale in the future and any difference between sales pro-
ceeds or recoverable amount and carrying amount is recognized in the income statement in item 
270 “Gains/losses on disposal of investments”. 
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9 - Intangible assets

Recognition 
Intangible assets are recognized at acquisition cost, i.e. including costs incurred to bring the asset 
into use, less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

Classification
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance which are ex-
pected to be used for more than one period, controlled by the Group and from which future eco-
nomic benefits are probable.

Intangible assets mainly refer to software. 

Measurement
Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
life, usually as follows: 

Software:  				    maximum 4 years
Other intangible assets:			   maximum 6 years

If there is objective evidence that an asset has been impaired the carrying amount of the asset is 
compared with its recoverable amount, equal to the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use, i.e., the present value of future cash flows expected to originate from the asset. 
Any adjustments to the value of the asset are recognized in the income statement in item 210 “Net 
adjustments to/writebacks on intangible assets”.
If the value of a previously impaired intangible asset is reinstated, the new carrying amount cannot 
exceed the net carrying amount of the asset that would have resulted had no impairment loss been 
recognized in prior years.

Derecognition
An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal or when future economic benefits are not expected 
from its use or sale in the future and any difference between sales proceeds or recoverable amount 
and carrying amount is recognized in the income statement in item 270 “Gains/losses on disposal 
of investments”.

11 - Current and deferred taxes

Recognition and measurement
Income taxes are calculated in accordance with enacted tax legislation.
The tax charge consists of the total amount of current and deferred income taxes included in ar-
riving at the result for the period. Current income taxes correspond to the amount of income taxes 
calculated on the taxable income for the year. Deferred tax liabilities correspond to the amount of 
income taxes due in future years on taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets correspond 
to the amount of income taxes recoverable in future years and refer to deductible temporary dif-
ferences. The tax amount of an asset or a liability is the value attributed to that asset or liability 
according to enacted tax legislation.
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A deferred tax liability is recognized on all taxable temporary differences as set forth in IAS 12.
A deferred tax asset is recognized on all deductible temporary differences as set forth in IAS 12 
only to the extent that it is probable that there will be future taxable income against which the de-
ductible temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of enacted tax rates in the year in 
which the asset will be recovered or the liability will be settled.

Current and deferred tax charges and benefits are recognized in the income statement.

12 - Provisions for risks and charges

Recognition and measurement
Provisions for risks and charges include costs and expenses of a determinate nature considered 
certain or probable which, at the balance sheet date, are uncertain as to amount or as to the date 
on which they will arise.
Provisions for risks and charges are only made when:
•	there is a present obligation as a result of a past event;
•	it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
•	the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

The provisions for risks and charges include, in accordance with IAS 19, the measurement of post-
employment benefits.
The measurement of such obligations in the balance sheet, where necessary, is made according to 
actuarial calculations by determining the charge at the measurement date on the basis of demo-
graphic and financial assumptions. 

Derecognition
Derecognition occurs when the obligation or contingent liability which generated the recognition 
of a provision is extinguished.

13 - Payables and securities issued 

Recognition 
Payables and securities issued are recognized on the settlement date initially at fair value, which 
normally corresponds to the consideration received less transaction costs directly attributable to 
the financial liability.

Classification
The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” are used for all forms of 
third-party funding other than trading liabilities or those valued at fair value through profit or loss.

Measurement
The amounts due to banks and customers are measured at nominal amounts since they are gen-
erally due within 18 months and in consideration of the non-significance of the effects of the ap-
plication of the amortized cost method.
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Securities issued are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is extinguished 
or following a substantial change in the contractual terms of the liability.
The derecognition of securities issued occurs also in the event of the repurchase of securities 
previously issued, even though they are destined for subsequent sale. The gains and losses on the 
recognition of the repurchase as an extinguishment are recognized in the income statement when 
the repurchase price of the bonds is higher or lower than their carrying amount. Subsequent dis-
posal of own bonds on the market is considered as an issue of new debt.

18 - Other information

Employee severance indemnities

Recognition and measurement
As a result of the new provisions introduced by Law 296 of 2006, the calculation of employee sever-
ance indemnities accrued up to December 31, 2006 (which remains with the company) is calculat-
ed by estimating the remaining service life of the employees, by individual person or homogeneous 
groups, on the basis of demographic assumptions:
•	projecting the employee severance indemnity already accrued, on the basis of demographic as-
sumptions, in order to estimate the time of termination of employment;
•	discounting to present value, at the measurement date, the indemnity accrued to December 31, 
2006 on the basis of financial assumptions.

IAS 19 no longer permits the deferral of actuarial gains and losses under the corridor method, now 
requiring their immediate recognition in comprehensive income for the year.
The employee severance indemnity accruing from January 1, 2007, since it must be transferred to 
the INPS fund or supplementary pension funds, takes on the characteristics of a “defined contri-
bution plan” since the employer’s obligation ceases once payment is made and the contribution is 
recorded in the income statement on the accrual basis. 

Recognition of revenues

The general criterion for the recognition of revenue components is the accrual basis. Specifically:
•	interest income on receivables from customers is recognized at the effective return; similarly, 
commissions charged to the assignor for the purchase of non-recourse receivables are recognized 
as transaction revenues and are therefore part of the effective return of the receivable;
•	until 2013, the Bank did not record accrued interest on late payments (a legal right) on receiv-
ables in portfolio not yet invoiced to the debtors and completely wrote off the receivables for inter-
est on late payments invoiced to the debtors through a specific provision account recorded as a 
deduction of the asset given that it was unable to reliably estimate the recoverability of the interest 
and the requirements for recognition in the financial statements set out in IAS 18 were not com-
plied with. When the interest on late payments was actually collected, the income statement was 
credited for the amount. During 2014, the Bank acquired analysis instruments which enabled it to 
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obtain a times series of data such as to permit the calculation of a reliable estimate of the prob-
able amount of interest on late payments that would be recovered. Accordingly, beginning with the 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Bank applied the percentage of 
recoverability to receivables for interest on late payments determined following the above times 
series analysis, instead of completely writing off the receivables as in previous years;
•	interest income on securities classified in the available-for-sale and held-to-maturity portfolios 
and interest expense, relating to securities issued by the Bank, are recognized at amortized cost, 
that is, by applying to the nominal value of the securities the effective interest rate of return (IRR), 
determined by the difference between the coupon rate of interest and the purchase price of the 
same security and taking into account also any discount on issue. 
The interest thus calculated is recorded in the income statement pro rata over the duration of the 
financial asset or liability;
•	commissions for the collection management of receivables on behalf of assignors are recognized 
in two successive stages in relation to the time and nature of the service rendered:
-	when the receivables are entrusted for credit management (commissions on acceptance and 
handling expenses);
-	when the receivables are collected (commissions on collection).

A.3 - INFORMATION ON TRANSFERS BETWEEN PORTFOLIOS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

In 2015, as in 2014, there were no reclassifications of financial assets between portfolios.

A.4 - INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE

Qualitative information

A.4.1 Fair value Levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and inputs used

The above financial assets/liabilities held for trading refer to the recognition of the fair value of 
financial derivatives, and are classified as Level 2, in that the inputs used for measurement are not 
quoted prices in an active market, observable directly or indirectly, but are acquired from external 
providers. The valuation techniques used to determine Level 2 fair value are based on estimated 
cash flows, using market parameters. In the measurement of the fair value of derivatives, account 
was taken of the credit risk inherent in the instruments through the calculation of the credit value 
adjustment (CVA) and the debit value adjustment (DVA). The valuations of the assets and liabilities, 
classified as Level 3 are not based on observable market data.

A.4.2 Valuation processes and sensitivities

These financial instruments are used to hedge fluctuations in the market rate compared to the 
fixed rate used in non-recourse commissions on the purchases of non-recourse receivables.
The fair value change in such financial assets/liabilities from December 31, 2014 requires the rec-
ognition in the income statement of a net gain/loss (+/-) on trading.
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A.4.3 Fair value hierarchy

In 2015, as in 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

Quantitative information

A.4.5 Fair value hierarchy

A.4.5.1 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value 
levels
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Financial assets/liabilities 
measured at fair value 
1. Financial assets held for 	
	  trading
2. Financial assets at fair value
	  through profit or loss
3. Available-for-sale financial 	
	  assets
4. Hedging derivatives
5. Property, plant and equipment
6. Intangible assets
Total
1. Financial liabilities held 
	  for trading
2. Financial liabilities at 
	  fair value 
3. Hedging derivatives
Total

L1 L1L2 L2L3 L3

12.31.2015 12.31.2014

429,415
 
 
 

429,415 0

23

23

370,157

370,157 0

46

47
93

23

23

(in € thousands)

Key:
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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A.5 - INFORMATION ON DAY ONE PROFIT/LOSS

The Group does not hold nor has it held financial assets to which this disclosure is applicable.

822,859
60,523

1,962,004
  
  

2,845,386
688,081

1,726,683
452,962

  
2,867,726

955,932
97,726

1,554,957

  
  

2,608,615
968,264

1,168,587
468,562

  
2,605,413

826,912
 
 

  
  

826,912
  
  

302,277

  
302,277

150,000

 
150,000

957,357
 
 

  

  
957,357

  
  

299,175

  
299,175

60,523
1,962,004

  

  
2,022,527

688,081
1,726,683

  
  

2,414,764

97,726
1,554,957

  
  

1,652,683
968,264

1,168,587  

  
2,136,851

12.31.2015

CA CAL1 L1L2 L2L3 L3

12.31.2014

Key:
CA = Carrying Amount
L1= Level 1: quoted prices (without adjustments) recognized in active markets according to the definition of IFRS 13. 
L2= Level 2: inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable directly (prices) or 
indirectly (derived from the prices) in the market.
L3= Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Assets and liabilities not 
measured at fair value or 
measured at fair value 
on a non-recurring basis
 1. Held-to-maturity financial 	
	 assets
 2. Due from banks 
 3. Due from customers 
 4. Property, plant and equipment     	
	 held for investment purposes 
 5. Non-current assets and  	
	 disposal groups of assets 	
	 held for sale 
Total
 1. Due to banks 
 2. Due to customers 
 3. Securities issued 
 4. Liabilities associated with 	
	 assets held for sale 
Total

 
 

166,650 

166,650 

A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non-recurring 
basis: breakdown by fair value levels 

(in € thousands)



86

02 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015

Part B – Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents - Item 10
€160 thousand

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown

Cash and cash equivalents are represented by the cash fund and by the account that Banca Farma-
factoring has with the Bank of Italy.

a) Cash
b) Demand deposits with Central Banks

Total

2
157
160

3
0
3

12.31.201412.31.2015

Section 4 – Available-for-sale financial assets - Item 40
€429,438 thousand

The balance mainly represents the value of government securities purchased by Banca Farmafac-
toring to protect against liquidity risk and to optimize the cost of money for a total nominal amount 
of €419 million. The securities held are at variable rates (CCT) with a residual maturity date within 
two years.

These securities are classified in the Available-for-sale (AFS) portfolio and as such are measured 
at fair value. The interest earned is recorded in the income statement according to the effective 
interest method.
At the end of the year, the value of the securities is compared to their fair value and the fair value 
adjustment is recorded in equity within valuation reserves.
At December 31, 2015, the fair value reserves on available-for-sale securities amount to approxi-
mately €481 thousand net of the tax effect.

These assets also include the investment of €23 thousand held by Banca Farmafactoring in the 
company Nomisma S.p.A. – Società di Studi Economici, accounted for at cost, in the absence of 
other elements of valuation.

The main information about the investment is as follows.

(in € thousands)
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4.1 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by type

Head office
Share capital

Bologna - Strada Maggiore n. 44
Euro 6,605,829.68 fully paid in

Items/Amounts
1.   Debt securities
      1.1  Structured securities
      1.2  Other
2.  Equity instruments
      2.1  Measured at fair value
      2.2  Carried at cost
3.  Units in investment funds 
4.  Loans

Total

Level 1 Level 1Level 2 Level 2Level 3 Level 3

12.31.2015 12.31.2014

429,415

429,415

370,157

370,157

23

23

23

23

Description
Nomisma S.p.A.

Carrying amount
 (€/cent)

23,491.75 72,667 0.32 0.356%

No. of shares 
purchased

Nominal value per 
share (€/cents)

Percentage of 
investment holding

Equity
Profit for the year

4,874,450
80,063

   (amounts in euros, referring to December 31, 2014)

(€/cents)

Key figures on Nomisma S.p.A. are the following.

(in € thousands)
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4.2 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by debtor/issuer

Items/Amounts
1. Debt securities

a) Governments and Central Banks
b) Other public sector entities
c) Banks
d) Other issuers

2. Equity instruments
	 a) Banks
	 b) Other issuers:

    - insurance companies
    - financial companies
    - non-financial companies
    - other

3. Units in investment funds
4. Loans

a) Governments and Central Banks
b) Other public sector entities
c) Banks
d) Other entities

Total

429,415

23

429,438

370,157

23

370,180

12.31.201412.31.2015

Section 5 – Held-to-maturity financial assets  – Item 50
€822,859 thousand

The balance consists entirely of purchases of government securities, classified in the held-to-
maturity portfolio, to protect against liquidity risk and to optimize the cost of money, for a total 
nominal amount of €799.5 million.
These securities are at a fixed rate (BOT, BTP and CTZ) with maturity dates related to the sources 
of committed and unsecured funding. Such securities were classified in the held-to-maturity port-
folio and therefore measured at amortized cost. The interest earned is recorded in the income 
statement according to the effective interest method.  

The held-to-maturity portfolio refers to financial assets which the Bank intends to hold until the 
maturity date set in the contract, and which permits the collection of fixed and determinable 
amounts. According to IAS 39, an entity may not classify any financial assets as held-to-maturity if 
the entity has sold or reclassified, during the current or the preceding two fiscal years, more than 
an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments before their maturity.
The fair value of these securities at December 31, 2015 is €826,912 thousand, with a positive fair 
value change compared to the carrying amount at the same date of €4,053 thousand, which is not 
recognized in the financial statements.

(in € thousands)
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5.1 Held-to-maturity financial assets: breakdown by type

1. Debt securities
      - structured
      - other
2. Loans

822,859 826,912 955,932 957,357

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

CA CAFV FV
Level 3 Level 3Level 2 Level 2Level 1 Level 1

Types of transactions/Amounts
1.	Debt securities
    a) Governments and Central Banks
    b) Other public sector entities
    c) Banks
    d) Other issuers
2.	Loans
    a) Governments and Central Banks
    b) Other public sector entities
    c) Banks
    d) Other entities

Total
Total fair value

822,859
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

822,859
826,912

12.31.201412.31.2015

955,932
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

955,932
957,357

5.2 Held-to-maturity financial assets: debtor/issuer

Key:
FV = fair value
CA = carrying amount

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)
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Key:
FV = fair value
CA = carrying amount

Section 6 – Due from banks – Item 60
€60,523 thousand

The amounts due from banks refer mainly to current account transactions generated by the li-
quidity from collections received in the final days of the year, pending clearance, relating to both 
“receivables” management and management of “non-recourse receivables purchased”.

6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type

Types of transactions/Amounts
A. Due from Central Banks
1. Time deposits
2. Mandatory reserve
3. Reverse repos
4. Other
B. Due from banks
1. Loans
    1.1  Current accounts and 	
	 demand deposits
    1.2. Time deposits
    1.3. Other loans:
           - reverse repos
           - finance leases
           - other
2. Debt securities
     2.1. Structured securities
     2.2. Other

Total

54,735
5,788

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

60,523

37,194

59,613
919

 
 
 

 
 

97,726

54,735
5,788

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

60,523

37,194

59,613
919

 
 
 

 
 

97,726

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

CA CAFV FV
Level 3 Level 3Level 2 Level 2Level 1 Level 1

(in € thousands)

The time deposits of €5,788 thousand relate to the mandatory reserve deposit with ICBPI since 
Banca Farmafactoring participates indirectly in the system. 

There are no impaired assets in this item. 
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Section 7 – Due from customers  – Item 70
€1,962,004 thousand

Due from customers mainly include receivables from debtors, including interest on late payments, 
referring to factoring transactions.

Non-recourse receivables purchased are measured at “amortized cost” based on the present val-
ue of estimated future cash flows. They refer to both the principal amount and late interest which 
accrues from the due date of the receivable. As regards the calculation of amortized cost, including 
interest on late payments recognized on the accrual basis, the Bank integrated the time series of 
data utilized in the prior year to arrive at the percentages and collection times of interest on late 
payments, recorded in 2015. The outcome of this integration has confirmed, on the basis of the 
times series analysis, the recoverability rate of 40% for interest on late payments and 1800 days 
for collection times.

These recovery percentages have not been applied to the interest on late payments of non-per-
forming positions, which have been entirely written off.

With regard to the receivables purchased by Farmafactoring España, the average percentage of 
recovery of interest on late payments observed tends to be equal to 100% and is collected in less 
time on average than receivables from the Italian Health Service. Nevertheless, since the sample 
size observed is limited, it was prudently decided to consider positively the utilization of the same 
recovery rate of 40% and the same collection time of 1800 days as used by Banca Farmafactoring.

The cumulative amount of interest on late payments to which the Group is entitled but has not yet 
collected, on non-recourse receivables purchased (the provision account for interest on late pay-
ments), is €460 million, of which only €151 million was recognized in the income statement in the 
current and prior years.

7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type

“Due from customers” is composed as follows:

• “performing” non-recourse receivables purchased, recorded in the name of the account debt-
or, which meet the conditions for derecognition, measured at amortized cost, with a balance of 
€1,833,961 thousand, of which €182,947 thousand refers to the subsidiary Farmafactoring España.
Non-recourse receivables are mainly purchased when already past due and the principal portion of 
the receivables is deemed collectible. The right to interest on late payments, accrued or accruing, 
is acquired at the same time the receivables are purchased.
Receivables and loans also comprise receivables sold, for a total of €233,484 thousand, but not 
derecognized from the assets in the financial statements since the sales did not involve the trans-
fer of the risks and rewards associated with such receivables. The amount refers to one transac-
tion for the securitization of healthcare receivables.
•	“Impaired assets” total €45,741 thousand and comprise:
-Non-performing receivables: refer to exposures to parties that are in a state of insolvency or in 
basically similar situations, regardless of any estimates of loss formulated by the Bank.
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Non-performing positions thus include all doubtful uncollectible receivables positions, net of 
writedowns for estimated impairment losses and any writebacks.
At December 31, 2015 these amount to €2,507 thousand, of which about €0.9 million corresponds 
to the exposure to the debtor Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in 
a composition agreement with creditors. After an agreement was recognized by the composition of 
creditors, approved by the meeting of creditors on March 19, 2012, for the principal as well as the 
late interest, which was nevertheless completely written off, a decision was taken not to make any 
provision for principal since the total of the collections deriving from the agreement were in line 
with the outstanding amount of principal.
In 2013 Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agree-
ment with creditors paid the first two distributions, of about €9.6 million. 
In July 2015 a third distribution was paid by the non-performing debtor, Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors, of €1.5 
million equal to approximately 6% of the liability, bringing the residual exposure from €2.4 million 
to €0.9 million. There was no effect on the income statement since the principal amount had not 
been written down.
The other gross non-performing positions amount to approximately €3.3 million, of which about 
€1.7 million was completely written off against the provision account and the net book value is 
now zero. The remaining positions of about €1.6 million have not been written down since they 
refer to positions guaranteed by sureties and to exposures relating to local entities in financial 
difficulties (of which €743 thousand was non-performing when purchased and €312 thousand 
was purchased performing and later became non-performing), for which no provision for loss 
was made as it is expected that at the end of the period of financial difficulty 100% of the receiv-
ables will be recovered.
The provision account for interest on late payments on non-performing positions amounts to €13.6 
million and is completely written off. This refers mainly to the position with Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors.
- Past due receivables amount to €43,234 thousand and consist of receivables from central ad-
ministrations and central banks, territorial entities, public sector entities, non-profit entities and 
companies which, at December 30, 2015, are past due more than 90 days.
In particular, exposures to central administrations and central banks, public sector entities and 
territorial entities are considered past due when the debtor has not made any payment for any of 
the positions owed to the bank for more than 90 days.

•	Other performing loans due from customers amount to €127,288 thousand and primarily include:
- late interest accrued and accruing for about €92,083 thousand, of which €9,201 refers to the  
Spanish subsidiary; 
- advances to assignors of €2,230 thousand;
- receivables from assignors for legal expenses to be recovered of €2,204 thousand;
- receivables for fees to be invoiced to assignors and interest on extended payment terms granted 
and to be charged to debtors of €2,213 thousand;
- margins paid to Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia to guarantee operativity in repo transac-
tions of €29,063 thousand.

Receivables purchased below face value amount to €22,696 thousand. 
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Legal actions undertaken are mainly geared towards accelerating the recovery of receivables. 
All purchases of non-recourse receivables refer to factoring transactions pursuant to Law 52/91.

Fair value
Receivables and loans in the financial statements mainly refer to the purchase of non-recourse 
receivables for which there is not an active and liquid market. These especially refer to past due 
receivables from the Public Administration for which it is not easy to reliably determine the price 
of a hypothetically independent transaction, partly due to the difficulties in establishing a reason-
able assessment of the liquidity risk which would be accepted by the market for such transactions.
It was therefore deemed that the carrying amount (determined on the basis of “amortized cost” 
and taking into account any individual and collective impairment losses) in relation to the nature, 
type, duration and forecasts of collection of such assets could substantially be considered repre-
sentative of the fair value of these same receivables at the balance sheet date.

Types of transactions/
Amounts
Loans
1. Current accounts
2. Reverse repos 
3. Mortgages 
4. Credit cards, personal loans, 
garnishment of wages
5. Finance leases
6. Factoring 
7. Other loans
Debt securities 
8. Structured securities 
9. Other 

Total

Not 
impaired

Carrying amount Carrying amountFair value Fair value
Impaired

Purchased Other
L1 L1L2 L2L3 L3

 
 
 
 

 
44,243

755
 
 
 

44,998

12,351
427

 
 
 

12,778

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

 
 
 
 

 
743

 
 
 
 

743

1,788,975
127,288

 
 
 

1,916,264

1,444,202
97,977

 
 
 

1,542,180

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

(in € thousands)

Not 
impaired

Impaired
Purchased Other
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Types of transactions/Amounts
1. Debt securities
     a) Governments
     b) Other public sector entities
     c) Other issuers
          - non-financial companies
          - financial companies
          - insurance companies
          - other
2. Loans to:
     a) Governments
     b) Other public sector entities
     c) Other entities
          - non-financial companies
          - financial companies
          - insurance companies
          - other

Total

Not 
impaired

Impaired
Purchased Other

281,571
1,584,138

 
6,506

28,932
 

15,116
1,916,264

110,773
1,385,741

 
23,726
13,655

 
8,285

1,542,180

31
10,029

 
33,707

 
 

1,231
44,998

5,247
3,394

 
1,050

 
 3,087

12,778

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

743
 
 
 
 
 

743 0

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by debtor/issuer

(in € thousands)

Not 
impaired

Impaired
Purchased Other
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Section 12 - Property, plant and equipment – Item 120
€12,666 thousand

12.1 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: breakdown of assets carried at cost

Assets/Amounts
    1. Owned assets
a) land
b) buildings
c) furniture and fixtures
d) electronic systems
e) other
    2. Leased assets acquired under finance leases
a) land
b) buildings
c) furniture and fixtures
d) electronic systems
e) other

Total

3,685
7,470

275
872
364

 
 
 
 
 
 

12,666

3,685
7,582

300
683
443

 
 
 
 
 
 

12,693

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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12.5 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: annual changes

3,685
0

3,685

3,685
0

3,685
3,685

16,617
(9,035)
7,582

210
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(322)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7,470
(9,358)
16,828
16,828

2,390
(2,091)

300
 

50
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

(75)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

275
(2,166)
2,441
2,441

5,434
(4,751)

683
 

714
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(525)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

872
(5,275)
6,147
6,147

5,212
(4,769)

443
 

112
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(191)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

364
(4,960)
5,324
5,324

33,338
(20,645)
12,693

 
1,086

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1,114)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

12,666
(21,759)
34,425
34,425

A.   Gross beginning balance
A.1 Total net impairment loss
A.2   Net beginning balance
B. Increases:
B.1 Purchases
B.2 Capitalized improvements
B.3 Writebacks
B.4 Positive fair value changes 
allocated to:
      a)  equity
      b)  income statement
B.5 Net exchange gains
B.6 Transfers from properties held 
for investment   
B.7 Other changes
C. Decreases:
C.1 Disposals
C.2 Depreciation
C.3 Impairment losses allocated to:
      a)  equity
      b)  income statement
C.4 Negative fair value changes 
allocated to:
      a)  equity
      b)  income statement
C.5 Net exchange losses
C.6 Transfers to:
      a)  property, plant and equipment      	
	 held for investment
      b)  assets held for sale
C.7 Other changes
D.  Net ending balance 
D.1 Net impairment loss
D.2  Gross ending balance
E.  Carried at cost

Land Electronic 
systems

Buildings Other  Furniture 
and fixtures

Total

(in € thousands)
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At the date of IFRS first-time adoption (January 1, 2005), the properties used by Banca Farmafac-
toring in the business (Milan and Rome) were measured at fair value which then became the new 
carrying amount from that date.
The measurement at first-time adoption resulted in a revaluation of the buildings for approximately 
€4 million, from approximately €5 million to €9 million.
In the financial statements, the value of the land and building owned in Milan (at Via Domenichino 
5) was separated on the basis of an appraisal conducted by the same company which determined 
the value of both the land and building.
The land on which the Rome building sits was not separated because Banca Farmafactoring is not 
the owner of the entire building.

Section 13 - Intangible assets – Item 130
€2,747 thousand

13.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset

In accordance with the information required by IAS 38, paragraph 118, letter a), a statement is 
made to the effect that the amortization rates applied are based on the estimated useful lives of 
the intangible assets.

Assets/Amounts
A.1    Goodwill
A.1.1 attributable to the Group
A.1.2 attributable to non-controlling interests
A.2    Other intangible assets
A.2.1 Assets measured at cost:
          a)  intangible assets generated internally
          b)  other
A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value:
          a)  intangible assets generated internally
          b)  other

Total

2,747

2,747

2,053

2,053

12.31.201412.31.2015

Finite life Indefinite 
life

(in € thousands)

Finite life Indefinite 
life
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13.2 2 Intangible assets: annual changes

A. Beginning balance
A.1 Total net impairment loss
A.2 Net beginning balance
B. Increases
B.1 Purchases
B.2 Increase in internally generated 
intangible assets
B.3 Writebacks
B.4 Positive fair value changes 
allocated to
      -  equity
      -  income statement
B.5 Exchange gains
B.6 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Disposals
C.2 Adjustments for
       - amortization
       - impairment losses allocated to
         + equity
         + income statement
C.3 Negative fair value changes 
allocated to
       - equity
       - income statement
C.4 Transfers to non-current assets 
held for sale
C.5 Exchange losses
C.6 Other changes
D. Net ending balance 
D.1 Net impairment loss
E. Gross ending balance
F. Carried at cost

2,053
 

2,053
 

1,716
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1,022)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2,747
 

2,747
2,747

2,053
 

2,053
 

1,716
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1,022)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2,747
 

2,747
2,747

Def DefIndef Indef

Other intangible 
assets: generated 

internally

Other intangible 
assets: other Total

Go
od

w
ill

Key:
DEF = finite
INDEF = indefinite

X

X
 

X
X
 
 
 
 
 
X
 
X

 X
X

(in € thousands)
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Intangible assets are recorded at cost; the carrying amount is net of amortization which is calcu-
lated on the basis of the residual estimated future benefit.

Section 14 - Tax assets and liabilities – Item 140 of assets and Item 80 of liabilities

Current tax assets amount to €25,113 thousand and mainly include advance payments for IRES 
and IRAP taxes paid by Banca Farmafactoring. 
Current tax liabilities in 2015 amount to €23,805 thousand compared to €30,885 thousand in 2014. 
The latter amount, for the prior year, was affected by the change in method used to estimate the 
provision for interest on late payments adopted by the Group. This led to the recognition, in 2014, 
of the effects of such change, both on the receivables recorded during the year and those recorded 
in past years, resulting in the recognition of very significant non-recurring income in the income 
statement.
Such income gave rise, in 2014, to higher current taxes of about €6 million and higher deferred 
taxes of about €31 million.

14.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown
€2,940 thousand

Deferred tax assets are mainly composed of the portion of amounts deductible in future years re-
lating to impairment charges on receivables, the accrual on deferred employee benefit obligations, 
in addition to the depreciation referring to future years.

14.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown 
€46,778 thousand

Deferred tax liabilities mainly refer to interest on late payments recognized in the financial state-
ments on the accrual basis but which form part of the taxable income of future years when the 
interest is collected, in accordance with Art. 109, chapter 7 of D.P.R. 917 of 1986, as well as the 
provision account for the impairment of receivables and loans referring to previous years.
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14.3 Deferred tax assets: annual changes (through the income statement)
€2,569 thousand

1. Beginning balance
2. Increases
2.1 Deferred tax assets recognized during the year
      a) relating to prior years
      b) due to changes in accounting policies
      c) impairment reversals
      d) other
2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognized during the year
      a) reversals
      b) writedowns of non-recoverable items
      c) due to changes in accounting policies
      d) other
3.2 Tax rate reductions
3.3 Other decreases
      a) conversion into tax credit under 
      Law 214/2011
      b) other
4. Ending balance

2,193
 
 
 
 
 

556
 
 
 
 

(180)
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2,569

2,204
 
 
 
 
 

837
 
 
 
 

(847)
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2,193

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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14.3.1 Deferred tax assets under Law 214/2011: annual changes (through the income statement)

14.4 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (through the income statement)
€46,504 thousand

1. Beginning balance
2. Increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Reversals
3.2 Conversion into tax credit 
      a) due to reported losses 
      b) due to tax losses 
3.3 Other decreases
4. Ending balance 

 470
 77

 
 
 
 
 
 

 547

 509
 0
 

(39)
 
 
 
 

 470

12.31.201412.31.2015

1. Beginning balance
2. Increases
    2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognized during the year
         a) relating to prior years
         b) due to changes in accounting policies
         c) other
    2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
    2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
    3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognized during the year
         a) reversals
         b) due to changes in accounting policies
         c) other
    3.2 Tax rate reductions
    3.3 Other decreases
4. Ending balance

 42,017
 
 
 
 

 5,200
 
 
 
 

(714)
 
 
 
 

 46,504

 10,987
 
 
 
 

 31,039
 
 
 
 

(8)
 
 
 
 

 42,017

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)
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14.5 Deferred tax assets: annual changes (through equity)
€371 thousand

1. Beginning balance
2. Increases
    2.1 Deferred tax assets recognized during the year
         a) relating to prior years
         b) due to changes in accounting policies
         c) other
    2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
    2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
    3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognized during the year
         a) reversals
         b) writedowns of non-recoverable items
         c) due to changes in accounting policies
         d) other
    3.2 Tax rate reductions
    3.3 Other decreases
4. Ending balance

 353
 
 
 

31
 
 
 

(13)
 
 
 

 

 

371

12.31.201412.31.2015
  0

 
 
 
 

 352
 
 
 
 

 0
 
 
 
 
 

352

(in € thousands)
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14.6 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (through equity)
€275 thousand

1. Beginning balance
2. Increases
    2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognized during the year
         a) relating to prior years
         b) due to changes in accounting policies
         c) other
    2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
    2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
    3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognized during the year
         a) reversals
         b) due to changes in accounting policies
         c) other
    3.2 Tax rate reductions
    3.3 Other decreases
4. Ending balance

232

118 

(196)

154

  154
 
 
 
 

 238
 
 
 
 

(118)
 
 
 
 

 275

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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Section 16 - Other assets – Item 160
€3,106 thousand

16.1 Other assets: breakdown

Other receivables mainly refer to non-trade receivables from sundry debtors and items to be 
cleared.
With regard to 2014, prepaid expenses were reclassified to the appropriate accounts for a total of 
€5,201 thousand.

Details
Security deposits
Other receivables
Accrued income and prepaid expenses

Total

20
2,027
1,059
3,106

26
1,102

977
2,106

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Section 1 – Due to banks – Item 10
€688,081 thousand

1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type

“Due to Central Banks”, amounting to €206 million, refers to deposits with the Central Bank for 
Banca Farmafactoring’s participation in the auction, as part of the ECB monetary policy opera-
tions. The operation is guaranteed by government securities pledged and deposited in the ECB’s 
Pool account.

“Due to banks” refers to loans granted by the banking system at current market rates for €482.1 
million.

With regard to 2014, accrued income and prepaid expenses were reclassified to the appropriate 
accounts which, for “Due to banks”, produced an impact of €2,244 thousand.

Types of transactions/Group components
1. Due to Central Banks 
2. Due to banks
2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits
2.2 Time deposits
2.3 Loans
      2.3.1 Repos 
      2.3.2 Other 
2.4 Liabilities in respect of commitments to 
repurchase treasury shares
2.5 Other liabilities

Total
Fair value - Level 1
Fair value - Level 2
Fair value - Level 3

Total fair value

206,000
 
 

482,076
 
 
5
 

688,081

688,081
688,081

420,000
 
5

548,256
 
 
3

 
 

968,264
 
 

968,264
968,264

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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“Due to customers” includes the exposure for the online deposit accounts, offered in Italy and 
Spain, for a total of €416.7 million, between times deposits and demand deposits.

The repos of approximately €920.5 million are with Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia and were 
put into place to refinance the securities portfolio of the Bank.

“Other loans” relate to liabilities with financial entities and refer to:
-	the position of €155.6 million arising from the existing collaboration with International Factor 
Italia S.p.A. - IFITALIA;
-	the position of €111.4 million arising from the existing collaboration with Unicredit Factoring 
S.p.A..

“Other liabilities” principally refer to collections of receivables under management due to assignors.

With regard to 2014, accrued income and prepaid expenses were reclassified to the appropriate 
accounts which, for “Due to customers”, produced an impact of €205 thousand. 

Section 2 – Due to customers – Item 20
€1,726,683 thousand

2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type

Types of transactions/Group components
1. Current accounts and demand deposits
2. Time deposits
3. Loans
      3.1 Repos
      3.2 Other loans
4. Liabilities in respect of commitments
to repurchase treasury shares
5. Other liabilities

Total
Fair value - Level 1
Fair value - Level 2
Fair value - Level 3

Total fair value

21,298
395,354

 
920,471
267,014

0
122,547

1,726,683

1,726,683
1,726,683

10,567
215,691

 
595,034
231,946

0
115,349

1,168,587
 
 

1,168,587
1,168,587

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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In June 2014 Banca Farmafactoring successfully concluded its first Senior Unsecured bond issue.
The bonds, listed on the Dublin Stock Exchange, were privately placed with institutional investors 
for a total face value of €300 million. This is a three-year bond issue with a maturity date of June 
12, 2017, unsecured and not rated.
The bonds are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. At December 31, 
2015, the value, including prepaid expenses relating to the contractual commissions, is about €303 
million.

Other bonds, for a total of €150 million, refer to the securitization transaction on healthcare re-
ceivables still open at year end that was structured in October 2012 with Deutsche Bank.
The receivables were sold to special purpose vehicles and not derecognized from the assets of 
Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A. since the sale did not involve the transfer of the risks and rewards.

With regard to 2014, accrued income and prepaid expenses were reclassified to the appropriate 
accounts which, for “Securities issued”, produced an impact of €1,224 thousand. 

Section 3 - Securities issued – Item 30
€452,962 thousand

3.1 Securities issued: breakdown by type

A. Securities
    1. Bonds
        1.1 structured
        1.2 other
    2. Other securities
        2.1 structured
        2.2 other

Total

452,962
 
 
 

452,962

468,562
 
 
 

468,562

150,000
 
 
 

150,000

166,650
 
 
 

166,650

Fair value Fair value
Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amountLevel 1 Level 1Level 2 Level 2Level 3 Level 3

 302,277
 
 
 

302,277

299,175

299,175

(in € thousands)

Types of securities/
Amounts 
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Section 4 -  Financial liabilities held for trading – Item 40
€0

4.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type

At December 31, 2014 the liabilities connected to the fair value of financial derivatives held for trad-
ing amounted to €46 thousand, and the notional amount of reference was €30 million.
Such amounts referred to financial derivatives issued by banks.
At December 31, 2015 there are no financial liabilities held for trading.

Types of transactions/Group 
components
A. Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Debt securities
      3.1 Bonds
           3.1.1 Structured
           3.1.2 Other 
      3.2  Other securities
           3.2.1 Structured 
           3.2.2 Other

Total A
B. Derivatives
1. Financial derivatives
     1.1 Trading
     1.2 Related to fair value option
     1.3 Other
2. Credit derivatives
     2.1 Trading
     2.2 Related to fair value option
     2.3 Other

Total B
Total (A+ B)

30,000
 
 
 
 
 
 

30,000
30,000

46
 
 
 
 
 
 

46
46

46
 
 
 
 
 
 

46
46

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

NA NAFV* FV*
FV FV

L1 L1L2 L2L3 L3

Key:
FV = fair value
FV* = fair value calculated excluding value adjustments due to the change in the credit rating of the issuer since the date 
of issue. 
NA = nominal or notional value
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3

(in € thousands)
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A. Financial derivatives
    1) Fair value
    2) Cash flows
    3) Net investment in    	
	 foreign subsidiaries
B. Credit derivatives
    1) Fair value
    2) Cash flows

Total

55,000
 
 

 
 

55,000

47
 
 
 

 
47

Fair value 12.31.2015 Fair value 12.31.2014NA
12.31.2015

NA
12.31.2014

L1 L1L2 L2L3 L3

Section 6 – Hedging derivatives – Item 60
€0

6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by hierarchy levels

At December 31, 2014 the cash flows connected to financial hedging derivatives amounted to €47 
thousand, and the nominal amount of reference was €55 million.
At December 31, 2015 there are no hedging derivatives.

Section 8 – Tax liabilities – Item 80

See Section 14 of Assets – Tax assets and liabilities. 

Key:
NA = nominal amount
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3

(in € thousands)
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Section 10 – Other liabilities  – Item 100
€45,885 thousand

10.1 Other liabilities: breakdown

“Payables to suppliers” and “Invoices to be received” refer to purchases of goods and the perfor-
mance of services. 

“Collections pending allocation” refer to payments received by December 31, 2015 but still out-
standing since they were not cleared and recorded by that date.

“Payables to the tax authorities” relate largely to withholding taxes on the online deposit accounts 
and on employee earnings from employment, not yet paid.

“Other payables” mostly include portions of collections to be transferred, stamp taxes to be paid, 
payables to directors and other items to be cleared.

With regard to 2014, accrued income and prepaid expenses were reclassified to the appropriate 
accounts which, for “Other liabilities”, produced an impact of €1,187 thousand.

Details
Payables to suppliers
Invoices to be received
Payables to the tax authorities
Payables to social security agencies
Payables to employees
Payables for receivables management 
Collections pending allocation
Other payables
Accrued liabilities and deferred income

Total

1,553
7,378
2,831

517
3,374

0
26,618

3,133
481

45,885

2,039
5,959

643
422

3,021
3

11,263
7,992
1,034

32,377

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

(in € thousands)
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Section 11 – Employee severance indemnities  – Item 110
€883 thousand

11.1 Employee severance indemnities: annual changes

A. Beginning balance
B. Increases
    B.1 Provision for the year
    B.2 Other increases
C. Decreases
    C.1 Payments made
    C.2 Other decreases
D. Ending balance

Total

717
 

322
 
 

(13)
(143)

883
883

705
 

274
 
 
 

(262)
717
717

12.31.201412.31.2015

11.2 Other information

The liability recognized in the financial statements at December 31, 2015 represents the present 
value of the obligation estimated by an independent actuarial firm.
“Other decreases” include actuarial differences recognized directly in equity.
IAS 19, in fact, no longer allows the deferral of actuarial gains and losses under the corridor 
method, requiring their immediate recognition in comprehensive income for the year.
The results of the actuarial measurement reflect the impact of Law 296/2006 and the calculation, 
for purposes of IAS 19, refers solely to employee severance indemnity accrued and not transferred 
to supplementary pension funds or to the INPS Treasury Fund.
For details on the actuarial assumptions used in determining the liability at December 31, 2015, 
reference should be made to the following point 12.3.

Section 12 – Provisions for risks and charges – Item 120
€5,195 thousand

12.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown

Items/Components
1.  Pension funds and similar obligations
2.  Other provisions
    2.1 Legal disputes
    2.2 Personnel expenses
    2.3 Other

Total

4,830
 
 
 

365
5,195

3,952
 
 
 

363
4,316

12.31.201412.31.2015

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)
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12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual changes

12.3 Defined benefit pension funds 

The provision refers to:
•	for €335 thousand, the non-competition agreement signed by the executives of the Group com-
panies;
•	for €605 thousand, the deferral of part of the bonus referring to the year, for the first and second 
level staff and other management staff.

Under the non-competition agreement the employee is required not to carry out, after ceasing the 
employment relationship, for any reason whatsoever, any activities in direct competition with that 
of Banca Farmafactoring. The commitment is for a three-year period and starts from the date that 
the employment relationship is terminated.
As consideration for this commitment, the Bank will pay a specific amount to the employee in 
semi-annual instalments.
 
With its transformation into a Bank, a decision was taken to reassess the systems of variable 
compensation in the short and medium term so as to fully comply with Bank of Italy provisions in 
this respect.

The features of the new system carry medium term restrictions, according to which 30% of the 
bonus for each year, starting from 2013, will be paid after three years, upon the Bank achieving 
certain specific targets relating to its profit, the regulatory capital requirements established by 
existing regulations, and the employee’s continuing employment with the company.

Items/Components
A. Beginning balance
B. Increases
    B.1 Provision for the year
    B.2 Change due to passing of time
    B.3 Variation due to change in the 
    discount rate
    B.4 Other changes 
C. Decreases
    C.1 Use during the year
    C.2 Variation due to change in the 
    discount rate
    C.3 Other changes
D. Ending balance

3,952
 

940
 
 
 
 

(63)

 
 

4,830

363
 
2
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

365

Total
Other provisionsPension funds

(in € thousands)
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Such provisions were quantified, in accordance with IAS 19, on the basis of an actuarial calculation 
carried out by an outside specialized firm. 
The obligations of the Bank were computed using the “Projected Unit Credit Method” which sees 
each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each 
unit separately to build up the final obligation, as established by paragraphs 64 and 65 of IAS 19.
This is an actuarial method which arrives at a valuation aimed at determining the average present 
value of the Bank’s obligation.

The technical demographic bases used are reported below.

•	Non-competition Agreement

The annual discount rate used to determine the present value of the obligation was deduced, 
consistently with paragraph 83 of IAS 19, from the Iboxx Corporate AA Index with a 10+ duration, 
reported at December 31, 2015 and equal to 2.03%. To this end a decision was made to choose the 
yield with a duration comparable to the “duration” of those in the valuation. 

RG48 mortality tables published by the State 
General Accounting Office

100% at reaching AGO (Ass. Gen. Oblig.) requisites

3.00%

3.00%

3.00%

0.00%

3.40%

2.40%

27.40%

Death

Retirement

Frequency of voluntary resignation

Claw back frequency

Frequency of withdrawal (where provided)

Frequency of revocation of mandate to 
Chief Executive Office

Increase in annual compensation of executives

Increase in annual compensation of supervisors

Contribution rate
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•	Deferred bonus:

Discount rate

The financial basis used to calculate the present value of the obligations was determined, consis-
tently with paragraph 83 of IAS 19, by reference to the IBoxx Eurozone Corporate AA Index (in line 
with the duration of the plan in question of 1-3 years). The discount rate was established at 0.24%. 

Mortality and disability

To estimate the phenomenon of mortality, the RG48 survival table used by the State General Ac-
counting Office to estimate the retirement expenses of the Italian population was utilized. For the 
probability of total and permanent disability, the tables adopted in the INPS model for the 2010 
forecasts were utilized.

Frequency of resignations and dismissals                        
                    
Equal to 3%.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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Items/Types
A.  Shares at beginning of the year
    - fully paid
    - not fully paid
A.1 Treasury shares (-)
A.2 Shares outstanding: beginning balance
B.  Increases
B.1 New issues
    - against payment
         - business combinations
         - bond conversions
         - exercise of warrants
         - other
    - free
         - to employees
         - to directors
         - other
B.2 Sales of treasury shares
B.3 Other changes
C.  Decreases
C.1 Cancellation
C.2 Purchase of treasury shares
C.3 Transactions for sale of companies
C.4 Other changes
D.  Shares outstanding: ending balance
D.1 Treasury shares (+)
D.2 Shares outstanding at end of year
        - fully paid
        - not fully paid

 
1,700,000

 
1,700,000

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1,700,000
 
 

1,700,000

OtherOrdinary

Section 15 – Equity – Items 140, 160, 170, 180, 190, 200 and 220
€331,283 thousand 

15.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
€130,900 thousand

At December 31, 2015 share capital consists of 1,700,000 ordinary shares of nominal value €77.00 
each, for a total of €130,900 thousand.

15.2 Share capital – Number of shares of the parent: annual changes
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Share capital
Reserves
    - Legal reserve
    - Extraordinary reserve
    - Retained earnings
Valuation reserves
    - Available-for-sale securities
    - Other
Total share capital and reserves

130,900
127,409

26,390
89

100,930
4,184

481
3,703

262,493

89
100,930

 
481

3,703
105,203

B
A,B,C
A,B,C

A,B,C
A,B,C

(*) 20,400 
 
 
 

20,400 

(a) Possibility of utilization: A = for share capital increases B = for absorption of losses C = for distribution to shareholders.

(*) In the previous three years, “Retained earnings” was used to increase share capital, which rose from €110,500 thousand in 
2011 to €130,900 thousand in 2014.

Summary of utilization 
in the last three years

12.31.2015 Possibility 
of utilization 

(a)

Amount 
available

For 
absorption 
of losses

For other 
reasons

15.4 Income reserves: other information

In accordance with art. 2427, paragraph 7-bis of the Italian Civil Code, a summary is presented 
below of the individual items of equity according to the possibility of utilization, the amount avail-
able for distribution and their utilization in the three years previous to the date of the preparation 
of these financial statements.

(in € thousands)
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Legal reserve
The increase in the legal reserve of €4,901 thousand is due to the appropriation of the profit for the 
year ended December 31, 2014 approved by the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of Banca Farma-
factoring and Farmafactoring España held on March 25, 2015 and February 13, 2015, respectively.

Retained earnings
The increase in retained earnings of €71,025 thousand is due to the appropriation of the profit 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 approved by the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of Banca 
Farmafactoring and Farmafactoring España held on March 25, 2015 and February 13, 2015, re-
spectively.

Valuation reserves
“Valuation reserves” amount to €4,184 thousand at December 31, 2015.
The increase of €149 thousand compared to December 31, 2014 is mainly due to the increase in 
the reserve for available-for-sale financial assets.

A. Beginning balance
B. Increases
B.1 Appropriation of profit
B.2 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Use for the year
       - absorption of losses
       - distribution
       - transfer to share capital
C.2 Other changes
D. Ending balance

21,489
 

4,901
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26,390

29,905
 

71,025
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100,930

89
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

89

51,483
 

75,926
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

127,409

TotalOther reserves: 
Extraordinary

Legal reserve Retained 
earnings

Changes in reserves are as follows:

(in € thousands)
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Other information

1. Guarantees given and commitments

Transactions
1) Financial guarantees given to
    a) Banks 
    b) Customers  
2) Commercial guarantees given to 
    a) Banks 
    b) Customers 
3) Irrevocable commitments to disburse funds 
    a) Banks 
            i) usage certain 
            ii) usage uncertain 
    b) Customers 
            i) usage certain 
            ii) usage uncertain 
4) Underlying commitments for credit derivatives:
sale of protection
5) Assets used to guarantee obligations of third par-
ties
6) Other commitments

 Total 

117,461

117,461

117,461

22
22

11,280

11,280

11,302

Amount 12.31.2014Amount 12.31.2015

Commitments for usage uncertain of €117,461 refer to commitments with customers to purchase 
receivables that have already been identified.

(in € thousands)
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“Available-for-sale financial assets” and “Held-to-maturity financial assets” consist of govern-
ment securities used as collateral in operations with the ECB and in repos.
“Due from customers” refers, for €233,484 thousand, to receivables sold and not derecognized as 
part of the securitization transaction outstanding and, for a total of €418,031 thousand, receivables 
used as collateral for the loan transactions with Ifitalia and Unicredit Factoring. 

Portfolios
1. Financial assets held for trading 
2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
3. Available-for-sale financial assets 
4. Held-to-maturity financial assets 
5. Due from banks 
6. Due from customers 
7. Property, plant and equipment 

326,029
822,350

651,515

289,717
744,262

495,260

Amount 12.31.2014Amount 12.31.2015

2. Assets used to guarantee own liabilities and commitments

(in € thousands)
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5. Asset management and trading on behalf of others

Type of services
1. Management and trading on behalf of customers
     a) purchases
          1. settled
          2. unsettled
     b) sales
          1. settled
          2. unsettled
2. Portfolio management
     a) individual
     b) collective
3. Custody and administration of securities
     a) third party securities on deposit: relating to custodian bank activities 	
	  (excluding portfolio management)
           1. securities issued by companies included in consolidation
           2. other securities
     b) third party securities on deposit (excluding portfolio management): other
           1. securities issued by companies included in consolidation
           2. other securities
     c) third party securities deposited with third parties
     d) owned securities deposited with third parties
4. Other

1,218,500
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1,218,500

Amount

The amount refers to the nominal amount of owned securities classified in the available-for-sale 
and held-to-maturity portfolios.

(in € thousands)
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Part C – Consolidated Income Statement

Section 1 – Interest – Items 10 and 20

1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown 
€161,946 thousand

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information

The interest income on “Available-for-sale financial assets” amounting to €1,322 thousand and on 
“held-to-maturity financial assets” totaling €4,526 thousand refers to the government securities 
purchased by Banca Farmafactoring to protect against liquidity risk and to optimize the cost of 
money.
The criterion for recognition of such interest reflects the amortized cost method, as a result of 
which the income connected with such assets is recognized in relation to the yields deriving from 
the expected cash flows.

Interest income “Due from banks - Loans” refers to the temporary cash on hand in the Group’s 
current accounts with the banking system.

Interest income on “Due from customers - Loans” totals €155,952 thousand and consists largely 
of the maturity commissions charged to assignors for the purchase of non-recourse receivables 
and interest on late payments referring to the current year, relating to the Banking Group.

In the prior year “Interest and similar income” was influenced by the recognition of higher inter-
est on late payments of €113,396 thousand arising from the change in the method of estimating 

1,322

4,526

5,848

144
155,952

 
 

156,096
2
2

1,322

4,526
144

155,952
 
2

161,946

941

3,118
986

247,504
 
 

252,550

Items/Type
1. Financial assets held
for trading
2. Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
3. Available-for-sale financial 
assets
4. Held-to-maturity financial 
assets
5. Due from banks
6. Due from customers 
7. Hedging derivatives
8. Other assets

Total

Debt 
securities

Loans Other
transactions

Total
12.31.2015

Total
12.31.2014

(in € thousands)



122

02

such interest. In order to render the current year’s figures comparable with those of the prior year, 
the figures for 2014 are also presented “pro-forma”, as shown in the Report on Operations, that 
is, they are presented as if the change in method used to estimate the interest on late payments, 
which took place in 2014, had been applied since 2011. The comparison shows that the interest 
income in 2015 would be approximately €10 million higher than the “pro-forma” interest income 
for 2014.

As regards the calculation of amortized cost, including interest on late payments recognized on 
the accrual basis, the Bank integrated the time series of data utilized in the prior year, regarding 
the percentages and collection times of interest on late payments, with the collections recorded in 
2015. The outcome of this integration has confirmed, on the basis of the times series analysis, the 
recoverability rate of 40% for interest on late payments and 1800 days for collection times.
These recovery percentages have not been applied to the interest on late payments of non-per-
forming positions, which have been entirely written off.

With regard to the receivables purchased by Farmafactoring España, the average percentage of 
recovery of interest on late payments observed tends to be equal to 100% and is collected in less 
time on average than receivables from the Italian Health Service. Nevertheless, since the sample 
size observed is limited, it was prudently decided to consider positively the utilization of the same 
recovery rate of 40% and the same collection time of 1800 days as used by Banca Farmafactoring. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown 
€28,898 thousand

Interest expenses referring to amounts “Due to banks – Payables” relate to loans received from 
the banking system.

Interest expenses referring to amounts “Due to customers – Payables” mainly refer, for a total of 
€8,043 thousand, to interest expenses on the Bank’s online deposit accounts: in particular, €7,962 
thousand for Conto Facto, proposed in Italy, and €81 thousand for Cuenta Facto, launched in August 
2015 by Banca Farmafactoring’s branch in Spain.
The item also includes interest expenses of €1,075 thousand relating to loans received from other 
factoring companies.
Interest expenses referring to “Due to customers – Other transactions” include the expenses on 
securitization transactions.

Interest expenses on “Securities issued” refer to expenses on Banca Farmafactoring’s three-year 
bonds of €300 million issued in June 2014.

Total interest expenses decreased by approximately €15.3 million compared to 2014. This de-
crease principally comes from the reduction in the cost of money, the renegotiation of certain lines 
of financing and the diversification of sources of funding.

114
7,574
8,570

 

 
 
 

16,259

9,300
 
 

 
 

9,300

3,279
 

60
 

 
 

3,339

114
7,574

11,850
9,300

60
 
 

 
28,898

223
24,398
14,012

5,110
461

 

35
 

44,240

Items/Type
1. Due to Central Banks
2. Due to banks
3. Due to customers
4. Securities issued
5. Financial liabilities held
for trading
6. Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss
7. Other liabilities provisions
8. Hedging derivatives

Total

Payables Securities
issued

Other
transactions

Total
12.31.2015

Total
12.31.2014

(in € thousands)
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Section 2 – Fees and commissions – Items 40 and 50

2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
€8,389 thousand

8,321
 
 
 
 
 

68
8,389

9,301
 
 
 
 
 

143
9,444

Types of services/Amounts
a) guarantees given
b) credit derivatives 
c) management, brokerage and consulting services:
      1. securities trading
      2. currency trading
      3. portfolio management
          3.1. individual
          3.2. collective
      4. custody and administration of securities
      5. custodian bank
      6. placement of securities
      7. receipt and transmission of orders
      8. advisory services
         8.1 related to investments
         8.2 related to financial structure
      9. distribution of third-party services
         9.1. portfolio management
                9.1.1. individual
                9.1.2. collective
         9.2. insurance products
         9.3. other products
d) collection and payment services
e) securitization servicing
f) factoring
g) tax collection services
h) management of multilateral trading facilities
i) management of current accounts
j) other services 

Total

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

The balance mainly refers to commissions on the mandates for the management and collection of 
receivables.

(in € thousands)
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2.2 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
€446 thousand

446
446

1

1,204
1,205

Services/Amounts
a) guarantees received
b) credit derivatives 
c) management and brokerage services:
       1. financial instruments trading
       2. currency trading
       3. portfolio management:
           3.1 own portfolio
           3.2 third-party portfolio
       4. custody and administration of securities
       5. placement of financial instruments
       6. off-site distribution of financial instruments, 
	    products and services 
d) collection and payment services
e) other services 

Total

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

The balance primarily refers to expenses on existing banking relationships.

(in € thousands)
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Section 4 – Gains/losses on trading – Item 80

4.1 Gains/losses on trading: breakdown by type
€46 thousand

46
46
46

 

 
 
 

46

46
46
46

 
 

 
 

46

Items/Income components
1. Financial assets held
for trading
1.1 Debt securities
1.2 Equity instruments
1.3 Units in investment funds
1.4 Loans
1.5 Other assets
2. Financial liabilities held
for  trading
2.1 Debt securities
2.2 Liabilities
2.3 Other liabilities
3. Financial assets and liabilities: 
exchange differences
4. Derivatives
4.1 Financial derivatives:   
- on debt securities and interest 
rates
- on equity instruments and share 
indexes
- on currency and gold
- other
4.2 Credit derivatives

Total

Gains (A) Gains on 
trading (B)

Losses (C) Losses on 
trading (D)

Net result 
[(A+B) - 
(C+D)]

(in € thousands)



127

Fair value changes in derivatives

46

0
 
 

46
46

Section 5 – Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting – Item 90
€23 thousand

5.1 Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting: breakdown

23

23
(23)

Financial assets held for trading
Amount at December 31, 2014
Amount at December 31, 2015
Financial liabilities held for trading
Amount at December 31, 2014
Amount at December 31, 2015
Gains/losses on trading

ChangeCarrying amount

Components/Amounts
A. Gains on:
A.1 Fair value hedging instruments
A.2 Hedged financial assets (in fair value hedge relationship)
A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (in fair value hedge relationship)
A.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives
A.5 Assets and liabilities denominated in currency
Total gains on hedging activities (A)
B. Losses on:
B.1 Fair value hedging instruments
B.2 Hedged financial assets (in fair value hedge relationship)
B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (in fair value hedge relationship)
B.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives
B.5 Assets and liabilities denominated in currency
Total losses on hedging activities (B)
C. Net fair value adjustments in hedge accounting (A - B)

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

7

7
(7)

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)
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Section 6 – Gains/losses on disposals/repurchases – Item 100 
€872 thousand

6.1 Gains/losses on disposals/repurchases: breakdown

872
872

 
 

 
 

872

The amount refers to the gain on the sale of government securities classified in the available-for-
sale portfolio.

Item/Components
Financial assets
1. Due from banks
2. Due from customers 
3. Available-for-sale financia
	 assets
    3.1 Debt securities
    3.2 Equity instruments
    3.3 Units in investment funds
    3.4 Loans
4. Held-to-maturity financial
	 assets

Total assets
Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Securities issued

Total liabilities

Total 12.31.2015

Gains Losses Net 

Total 12.31.2014

872
872

 
 

 
 

872

953
953

 
 
 

 
953

953
953

 
 
 

 
953

(in € thousands)

Gains Losses Net 
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Section 8 – Impairment losses/reversals – Item 130 
€1,126 thousand

8.1 Impairment losses/reversals on receivables and loans: breakdown

Transactions/
Components
A. Due from banks
  - Loans
  - Debt securities
B. Due from customers:
  Impaired receivables
  purchased
  - Loans
  - Debt securities
  Other receivables
  - Loans
  - Debt securities
C. Total

(75)

(75)

(156)

(156)

(1,142)

(1,142)

248

248

(1,126)

(1,126)

43

43

Total
12.31.2014

Total
12.31.2015

Impairment losses
Specific Specific

W
rit

eo
ffs

Ot
he

r

A AB BPortfolio

Impairment reversals

Key:
A = from interest
B = other reversals

(in € thousands)

Portfolio
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Section 11 – Administrative expenses – Item 180 
€45,567 thousand

11.1 Personnel costs: breakdown
€18,476 thousand

11,710
3,163

322
 

157

1,093
304

1,726

18,476

9,285
2,469

274
 

98

831
75

1,797

14,828

Types of expenses/Sectors Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

(in € thousands)

1) Employees 
    a) wages and salaries
    b) social security charges
    c) employee severance indemnity charges
    d) pension charges 
    e) provision for employee severance indemnity
    f) provision for pension and similar obligations 
        - defined contribution
        - defined benefit
    g) payments to external supplementary pension funds
      - defined contribution
        - defined benefit
    h) costs relating to share-based payments
    i) other benefits to employees
2) Other employees in service
3) Directors and statutory auditors
4) Early retirement costs

Total
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11.2 Average number of employees by category

Employees

12
55

117
183

3,172
2,061
1,248

51
815
574
188
859
802

3,081
889

6,041
1,364
1,603
4,342

27,091

9
48
76

133

4,444
1,498

990
129

1,026
387

67
775
728

2,194
239

3,966
959

0
3,723

21,126

Since the Spanish banking contract is not the same as the Italian contract, the employees of 
Farmafactoring España S.A. have conventionally been divided among the three categories of ex-
ecutives, supervisors and remaining staff.

Other staff
Traineeships: 2

11.4 Other benefits to employees
The amount of €1,093 thousand refers principally to expenses incurred for training, insurance for 
employees, meal tickets and donations to employees.

11.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
€27,091 thousand

Category
Executives
Supervisors
Remaining staff

Total

Average number 2015 Average number 2014 

Details
Legal fees
Data processing costs
External receivables management services
Compensation to Supervisory Body
Legal fees for receivables under management
Notary fees
Notary fees to be recovered
Corporate hospitality and donations
Maintenance expenses
Non-deductible VAT
Other indirect taxes and duties
Consulting fees
Office operating expenses
Resolution Fund and FITD
Other expenses

Total

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

(number)

(in € thousands)
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Other administrative expenses include approximately €3.5 million in connection with the IPO pro-
cess, the change in the shareholder of reference and other non-recurring transactions.

The amount paid into the Resolution Fund for ordinary contributions, €367 thousand, and spe-
cial contributions, €1,101 thousand, and into the Fondo Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi, €134 
thousand, are shown separately and total €1,603 thousand. These amounts have been recognized 
in other administrative expenses, as indicated in the Bank of Italy note of January 19, 2016, “Con-
tributions to Resolution Funds: treatment in financial statements and in regulatory reporting”. 

Other administrative expenses also include legal fees for receivables under management of €815 
thousand and notary fees for €188 thousand incurred on behalf of the assignor companies, which 
were fully recovered and included in other operating income.

Details of costs for outsourced services included in “Other administrative expenses” in 2015 main-
ly include the following.

42
2,140
1,150

877
2

879

1,280
0

1,280

Details
Internal audit fees (external firm)
Data processing fees (external firms)
Collection fees (external firms)

Total 12.31.2015

Details
Provision for pension and similar obligations
Other provisions

Total

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)

Section 12 – Net provisions for risks and charges – Item 190 
€879 thousand

12.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
The provision charge compared to the prior year shows the following breakdown:

The provision charge to the “Provision for pension and similar obligations” refers to deferred em-
ployee benefits. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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Assets/Net adjustments/
writebacks
A. Intangible assets
     A.1 Owned assets
             - generated internally
            - other
     A.2 Leased assets acquired 
under finance leases

Total

1,115
 
 
 
 

1,115

1,115

1,115

1,023

 
1,023

Assets/Net adjustments
/writebacks
A. Property, plant and equipment
     A.1 Owned assets
            - used in the business
            - held for investment
     A.2 Leased assets acquired 
    under finance leases
            - used in the business
            - held for investment

Total

Depreciation 
(a)

Impairment 
losses 

(b)

Impairment 
reversals 

(c) 

Net result                
(a + b - c)

Amortization
(a)

Impairment 
losses 

(b)

Impairment 
reversals

(c)

Net result 
(a + b - c)

1,023

 
1,023

Section 13 – Net adjustments to/writebacks on property, plant and equipment – Item 200 

13.1 Net adjustments to/writebacks on property, plant and equipment: breakdown
€1,115 thousand

(in € thousands)

Section 14 – Net adjustments to/writebacks on intangible assets – Item 210 

14.1 Net adjustments to/writebacks on intangible assets: breakdown
€1,023 thousand

(in € thousands)
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Details
Recovery of legal fees for purchases of non-recourse receivables
Recovery of legal fees for management of receivables
Receivables realized at other than face value
Prior year items
Recovery of notary expenses from assignors
Other income

Total

(65)
(3)

(68)

1,256
746

0
903
188

1,118
4,211

(69)

(13)
(82)

1,771
1,026
3,483

339
67

427
7,113

Details
Rounding and rebates
Other expenses
Expenses for guarantee funds

Total

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

Section 15 – Other operating income/expenses – Item 220
€4,144 thousand

15.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown

(in € thousands)

(in € thousands)

15.2 Other operating income: breakdown
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22,979
 

 
(362)
4,912

27,529

31,651
 
 

(537)
30,600
61,714

20.2 Reconciliation of theoretical tax and effective tax expense

The following reconciliation of theoretical tax and effective tax expense refers only to the parent 
Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A.

83,714
23,021
(8,920)
(1,190)

(18,884)
 1,943
(651)

 56,011

14,688

87,776
4,889
1,202

 

 122
(44)

89,057

4,816

IRAPIRES

Components/Sector
1. Current income taxes
2. Adjustment to current income taxes of prior years
3. Reduction in current income taxes for the year
3. bis Reduction in current taxes for the year due to tax 
credit under Law 214/2011
4. Changes to deferred tax assets
5. Changes to deferred tax liabilities
6. Income taxes for the year

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

Details
Taxable profit used for purposes of tax calculations
Theoretical tax expense 27.5% IRES – 5.57% IRAP
Non-deductible permanent differences
Deductible IRAP quota
Temporary differences taxable in future years
Temporary differences deductible in future years
Reversal of temporary differences referring to future years
Taxable profit
Current income taxes for the year:
27.5% IRES – 5.57% IRAP

(in € thousands)

Section 20 – Income taxes on profit from continuing operations – Item 290
€27,529 thousand

20.1 Income taxes on profit from continuing operations: breakdown

(in € thousands)
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Part D - Consolidated Comprehensive Income

ANALYTICAL STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

10.

20.
30.
40.
50.
60.

70.

80.

90.

100.

110.

120.

130.
140.
150.
160.

Item

X

45,935
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(13,177)
 
 
 

(120,106)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

(87,348)
(87,348)

 
(87,348)

68,790,823
 
 

 
(121,102)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

26,669
 
 
 

243,082
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
148,649

68,939,472
0

68,939,472

X

(167,037)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

39,846
 
 
 

363,188
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

235,997
235,997

 
235,997

After 
tax effect

Tax 
effect

Before 
tax effect

(in euros)

Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Defined benefit plans
Non-currents assets classified as held for sale
Portion of valuation reserves from investments 
accounted for using the equity method 
Other comprehensive income that will be 
reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries:
a) fair value changes
b) reclassification to income statement
c) other changes
Exchange differences:
a) changes in value
b) reclassification to income statement
c) other changes
Cash flow hedges:
a) fair value changes
b) reclassification to income statement
c) other changes
Available-for-sale financial assets:
a) fair value changes
b) reclassification to income statement
          - impairment losses
          - gains/losses on disposal
c) other changes
Non-currents assets classified as held for sale:
a) fair value changes
b) reclassification to income statement
c) other changes
Portion of valuation reserves from investments 
accounted for using the equity method:
a) fair value changes
b) reclassification to income statement
          - impairment losses
          - gains/losses on disposal
c) other changes
Total Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (Items 10+130)
Attributable to non-controlling interests
Attributable to owners of the parent

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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Part E – Information on Risks and related Risk Management Policies 

Introduction

The Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group has adopted a system of rules, practices and processes 
of corporate governance and adequate mechanisms for the management and control of its opera-
tions in order to mitigate the risks to which it is exposed. 
This governance is part of the organization and system of internal controls and is aimed at ensur-
ing a management grounded in the canons of efficiency, effectiveness and correctness, covering 
every type of risk consistently with the characteristics, dimensions and complexity of the business 
activities carried out by the Group.
With this in mind, the Group has thus formalized its risk management policies, periodically reviews 
the policies to ensure their effectiveness over time, and monitors, continually, the proper function-
ing of the processes for the management and control of risks.

These policies define:
•	the governance of the risks and the responsibilities of the Organizational Units involved in the 
management process;
•	the identification of the risks to which the Bank is exposed, the measuring and stress testing 
methods and the information flows that summarize the monitoring activities;
•	the annual assessment process on the adequacy of internal capital;
•	the activities for the assessment of the prospective adequacy of capital associated with the stra-
tegic planning process.

The corporate bodies of the Bank, as the parent of the Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A. Banking 
Group, define the governance and risk management model at the Group level, taking into account 
the specific type of business and the related profiles of risk characterizing the entire Group, for the 
purpose of creating an integrated and consistent risk management policy. Within this environ, the 
corporate bodies of the Group parent carry out functions entrusted to them with reference not only 
as it applies to its circumstances but also its evaluation of the overall operations of the Group and 
the risks to which it is exposed and involving, as needed, the corporate bodies of the subsidiary in 
the decisions taken as to the procedures and policies of risk management.

At the Group level, the Risk Management Function cooperates in the process to draw up and im-
plement risk governance policies through an adequate managing process of the risks themselves. 
The person in charge is not involved in the operating activities which he/she is asked to control, 
and his/her duties, and the relative responsibilities are governed by a specific internal Regulation.

The Risk Management Function has, among other, responsibility for:
•	cooperating with the corporate bodies in defining the whole system for the management of risks 
and the overall framework of reference inherent to the assumption of risks, that is, the Risk Ap-
petite Framework;
•	ensuring adequate risk management processes through the introduction and maintenance of 
suitable systems for the management of risks in order to identify, measure, control or attenuate 
all the relevant risks;
•	ensuring the assessment of the capital absorbed and the relative adequacy, by defining the pro-
cesses and procedures to meet every type of present and future risk, which take into account the 
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strategies and changes of the context;
•	overseeing the functioning of the process for the management of risk and ascertaining that it is 
being followed;
•	monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the actions taken to resolve the weaknesses found 
in the risk management system;
• submitting periodical reports to the corporate bodies on the activities carried out and conferring 
with them on matters of risk management.

SECTION 1 – RISKS OF THE BANKING GROUP

1.1 - Credit risk

Qualitative information

1. General aspects

Factoring activities, disciplined by the Italian Civil Code (Book IV, Title 1 – Heading V, Articles 
1260–1267) and by Law 52 of February 21, 1991 and subsequent laws, consist of a plurality of fi-
nancial services articulated in various ways through the sale of with recourse and non-recourse 
trade receivables.
A particular characteristic of factoring arrangements is the involvement of three different parties:
•	Factor (assignee)
•	Client (assignor)
•	Debtor (of the account).

2. Credit risk management policies

2.1 Organization
In view of the above considerations, the assessment of a factoring arrangement must be con-
ducted through the analysis of a multiplicity of factors: from the degree of fragmentation of risk to 
the characteristics of the trade transaction underlying the credit quality, from the reimbursement 
capability of the customer assignor to the solvency of the account debtors.
The monitoring and management of credit risk starts with a preliminary background check for 
credit lines, before a factoring service is offered. The various corporate functions work together 
and coordinate with meticulous synergy to provide an analytical and subjective assessment of the 
counterparties, both from a quantitative standpoint (current economic and financial situation, in 
the past and prospectively) and from a qualitative point of view (level of management, competitive-
ness, prospects of the product and potential receivables volumes to be managed). 
The guidelines and the procedures for monitoring and controlling credit risk are contained in the 
“Credit Regulation” in force, approved by the board of directors on February 23, 2004, and subse-
quent updates. A further organizational control to meet credit risk is represented by the internal 
regulation for the monitoring of creditworthiness, which describes the credit control process on 
the debtor and is an integral part of the of the “Credit Regulation”.
The credit risk is thus adequately controlled at various levels, within the various operational pro-
cesses.
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2.2 Management, measurement and control systems

The assessment of credit risk is part of an overall analysis of the capital adequacy of the Bank in 
relation to the risks connected with lending.
With this in mind, the Bank uses the “Standardized” approach for the measurement of credit risk, 
as indicated in Bank of Italy Circular 285 “Supervisory provisions for banks” and Circular 286 “In-
structions for the preparation of regulatory reporting for banks and investment companies”, both of 
December 17, 2013, and subsequent updates. This approach involves the division of the exposures 
into various portfolios according to the nature of the counterparty and the application of diversified 
weighted ratios to each portfolio.
In particular, for the “Central administrations and central banks” portfolio, the weighting depends 
on the rating assigned by the specialized credit assessment agencies, ECAIs, or ECAs, to the indi-
vidual States; for the “Supervised intermediaries” portfolio, the weighting depends on the rating of 
the State in which the supervised intermediary has its headquarters; for the “Public Sector Enti-
ties” portfolio, the rules for weighting are the same as those for supervised intermediaries.

Starting from the reporting at June 30, 2013 Banca Farmafactoring has adopted Dominion Bond 
Rating Service (DBRS) as the ECAI ratings agency.

The unsolicited rating assigned to the Republic of Italy by DBRS is “A low” and therefore the re-
ceivables exposures from the Public Administration fall in the Credit Quality Class of 2, with a risk 
weight equal to 50%.
The exposures of the Bank are almost completely composed of receivables due from counterpar-
ties belonging to the Public Administration.

The Banking Group constantly maintains, as a capital requirement covering credit risk, an amount 
of regulatory capital equal to at least 8% of the weighted exposure to credit risk.

Capital requirement = 8% RWA

The Risk-Weighted Amount is determined by the sum of the risk-weighted assets of the various 
classes.

On the basis of the above methodology, the consolidated capital requirement for credit risk at De-
cember 31, 2015 is equal to €60,809 thousand.

Moreover, as previously mentioned, the Bank has a “Credit Regulation” which describes the stages of 
the process which the regulations of the sector have identified as components of the credit process:
•	background check;
•	decision;
•	disbursement;
•	monitoring and review;
•	dispute.
In order to identify the main risk factors, the principal activities carried out by the Bank are de-
scribed as follows:
•	receivables management only;
•	non-recourse factoring;
•	with recourse factoring.
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Under the “receivables management only” service, the credit risk is considerably reduced because 
it is limited to the Bank’s exposure to the customer for the payment of the agreed fees and com-
missions, or the reimbursement of legal fees incurred. The granting of a credit line for “receivables 
management only” follows the normal procedures used in the credit process even if the credit line 
can be decided by a body that is not a collegiate body.
“Non-recourse factoring” by its very nature represents the service that is most exposed to credit 
risk. For this reason, the background check for the credit line is conducted with the utmost atten-
tion and the decision-making power is reserved for the bodies that can provide approval.

Credit risk management, therefore, besides following internal corporate regulations must also 
abide by external regulations (Bank of Italy Circulars 285 “Supervisory provisions for banks” and 286 
“Instructions for the preparation of regulatory reporting for banks and investment companies”, and 
subsequent updates), with regard to concentrations of risk.

In particular:
•	a “large exposure” is defined as every position equal to or greater than 10% of eligible capital, as 
defined in Regulation 575 of 2013 (sum of Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital equal to or less than one-
third of Tier 1 Capital). For Banca Farmafactoring, the eligible capital corresponds to own funds;
•	for banking groups and banks not belonging to a banking group each risk-weighted position 
must be within the limit of 25% of eligible capital.

In view of the fact that Banca Farmafactoring has an exposure that is almost completely composed 
of receivables due from the Public Administration, the portfolio risk is to be considered limited.  

Furthermore, Banca Farmafactoring files a monthly report with the Central Credit Register (Bank 
of Italy Circular 139 of February 11, 1991, and subsequent updates “Central Credit Register. Instruc-
tions for Credit Intermediaries”) providing information on the financial debt of the debtor over the 
course of time and on the agreed/utilized ratio (which expresses the financial commitment of the 
company and the debt margins that it has with the system).

Qualitative assessment of receivables
The Bank performs an impairment test on the receivables portfolio in order to identify any impair-
ment of the financial assets.

This analysis made it possible to distinguish between performing and non-performing receivables; 
included in the non-performing category are financial assets that show an individual risk of loss, 
while the remaining financial assets have been classified in the performing category.

Performing receivables
The measurement of performing receivables includes those receivables from customers which, 
although past due more than 90 days, show no objective indication of loss at an individual level.
This representation is consistent with the criterion of measuring non-recourse receivables pur-
chased at “amortized cost” which, in fact, is based on discounting estimated future cash flows 
according to an estimate of the time to collection.
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Although the receivables are due almost entirely from the Public Administration, as in previous 
years, at the date of the interim and year-end financial statements, the Bank, in accordance with 
IAS 39, carried out a collective impairment test of performing receivables in order to monitor the 
quantitative content. 

In order to determine the Loss Given Default (LGD), the Bank assumed the value proposed by the 
“Basel Accord” for credits not covered by real guarantees from sovereign states, companies and 
banks as being equal to 45% of the Probability of Default (PD) found.
The collective assessment of the PD was performed by assigning a rating to the debtors (ASLs-
Local Health Service Agencies/AOs-Hospital Companies), corresponding to the credit rating as-
signed by the major rating agencies to the particular Region to which the debtors belong. This 
rating is then applied to exposures that are not classified as non-performing Exposures At Default 
(EAD).

Such analysis and the manner of calculation were formulated when the transition was made to 
international accounting standards. Such calculation has never produced significant data since 
the PD attributed to the Regions based on the rating led to a modest impairment according to the 
impairment test.

Starting from July 2012, the input parameters for the collective impairment model led, as a result 
of the continual downgrades of the Republic of Italy and the consequent downgrade of the Regions 
in the fourth quarter of 2011, to a higher PD calculation compared to the past and, consequently, 
to a collective impairment loss that is no longer negligible.
Specifically, at December 31, 2015, the impairment test indicated an impairment loss of about €2.9 
million, higher by €0.9 million compared to 2014 owing primarily to the increase in the outstanding 
receivables of the Bank.

Non-performing receivables
In accordance with IAS 39, and for purposes of an analytical evaluation, the Bank carried out an 
assessment of the financial assets classified as non-performing receivables in order to identify any 
objective impairment of individual positions. 

Non-performing receivables consist of non-performing exposures, net of individual impairment 
losses, amounting to €2,507 thousand.

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques
In order to render non-recourse receivables purchased compatible with the derecognition prin-
ciple, the risk mitigation clauses, which could have in some way invalidated the effective transfer 
of risks and rewards, have been eliminated from the relative contracts.

2.4 Impaired financial assets
To this end, on July 24, 2014, the European Banking Authority (EBA) proceeded to publish the “Final 
Draft Implementing Technical Standards on Supervisory Reporting on Forbearance and Non-per-
forming Exposures” (EBA/ITS/2013/03/rev1 7/24/2014): this document introduces new definitions 
on the subject of impaired assets and forbearance measures.

These definitions have been introduced in the 7th update of Bank of Italy Circular 272 of January 
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20, 2015: such new definitions provide for the breakdown of impaired assets into:
•	Past due exposures, for a net amount of €43,234 thousand; 
•	Unlikely to pay, not applicable;
•	Non-performing exposures, for a net amount of €2,507 thousand.

Past due exposures 
These are exposures to central administrations and central banks, territorial entities, public sec-
tor entities, non-profit entities and companies which, at December 31, 2015, are past due more 
than 90 days.
In particular, exposures to central administrations and central banks, public sector entities and 
territorial entities, are considered past due when the debtor has not made any payment for any 
debt positions due to the Group for more than 90 days.

At December 31, 2015, total net past due receivables amount to €43,234 thousand, compared to 
€9,779 thousand at the end of 2014, of which €9,873 thousand is due from the entities of the Public 
Administration compared to €6,669 thousand at the end of 2014.

Unlikely to pay
The definition of this type of exposure represents the Group’s assessment that, without recourse 
to actions such as the realization of collateral, it is unlikely that the debtor will pay (principal and/
or interest) its credit obligations in full. This assessment is conducted regardless of the existence 
of any past due and unpaid amounts (or installments).

Therefore it is not necessary to wait for the explicit symptom of the event (e.g., failure to make 
payment) where elements exist that imply the risk of non-payment by the debtor. Exposures to 
retail parties can be classified in the “unlikely to pay” category at the level of individual transaction, 
provided that the bank assesses that no conditions exist for the classification in this category of the 
total exposure to the given debtor.

At December 31, 2015 the Group does not have any positions classified as “unlikely to pay”.

Non-performing exposures
These refer to exposures to parties that are in a state of insolvency or in basically similar situa-
tions, regardless of any estimates of loss formulated by the Bank.
At December 31, 2015 the total of non-performing receivables, net of writedowns due to esti-
mated impairment losses, amounts to €2,507 thousand, a decrease from €2,936 thousand in 
the prior year.

Of this amount, €0.9 million is due from Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liqui-
dation and in a composition agreement with creditors.
To this end, in July 2015 a third distribution was received of €1.6 million equal to approximately 6% 
of the liability, bringing the residual exposure from €2.4 million to €0.9 million. There was no effect 
on the income statement since the principal amount had not been written down.
With regard to the percentages of recovery established in the composition agreement, and as a result 
of the recognition of receivables for interest on late payments, the principal was not written down.
The other non-performing positions amount to approximately €3.3 million, of which about €1.6 
million was completely written off against the provision account and the net book value is now zero. 
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The remaining positions of about €1.6 million have not been written down since they refer to posi-
tions guaranteed by sureties and to exposures relating to local entities in financial difficulties (of 
which €743 thousand was non-performing when purchased and €312 thousand was purchased 
performing and later became non-performing), for which no provision for loss was made as it is ex-
pected that at the end of the period of financial difficulty 100% of the receivables will be recovered.
The provision account for interest on late payments on non-performing positions amounts to €13.6 
million and is completely written off. This refers mainly to the position with Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor in liquidation and in a composition agreement with creditors.
	
Unlike the considerations made for non-performing exposures, the assessment of past due expo-
sures is made at the level of portfolio since such positions show no objective indication of loss at 
an individual level.

Quantitative information

This section, pursuant to Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 2005, and subsequent up-
dates, “The Financial Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”, provides information solely in 
reference to the Banking Group composed of Banca Farmafactoring and Farmafactoring España.

In the cases expressly indicated, in which the aggregate of the companies included in consolida-
tion should be considered, the data is reported also for the special purpose entities Farmafactor-
ing SPV I and Mediona.

In the tables that refer only to the Banking Group, the data is reported gross of the transactions 
with the other companies included in the scope of consolidation.
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A. Credit Quality

A.1 Impaired and not impaired exposures: amounts, impairment losses, changes, business and geo-
graphical distribution 

A.1.1 Distribution of financial assets by portfolio and credit quality (carrying amount)
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Due from customers includes past due not impaired exposures, in accordance with the provi-
sions of Bank of Italy Circular 272 of July 30, 2008, and subsequent updates, “Matrix Accounts”, for 
€386,219 thousand. 
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A.1.2 Distribution of credit exposures by portfolio and credit quality (gross and net amounts) 
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A.1.3 Banking Group – On- and off-balance sheet credit exposures to banks: gross and net amounts and 
past due 

Exposure types/Amounts
A. On-balance sheet exposures 
a) Non-performing
- of which: forborne
b) Unlikely to pay 
- of which: forborne
c) Past due impaired exposures
- of which: forborne
d) Past due not impaired 
exposures 
- of which: forborne
e) Not impaired other exposures  
- of which: forborne

TOTAL A
B. Off-balance sheet exposures
a) Impaired 
b) Not impaired 
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A.1.6 Banking Group - On- and off-balance sheet credit exposures to customers: gross and net amounts 
and past due
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A.1.7 Banking Group - On-balance sheet credit exposures to customers: change in gross impaired 
exposures
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Sources/Categories
A. Beginning gross exposures
- of which: receivables sold but 
   not derecognized 
B. Increases 
B.1 transfer from performing exposures 
B.2 transfer from other categories of 
       impaired exposures 
B.3 other increases 
C. Decreases 
C.1 transfer to performing exposures 
C.2 derecognitions 
C.3 recoveries 
C.4 proceeds on sale 
C.5 losses on sale
C.6 transfer to other categories of impaired
	   exposures
C.7 other decreases
D. Ending gross impaired exposures 
- of which: receivables sold but not derecognized
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A.1.8 Banking Group – On-balance sheet impaired credit exposures to customers: change in total 
impairment losses
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A.2 Classification of exposures according to external and internal ratings

A.2.1 Banking Group - Distribution of on- and off-balance sheet credit exposures by external rating 
class
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This table includes, under “On-balance sheet exposures”, the following items in the assets of the 
financial statements relative to the Banking Group:

•	item 40 – Available-for-sale financial assets (only debt instruments) - for €429,414 thousand;
•	item 50 – Held-to-maturity financial assets - for €822,859 thousand;
•	item 60 – Due from banks - for €55,778 thousand, equal to the balances on the bank current ac-
counts that Banca Farmafactoring and Farmafactoring España have open at the end of the year;
•	item 70 – Due from customers - for €1,962,004 thousand, equal to the sum of the outstanding 
exposures at December 31, 2015 of Banca Farmafactoring and Farmafactoring España, net of in-
tergroup items, including the intragroup loan of €173,250 thousand.

In order to assign a credit quality rating to the debtors, the ratings compiled by the rating agency 
DBRS (the reference ECAI) were used. A reconciliation between the risk classes and the ratings by 
DBRS are as follows:

Exposures
A. On-balance sheet
exposures
B. Derivatives
    B.1 Financial derivatives
    B.2 Credit derivatives
C. Guarantees given
D. Commitments to 
disburse funds
E. Other

Total

External rating class

Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6

No rating Total

Credit Quality Class
1
2
3
4
5
6

AAA to AAL
AH to AL

BBBH to BBBL
BBH to BBL

BH to BL
CCC

ECAI
DBRS Ratings Limited

(in € thousands)
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A.3 Distribution of secured credit exposures by type of security

A.3.2 Banking Group - Secured credit exposures to customers

1. Secured on-balance sheet 
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1.1 fully secured 
        -  of which impaired 
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B. Distribution and concentration of credit exposures

B.1 Banking Group - Distribution by segment of on-and off-balance sheet credit exposures to cus-
tomers (carrying amount)
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Exposures/Counterparties
A. On-balance sheet exposure 
A.1 Non-performing 
        - of which: forborne
A.2 Unlikely to pay 
        - of which: forborne
A.3 Past due impaired 
		  exposures
        - of which: forborne
A.4 Not impaired exposures
        - of which: forborne

Total A
B. Off-balance sheet exposure 
B.1 Non-performing
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired exposures

Total B 
Total (A+B) 2015
Total (A+B) 2014
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(in € thousands)
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A. On-balance sheet exposure 
A.1 Non-performing 
        - of which: forborne
A.2 Unlikely to pay 
        - of which: forborne
A.3 Past due impaired 
		  exposures
        - of which: forborne
A.4 Not impaired exposures
        - of which: forborne

Total A
B. Off-balance sheet exposure 
B.1 Non-performing
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired exposures

Total B 
Total (A+B) 2015
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B.2 Banking Group – Distribution by geographical area of on- and off-balance sheet credit exposures 
to customers (carrying amount)

2,507

43,220

2,947,189
2,992,916
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3,110,377
2,623,047
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A. On-balance sheet exposure 
A.1 Non-performing 
A.2 Unlikely to pay 
A.3 Past due impaired 
		  exposures
A.4 Not impaired exposures  

Total A
B. Off-balance sheet exposure 
B.1 Non-performing
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Past due impaired 
		  exposures  
B.4 Not impaired exposures

Total 
Total 2015
Total 2014
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1,867
1,426 

Exposures/
Geographical area
 A. On-balance sheet exposure 
 A.1 Non-performing
 A.2 Unlikely to pay
 A.3 Past due impaired 
       exposures
 A.4 Not impaired exposures

 TOTAL  A 
 B. Off-balance sheet exposure  
B.1 Non-performing
 B.2 Unlikely to pay
 B.3 Past due impaired 
       exposures 
 B.4 Not impaired exposures

Total B 
Total (A+B) 2015
Total (A+B) 2014

Northwest Italy Northeast Italy Central Italy South Italy and 
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B.3 Banking Group – Distribution by geographical area of on- and off-balance sheet credit exposures 
to banks (carrying amount)
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B.4 Large exposures

At December 31, 2015, there are 15 “large exposures”, that is - as indicated in Bank of Italy Circu-
lar 263 of December 27, 2006, and subsequent updates, “New prudential supervision regulations for 
banks”, risk positions equal to or higher than 10% of eligible capital which, for the Banca Farmafac-
toring Banking Group, corresponds to own funds.

For these positions, the nominal amount is €2,739,230 thousand (unweighted) and the weighted 
amount is €264,575 thousand. 

However none of these positions exceeds the individual limit of 25% of the eligible capital the Bank-
ing Group.

C. Securitization transactions

This section presents “qualitative” and “quantitative” information on the transactions for the secu-
ritization and sales of assets put in place by the Bank and the Banking Group.

C.1 Securitization transactions

Information on the transaction with “Banca IMI - FF Finance S.r.l.” and “BayernLB – Farmafactoring 
SPV II S.r.l.”

The reimbursement of the Senior Notes under the FF Finance S.r.l. securitization program, origi-
nally for an amount of €100 million, was completed on February 25, 2015.
During March 2015 agreements were signed with SPV (Issuer), the Intesa Sanpaolo Group (Account 
Bank and Cash Manager), Duomo Funding Plc (Noteholder) and other counterparties to the transac-
tion for the closing of the securitization transaction, authorizing:
•	cancellation of all the contracts relating to the transaction;
•	repurchase, on the part of Banca Farmafactoring, of the receivables portfolio still outstanding 
with the SPV and the debit notes issued and not yet collected.

During 2015 the Bank then liquidated and cancelled the special purpose vehicle FF Finance S.r.l.. 
Securitization transactions were also conducted with BayernLB - Farmafactoring SPV II S.r.l. and 
the Senior Notes and the closing of the securitization program had been completed in 2014.

The accounting records of the special purpose vehicles showed only a single important asset, a tax 
credit of €126 thousand, with regard to the FF Finance program, and €66 thousand, with regard to 
the Farmafactoring SPV II S.r.l. program.

Each of the SPVs filed a request for the reimbursement of the respective credits through the pro-
cedure for the IRES reimbursement via the tax account, with the issue of a four-year guarantee by 
the Bank.

In order to facilitate the cancellation of the SPVs, the credit was assigned to the Bank. After as-
signing the tax credit and paying what was due to the Bank, the companies FF Finance S.r.l. and 
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Farmafactoring SPV II S.r.l. were cancelled from the Companies Register.
The Bank became the holder of the tax credit and is continuing to take the necessary steps to ob-
tain a refund from the Revenue Office for the IRES credit.

Information on the transaction with “Deutsche Bank – Farmafactoring SPV I S.r.l.”

Qualitative information 

Strategies, processes and objectives
During 2015, the Bank renegotiated the securitization transaction with the Deutsche Bank Group 
on the non-recourse sale of receivables due from the ASLs and AOs, with the aim of diversifying 
the Bank’s funding activities.

Characteristics of the transaction
The receivables were sold under ex Law 130/99 to a special purpose vehicle, Farmafactoring 
SPV I S.r.l., which financed the purchase by issuing securities for €150 million, subscribed to by 
Deutsche Bank AG.
The transaction provides for a revolving period valid up to June 30, 2016 during which sales of re-
ceivables will be made against collections on receivables, in order to maintain the collateralization 
ratio established in the contract.
At the end of the revolving period there will be an amortization period correlating to the residual 
life of the outstanding receivables during which the securities will be repaid in full.

Description of the risk profile
Banca Farmafactoring, as the originator and subordinated provider, maintains a role in the securi-
tization transaction, even though it sells the non-recourse receivables.

The transaction provides for a credit enhancement mechanism through an overcollateralization ra-
tio (equal to 133.33% of the amount of the securities issued) and the subordinated loan carried by 
Banca Farmafactoring.

At the end of the transaction, subsequent to the repayment of the securities and other senior ex-
penses on the transaction, all the remaining amounts from the collection of the receivables sold, 
including interest on late payment, will be due to Banca Farmafactoring as the subscriber of the 
subordinated loan. In light of this condition, together with the right of the company to repurchase 
and/or substitute the receivables at any time, all the risks and rewards of the transaction were not 
transferred to the assignee but remain with Banca Farmafactoring itself and, therefore, the secu-
ritization risk is included in the credit risk.

Quantitative information

Type of financial instruments held
Banca Farmafactoring does not hold any financial instruments connected with the aforementioned 
transaction.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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Sub-servicer activity 
Banca Farmafactoring, having the mandate for collection, recovers and collects the receivables on 
behalf of the Servicer Zenith Service S.p.A..

Following the sales of receivables made during the revolving phase of the transaction, the nominal 
outstanding amount of receivables at December 31, 2015 is about €250.5 million.

C.1. Banking Group - Exposure arising from the main "in-house" securitization transactions by type of 
securitized asset and by type of exposure

Type of 
securitized 
assets/Exposure
 A. Full 
derecognition 
 B. Partial 
derecognition 
 C. Not 
derecognized 
   C.1 
Farmafactoring 
SPV I 
      - Factoring

On-balance sheet exposure Guarantees given Credit lines
Senior Senior Senior

Carrying
amount

Mezzanine Mezzanine MezzanineJunior Junior Junior

87,837

 
87,837

(40)
 

(40)

(in € thousands)

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.

Carrying
amount

Impair
loss/rev.
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C.3 Banking Group – Interests in securitization vehicle companies

Securitization/Vehicle 
company name
Farmafactoring SPV I S.r.l. Milano - 

Via Statuto, 10 Line-by-line 311,234 150,00016

Consolidation Assets

Receivab. Other Senior Mezzan. JuniorDebt 
securities

LiabilitiesRegistered office

E. Sales transactions

A. Financial assets sold and not fully derecognized 

Qualitative information

The disclosure required by IFRS 7, paragraph 42D, letters a), b) and c) is provided below in respect 
of the nature of the assets transferred, the relationship between them and the associated liabili-
ties and relative risks to which the Bank is exposed.

As previously described, at December 31, 2015 there is a transaction still outstanding that was 
structured with Deutsche Bank on healthcare receivables that were sold but not derecognized 
since all the risks and rewards of ownership were not transferred upon sale.
The value of the receivables sold and not derecognized amounts to €233,483 thousand. 
The other amounts “Due from customers”, for a total of €418,031 thousand, refer to receivables 
used as collateral for the financing transactions with Ifitalia and Unicredit Factoring. 

There are also repurchase transactions, for about €920 million, with Cassa di Compensazione e 
Garanzia as the counterparty, put into place to refinance the securities portfolio of the Bank.

(in € thousands)
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Type/Assets 
portfolio
A. Balance sheet assets
1. Debt securities 
2. Equity instruments
3. Units in investment 
funds
4. Loans
B. Derivative instruments

Total 2015
of which impaired

Total 2014
of which impaired

1,568,632
917,117

 
 

651,515
 

1,568,632
4,658 

651,515
 
 
 

651,515
 

651,515
 4,658

495,264

822,350
822,350

 
 
 
 

822,350
 

595,047 

837,732
595,047

 
 

495,264
 
 
 

1,090,311

Financial 
assets 

held for 
trading.

A AA A AAB BB B BBC CC C CC 12.31.15 12.31.14

Finan. assets 
measured 
at fair value 
thro. profit 

or loss

Available-
for-sale 
financial 
assets

Held-to-
maturity 

financial assets

Due from 
banks

Due from 
customers 

Total 

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (carrying amount)
B = financial assets sold and partly recognized (carrying amount)
C = financial assets sold and partly recognized (total amount)

Quantitative information

E.1. Banking Group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized: carrying amount and total amount

  (in € thousands)

94,767 
94,767 

 
 
 

 
94,767 
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E.2. Banking Group - Financial liabilities compared to financial assets sold but not derecognized: 
carrying amount

Liabilities/Assets 
portfolio
1. Due to customers
a) related to assets 
fully recognized 
b) related to assets 
partly recognized 
2. Due to banks 
a) related to assets 
fully recognized 
b) related to assets 
partly recognized 

Total 2015
Total 2014

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Financial 
assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Available-
for-sale 
financial 
assets

Held-to-
maturity 
financial 
assets

Due from 
banks

Due from 
customers 

Total

417,014

417,014 
 
 

417,014
358,596

825,777

825,777 
 

 
825,777
595,034

 94,694

 94,694
  
 

94,694 

1,337,484

1,337,484 
 
 

1,337,484
953,630

1.2 Banking Group – Market risk

1.2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk – Regulatory trading book

Qualitative information

A. General aspects

The interest rate risk is represented by fluctuations in the level of market interest rates which may 
generate adverse effects on the income statement. The Bank’s lending activities, represented by 
non-recourse receivables purchased, are at fixed rates whereas funding is generally at variable 
rates. The exposure is given by the amount of financing subject to this risk.

At December 31, 2015 there are no hedging derivatives.

This situation is due to the fact that the bond and direct deposit-taking positions, both at fixed 
rates, represent a natural hedge of the risk of a fluctuation in interest rates which satisfies all the 
requisites of the internal policies.

  (in € thousands)
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1.2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking portfolio

Qualitative information

A.	 General aspects, operational processes and methods for measuring interest rate risk and 
price risk

For purposes of the assessment of interest rate risk, potentially associated with fluctuations in 
interest rates, the Bank is guided by the methodology contained in the prudential regulation (At-
tachment C – Bank of Italy Circular 285). This methodology is applied monthly, in order to record 
on a timely and continual basis any loss in the event of a market shock determined on the basis of 
annual changes in interest rates recorded during an observation period of six years, considering 
alternatively the first percentile (reduction) and the 99th percentile (increase) and ensuring that 
rates are not negative.

The interest rate sensitivity analysis requires the construction of a management framework so that 
the exposure can be highlighted. This is shown:
•	in the liabilities, by the total amount of loans revalued in relation to the maturity of the single 
tranches of utilization, the exposure in derivatives and by funding from Conto Facto and from the 
issue of bonds;
•	in the assets, by lending represented by exposure from the purchase of non-recourse receiv-
ables, whose collections are estimated using statistics of debtor payment times, and adjusted 
according to any settlement agreements with the individual Regions and/or with significant debt-
ors, or adjusted as a result of the sale of assets or by investments in the government securities 
portfolio.

The method used calls for:
•	Classification of assets and liabilities in different time periods: the allocation to different time 
periods is made, for fixed-rate assets and liabilities, on the basis of their residual life; for variable-
rate assets and liabilities, on the basis of the interest rate renegotiation date.
•	Weighting of net exposures within each period: the asset positions and liability positions within 
each period are offset, obtaining a net position. Each net position, for each time period, is multi-
plied by weighting factors, obtained as the product of the hypothetical variation in the rates and an 
approximation of the modified duration relating to the single periods.
•	Sum of the weighted exposures of the different time periods: the weighted exposures of the dif-
ferent periods are all summed together, obtaining a total weighted exposure.

The Total Weighted Exposure represents the change in the present value of cash flows, generated 
by the hypothetical interest rate scenario.
The Bank regularly monitors interest rate risk, as well its management, through ad hoc reporting.

Interest rate risk is assumed in connection with Banca Farmafactoring’s funding activity and oc-
curs as a result of complying with the policies and limits set by the board of directors and is regu-
lated by specific powers delegated in this area, which set autonomous limits for those authorized 
to operate in the Finance Department.
The corporate functions responsible for ensuring the proper management of interest rate risk are 
the Finance Department, the Risk Management function and senior management, which annually 
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propose the policies for lending and funding and interest rate risk management, and suggest, if 
necessary, any opportune actions to ensure that business is carried out consistently with the risk 
management policies approved by Banca Farmafactoring.
The interest rate risk position is reported quarterly to senior management and the board of direc-
tors of the Bank, in accordance with the procedures set out by the Risk Management function for 
senior management.
Furthermore, at the level of operations, the Finance Department monthly monitors interest rate 
risk, as well its management, through ad hoc reporting. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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Quantitative information

1. Banking portfolio: distribution by residual duration (repricing date) of financial assets and 
liabilities  

Currency: EURO                                                                                                                              

1. Balance sheet assets 
1.1 Debt securities 
- with prepayment option 
- other
1.2 Loans to banks 
1.3 Loans to customers 
- current account 
- other loans 
   - with prepayment option
   - other
2. Balance sheet liabilities 
2.1 Due to customers 
- current account 
- other payables 
   - with prepayment option 
   - other 
2.2 Due to banks 
- current account 
- other payables 
2.3 Debt securities 
- with prepayment option
- other 
2.4 Other liabilities  
- with prepayment option
- other 
3. Financial derivatives 
3.1 Physically settled 
- Options 
     + long positions 
     + short positions 
- Other derivatives 
     + long positions 
     + short positions 
3.2 Cash settled 
- Options 
     + long positions 
     + short positions 
- Other derivatives 
     + long positions 
     + short positions 
4. Other transactions off-balance sheet 	
     + long positions 
     + short positions 

 Type/Residual 
duration

574,398
 
 
 

49,989
524,409

 
524,409

 
524,409

147,835
147,835

25,196
122,639

 
122,639

259,841
51,493

 
51,493
5,788

202,560
 

202,560
 

202,560
2,110,099
1,427,023

93,984
1,333,039

 
1,333,039

683,076
 

683,076

770,650
486,359

 
486,359

 
284,291

 
284,291

 
284,291
39,894
39,894
39,894

607,756
167,417

 
167,417

 
440,339

 
440,339

 
440,339

163,337
158,337
158,337

 
 
 

5,000
5,000

1,024,287
547,004

 
547,004

 
477,283

 
477,283

 
477,283

402,158
99,196
99,196

 
 
 
 
 
 

302,962
302,962

31,271
 
 
 
 

31,271
 

31,271
 

31,271
45
45
45

1,851
 
 
 
 

1,851
 

1,851
 

1,851

On 
demand 

 Less than 
3 months 

3 to 
6 months

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to
5 years 

5 to 10 
years

Over 10 
years

Unspecified 
maturity 

(in € thousands)
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1.2.3 Exchange rate risk

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, operational processes and methods for measuring exchange rate risk

Exchange rate risk is represented by the exposure of the Banking Group to fluctuations in ex-
change rates, considering both positions in foreign currency and those that provide for indexation 
clauses linked to the trend in the exchange rates of a specific currency.

The Group’s asset portfolio is entirely expressed in euros; accordingly, the risk connected with the 
volatility of foreign currencies is to be considered non-existent.

Quantitative information

The Group’s asset portfolio is entirely expressed in euros; accordingly, there are no methods for the 
measurement and management of such risk.

1.2.4 Derivative instruments

At December 31, 2015 the Bank does not have positions in derivatives.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
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(in € thousands)

A. Financial derivatives 

A.1 Regulatory trading book: year-end notional amounts 

Underlyings/Derivative types
1. Debt securities and interest rates	
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
2. Equity instruments and share indexes	
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
3. Currency and gold
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
4. Commodities
5. Other underlyings

Total

30,000

30,000
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30,000

Over the 
counter

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

Over the 
counter

Clearing 
house

Clearing 
house
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Underlyings/Derivative types
1. Debt securities and interest rates
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
2. Equity instruments and share indexes	
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
3. Currency and gold
   a) Options
   b) Swaps
   c) Forwards
   d) Futures
   e) Other
4. Commodities
5. Other underlyings

Total

55,000

55,000

55,000

Over the 
counter

Total 12.31.2015 Total 12.31.2014

Clearing 
house

A.2 Banking book: year-end notional amounts

A.2.1 Hedging derivatives 

(in € thousands)

Over the 
counter

Clearing 
house
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Portfolios/Derivative types
A. Regulatory trading book
   a) Options
   b) Interest rate swaps
   c) Cross currency swaps
   d) Equity swaps
   e) Forwards
   f) Futures
   g) Other
B. Banking book – hedging derivatives	
   a) Options
   b) Interest rate swaps
   c) Cross currency swaps
   d) Equity swaps
   e) Forwards
   f) Futures
   g) Other
C. Banking book  – other derivatives	
   a) Options
   b) Interest rate swaps
   c) Cross currency swaps
   d) Equity swaps
   e) Forwards
   f) Futures
   g) Other

Total

46
 

46
 
 
 
 
 

47
 

47
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

93

Over
the counter

Total 12.31.2015

Negative fair value

Total 12.31.2014

Over
the counter

Clearing 
house

A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value – breakdown by product

(in € thousands)

Clearing 
house
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1.3 Banking Group – Liquidity risk

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, operational processes and methods for measuring liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is represented by the possibility that the Bank will be unable to fulfil its payment 
obligations due to the inability to access funds on the financial market, or limits that are present 
which restrict the disposal of assets. This risk is also represented by the inability to raise adequate 
new resources, in terms of amount and cost according to operating necessities, which would force 
the Bank to slow or halt the development of activities or sustain excessive funding costs to meet 
its obligations, with significant adverse impacts on the profits of its business.

Liquidity risk may be manifested through the following risk components:
•	Liquidity Mismatch Risk: the risk of mismatch between the amounts and/or the timing inflows 
and outflows.
•	Liquidity Contingency Risk: the risk that future unexpected events may require a materially larg-
er amount of liquidity than the business currently requires in a scenario as a normal going con-
cern. This risk may be generated by events such as failure to renew loans, the need to finance new 
activities, the difficulty in disposing of liquid assets or obtaining new loans in the event of a liquidity 
crisis.
•	Market Liquidity Risk: the risk of incurring losses on liquidating assets that would be considered 
liquid under normal market conditions, and being forced to keep them in the absence of the mar-
ket itself.
•	Operational Liquidity Risk: the risk of being unable to fulfill payment obligations due to errors, 
violations, interruptions or damages due to internal processes, persons or external events, while 
remaining solvent.
•	Funding Risk: the risk of incurring a loss due to the inability to draw from sources of financing at 
an economical cost to meet obligations and/or the possible increase in the costs of funding due to 
a change in rating (internal factor) and/or a wider gap in the credit spreads (external factor).

The Bank, in accordance with Bank of Italy’s regulations for prudential supervision, has adopted 
a risk management Regulation and a Treasury and Finance Regulation aimed at maintaining a 
high degree of diversification, in order to reduce liquidity risk, and identifying the governance and 
control principles as well as the structures responsible for the operational and structural manage-
ment of liquidity risk.
This internal regulation sets out:
•	the criteria adopted for the management of liquidity risk, defined in relation to the specific opera-
tions of the Bank and the potential sources of liquidity risk; 
•	the operating procedures through which the Bank monitors this risk, which include a diversifica-
tion of short-term assets (operational liquidity management) and medium-term assets (structural 
liquidity management);
•	the criteria for defining and carrying out stress tests, aimed at measuring in quantitative terms 
the capacity of the Bank to meet potential adverse events that could affect the level of liquidity risk;
•	the contingency funding plan in which the strategies and organizational and operating proce-
dures are defined for the management of early warning, warning and crisis situations as well as 
the resulting responsibilities.
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In order to ensure control over the processes for the management and control of liquidity risk, the 
Bank has adopted a governance model based on the following principles:
•	separation between the processes for the management of liquidity and processes for the control 
of liquidity risk;
•	development of the processes for the management and control of liquidity risk, consistently with 
the hierarchy structure and through a process of the delegation of powers;
•	sharing of the decisions and clarity of responsibilities among management, control and opera-
tions bodies;
•	conforming the management and monitoring processes of liquidity risk with prudential supervi-
sory indications.

Stress tests on liquidity risk were conducted for the purpose of evaluating the potential impacts of 
stress scenarios on the financial conditions of the Group.
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Quantitative information

1. Time breakdown by contractual residual duration of financial assets and liabilities – Currency: 
EURO  
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11,622
5,788
5,834
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5,000
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23,432
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14,013
 

14,013
 

511,842
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42,334

 
 

134,703
 

134,703
79,674
79,674
25,006
54,668

353,056
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285,547
 

285,547
309,626
189,990
149,811

40,179
8,227

111,409

622,900
177,186

 
 

445,714
 

445,714
371,029
225,475
64,969

160,506
 

145,554

38,646
 
 
 

38,646
 

38,646
45
45

 
45

Balance sheet assets
A.1 Government securities
A.2 Other debt securities
A.3  Units in investment funds 
A.4 Loans 
       - Due from banks 
       - Due from customers 
Balance sheet liabilities
B.1 Deposits and current ccounts 
       - Due to banks 
       - Due to customers 
B.2 Debt securities  
B.3 Other liabilities
Off-balance sheet transactions
C.1 Physically settled financial 
derivatives
     - Long positions
     - Short positions
C.2 Cash settled financial
derivatives 
     - Long positions
     - Short positions
C.3 Deposits and loans
to be received
     - Long positions
     - Short positions
 C.4 Irrevocable commitments
to disburse funds
     - Long positions
     - Short positions
C.5 Financial guarantees given
C.6 Financial guarantees received 
C.7 Physically settled credit 
derivatives 
     - Long positions
     - Short positions
C.8 Cash settled credit derivatives 
     - Long positions
     - Short positions

Items/Duration

 On 
demand  

1 to 7 
days 

7 to 15 
days 

 15 days 
to 1 

month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year

 1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years

Unspec. 
maturity

 (in € thousands)

1,437,286
945,442

 
 

491,844
 

491,844
792,092
336,487
237,291

99,196
300,000
155,605
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1.4 Banking Group – Operational risks

Qualitative information

1. General aspects, operational processes and methods for measuring operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to inadequacy or failures of procedures, caused by person-
nel and internal systems or as a result of external events. Falling in this category, among other, 
are fraud, human error, business interruption, system failure, breach of contracts and natural 
disasters; operational risk comprises legal risks but not strategic and reputational risk.  
Operational risk therefore refers to various types of events that would not be significant individually 
unless analyzed together and quantified for the entire category of risk.

For the Banking Group, the exposure to this category of risk is generated predominately by failures 
in the working process and in the organization and governance structure – human errors, mal-
functioning of computer applications, inadequate organizational management and control – as 
well as any loss of human resources in key positions within corporate management. Exposures to 
operational risks deriving from external sources, instead, appear to be of negligible importance, 
partly in view of the mitigation tools adopted to meet these unfavorable events, such as the busi-
ness continuity plan, data storage processes, back up instruments, insurance policies, etc.

The process adopted by the Group for the management and control of operational risks is founded 
on the principle of promoting a corporate culture for managing risk and defining the proper stan-
dards and incentives with the aim of adopting professional and responsible behavior, at all levels 
of operations as well as the design, implementation and management of an integrated system for 
operational risk management adequate in relation to the nature, operations, size and profile of 
risk. 

A “mixed” type assessment model for operational risks is employed by the Group. Such model is 
based on assessments that are both qualitative – linked to the mapping of the processes, the risk 
activities and relative controls put in place – and quantitative, using the methodologies set out by 
Bank of Italy.

Within the framework of the controls put in place over the exposure to operational risk, the follow-
ing specific risks are also monitored by the Bank:

•	Money laundering risk, regarding the risk that counterparties of the Group, whether financial, 
commercial, suppliers, partners, collaborators and consultants, may be implicated in transactions 
that might potentially favor the laundering of cash coming from illegal or criminal activities;
•	Compliance risk, concerning the risk of legal and administrative sanctions, significant financial 
losses or reputational losses due to failure to comply not only with laws and regulations but also 
with internal standards and conduct applicable to corporate activities. For this type of risk, a re-
view is carried out annually of the related assessment method, developed for all activities falling 
within the Bank’s legal scope of reference, according to a risk-based approach. In particular, for the 
relevant laws that do not call for the creation of specialized functions (e.g. privacy and workplace 
health and safety), the Compliance Function provides guidance ex ante to the Bank’s structures 
and assesses ex post the adequacy of the organizational measures and the control activities ad-
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opted under the Compliance Risk Assessment method. As for the laws monitored by specialized 
functions, the Compliance function carries out an indirect control by cooperating with these spe-
cialized functions in defining the compliance risk assessment methods in addition to mapping the 
risks and the relative controls (Compliance Risk Matrix).

For the calculation of the capital requirement on the operational risk, the Banking Group uses the 
Basic Indicator Approach - BIA, by applying a regulatory coefficient to an indicator of the volume of 
the Bank’s operations (Relevant Indicator).

The Group also assesses operational risks in connection with the introduction of new products, 
activities, relevant processes and systems and mitigates the consequence of any operational risk 
that may arise through the preventive involvement of the corporate control functions and the draw-
ing up of specific policies and regulations on various subjects and topics.

To control the above risks, the Group adopts ad hoc organizational models for the management of 
the risks regarding money laundering, safety and health in the workplace and information security.

Quantitative information

On the basis of the above methodology, the capital requirement for operational risk at December 
31, 2015 is equal to €24,457 thousand.

SECTION 3 – RISKS OF THE OTHER COMPANIES 

The consolidated financial statements of the Banking Group reflect the aggregation of the ele-
ments of the balance sheets and income statements of the parent Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A., 
Farmafactoring España S.A. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A.) and the 
special purpose entity, Farmafactoring SPV I S.r.l., and the Polish vehicle company Mediona.

The special purpose entity Farmafactoring SPV I S.r.l. was set up for the securitization transaction 
structured with Deutsche Bank. The company is included in the scope of consolidation because it 
meets the criteria set out in the IAS/IFRS standards which establish the obligation of consolidat-
ing a special purpose entity when, in the absence of an investment relationship, the company that 
prepares the financial statements, in substance, controls the special purpose entity.

These companies do not show further and relevant elements of risk other than those mentioned 
in the preceding paragraphs.  
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Part F – Consolidated Equity 

Section 1 – Consolidated equity

A. Qualitative information

The equity of the Banking Group is composed of the aggregate of share capital, reserves, valuation 
reserves and profit for the year.
For regulatory purposes, the relevant aggregate equity is calculated on the basis of the existing 
instructions of the Bank of Italy and constitutes the basis of reference of the prudential supervision 
regulations.

B. Quantitative information

B.1 Consolidated equity: breakdown by type of company

130,900
 

127,409
 
 
 

481
 
 
 

 
 

(120)
 

3,823

68,791
331,283

130,900

127,409

 
481

(120)

3,823

68,791
331,283

Equity items
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Equity instruments
(Treasury shares)
Valuation reserves
- Available-for-sale financial assets
- Property, plant and equipment
- Intangible assets
- Hedges of net investments in 
foreign subsidiaries
- Cash flow hedges
- Foreign exchange differences
- Non-current assets held for sale
- Actuarial gains/losses relating to 
defined benefits plans
- Share of valuation reserves from 
investments accounted for using the 
equity method
- Special revaluation laws
Profit for the year (+/-) attributable 
to the parent and non-controlling 
interests
Total equity

TotalBanking 
Group

Insurance 
companies

Other 
companies

Cons. elim. 
and adjust.

 (in € thousands)
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B.2 Valuation reserves for available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized at fair value. At the end of the year, the securities 
are measured at their amortized cost and the difference is recognized in equity under valuation 
reserves. This measurement led to the recognition of a positive change of €481 thousand in the 
valuation reserve at December 31, 2015.

B.3 Valuation reserves for available-for-sale financial assets: annual changes

481

481
238

481

481
238

1. Debt securities
2. Equity 
instruments
3. Units in 
investment funds
4. Loans

Total
Total 12.31.2014

Total
12.31.2015

Banking 
Group

Insurance 
companies

Other 
companies

Cons. elim. 
and adjust.

Posit. 
reserve

Negat.
reserve

1. Beginning balance 
2. Positive changes 
2.1 Increases in fair value 
2.2 Reclassification of negative 
reserves to income statement: 
        - due to impairments
        - following disposal
2.3  Other changes 
3. Negative changes 
3.1 Decreases in fair value 
3.2 Impairment losses 
3.3 Reclassification of positive 
reserves to income statement 
following disposal
3.4 Other changes 
4. Ending balance 

238
 

481
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(238)
 

481

Debt securities Units in 
investment funds

Equity 
instruments 

Loans 

Assets/Amounts

 (in € thousands)

Posit. 
reserve

Negat.
reserve

Posit. 
reserve

Negat.
reserve

Posit. 
reserve

Negat.
reserve

Posit. 
reserve

Negat.
reserve

 (in € thousands)
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B.4 Valuation reserves related to defined benefit plans: annual changes

IAS 19 no longer allows the deferral of actuarial gains and losses under the corridor method, re-
quiring their immediate recognition in comprehensive income for the year.
The results of the actuarial valuation reflect the impact of Law 296/2006 and the calculation, for 
purposes of IAS 19, refers solely to employee severance indemnity accrued and not transferred to 
supplementary pension funds or to the INPS Treasury Fund.
This generated a positive change in the valuation reserves, for 2014, of approximately €1 thousand.

Section 2 – Own funds and regulatory ratios

2.1 Application of the regulation

Starting January 1, 2014 European Regulation 575/2013 relating to the new regulation harmonized 
for banks and investment companies, contained in the CRR community regulation (Capital Require-
ments Regulation) and in the European Directive CRD IV (Capital Requirement Directive) of June 26, 
2013, was introduced on the basis of Bank of Italy Circular 285 “Supervisory provisions for banks” 
and 286 “Instructions for the preparation of regulatory reporting for banks and investment companies”, 
both of December 17, 2013.

These regulations include the standards set forth by the Basel Committee for banking regulations 
(known as the Basel 3 framework), whose implementation, pursuant to the Consolidated Law on 
Banking, is the responsibility of the Bank of Italy, and define the ways with which the discretionali-
ties attributed by community discipline to the national authorities were exercised.

2.2 Own funds of the Banking Group 

A. Qualitative information

Own funds represent the first line of defense against risks associated with overall financial activi-
ties and constitute the main parameter of reference for the assessment of capital adequacy. 
The purpose of the prudential supervision regulation is to ensure that all banks have a minimum 
obligatory capitalization in relation to the risks assumed.

The Banking Group constantly assesses its capital structure, developing and utilizing techniques 
for monitoring and managing regulated risks, also through its internal Risks Committee.
From the standpoint of Prudential Supervision, the amount of capital required is determined on 
the basis of the current reporting regulations.

Own funds are composed of the sum of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1), Additional Tier 1 Capital 
(AT1) and Tier 2 Capital (T2), net of items to be deducted and IAS/IFRS prudential filters.
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The main elements that form the Own funds of the Banking Group are computed in Common Equity 
Tier 1 Capital (CET1), and are the following:

•	share capital paid-in; 
•	reserves (legal reserve, extraordinary reserve, retained earnings);
•	profit for the year;
•	valuation reserves: actuarial gains/losses relating to defined benefit plans; 
•	valuation reserves relating to hedging derivatives;
•	valuation reserves: special revaluation laws.

Items to be deducted are other intangible assets.

In reference to the contents of Bank of Italy Circular 285 of December 17, 2013 – Section II, Para-
graph 2, last paragraph, wherein it is stated that banks have the right “not to include unrealized 
gains or losses in any element of Own funds relating to exposures to the central administrations 
classified in the 'Available-for-sale financial assets' category of IAS 39 approved by the EU” (option 
allowed by the Supervisory Bulletin No. 12 of December 2013, in the paragraph relating to “Regu-
lation on Own funds”), on January 24, 2014 the board of directors of Banca Farmafactoring decided 
to exercise such option.

Accordingly, beginning January 1, 2014 and until the end of the transitional period, the companies 
in the Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group will exclude unrealized gains or losses relating to the 
above-indicated exposures from Own funds.

Own funds of the Banking Group do not include capital items qualifying as Additional Tier 1 Capital 
(AT1) and Tier 2 Capital (T2).
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B. Quantitative information

Item / Amounts
A. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital  (CET1)  before 
prudential filters
	 of which grandfathered CET1 instruments 
B. CET1 prudential filters (+/-)
C. CET1 gross of items to be deducted and effects of 
transitional adjustments (A +/- B)
D. Elements to be deducted from CET1
E. Transitional adjustments – Effect on CET1 (+/-), 
including minority interests subject to transitional 
adjustments
F. Total Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1) 
(C - D +/- E)
G. Additional Tier 1 Capital (AT1) gross of items to be 
deducted and effects of transitional adjustments
	 of which grandfathered AT1 instruments 
H. Elements to be deducted from AT1
I. Transitional adjustments – effect on AT1 (+/-), 
including qualifying instruments issued by subsidiaries 
and computable in AT1 due to transitional provisions
L. Total Additional Tier 1 Capital ( AT1) (G - H +/- I)
M. Tier 2 Capital (T2) gross of items to be deducted and 
effect of transitional adjustments 
	 of which grandfathered T2 instruments
N. Elements to be deducted from T2
O. Transitional adjustments – Effect on  T2 (+/-), inclu-
ding qualifying instruments issued by subsidiaries and 
computable in T2 due to transitional provisions
P. Total Tier 2 Capital (T2) (M - N +/- O)
Q. Total Own Funds (F + L + P)

262,012
 
 

262,012
(2,747)

 

259,265
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

259,265

262,106
 
 

262,106
(2,053)

 

260,053
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

260,053

Total 12.31.2014Total 12.31.2015

 (in € thousands)
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2.3 Capital adequacy

A. Qualitative information

Compliance with capital adequacy limits both at the Base Level (CET1 Capital Ratio and Tier 1 Capi-
tal Ratio), and the Total Capital Ratio is constantly monitored by the competent corporate bodies.

The CET1 Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets. 
The Tier 1 Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets.
The Total Capital Ratio is given by the ratio of Total Own Funds to Risk-Weighted Assets.

In accordance with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular 262 of December 22, 2005, and sub-
sequent updates, “The Financial Statements of Banks: layout and preparation”, the amount of risk-
weighted assets is determined as the product of the total of prudential capital requirements and 
12.5 (the inverse of the minimum obligatory ratio equal to 8%).

The Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group’s total exposure to business risks at December 31, 2015 
is adequate in relation to the level of capitalization and the profile of risk identified.
The CET1 Capital Ratio, the Tier 1 Capital Ratio and the Total Capital Ratio are 24.3%.

 
Pillar I – Capital adequacy to meet the typical risks associated with financial activities

From the standpoint of operations, the absorption of risks is calculated using various methods:
•	credit risk        	      	  → standardized approach;
•	counterparty risk 	  → standardized approach;
•	operational risk	  → basic indicator approach;
•	market risk      	  → standardized approach.

Credit risk
The application of the Standardized approach involves the division of the exposures into various 
portfolios based upon the nature of the counterparty, and the application of diversified weighted 
coefficients to each portfolio.
In particular, for the “Central administrations and central banks” portfolio, the weighting depends 
on the rating assigned by the External Credit Assessment Institutions (ECAIs), or Export Credit 
Agencies (ECAs), to the individual States; for the “supervised intermediaries” portfolio, the weight-
ing depends on the rating of the State in which the supervised intermediary has its headquarters; 
for the “public sector entities” portfolio, the rules for weighting are the same as those for super-
vised intermediaries.
With regard to the reporting of own funds and capital requirements, the credit assessment agency 
(ECAI) for exposures to central administrations and central banks recognized by Banca Farmafac-
toring is “DBRS”, with the “Unsolicited” type of rating.
For the calculation of credit risk, the Bank applies the following weighting factors established by 
Bank of Italy’s regulation on Prudential Supervision:
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•	0% for receivables from central administrations and central banks;
•	20% for receivables from territorial entities with offices in a member State of the European Union 
denominated and financed in the local currency;
•	50% for receivables from the Public Administration (which include those from AOs in the National 
Healthcare System and ASLs) except for exposures with an original term equal to or less than 
three months for which a weighting is applied of 20%;
•	50% for receivables from supervised intermediaries except for exposures with an original term 
equal to or less than three months for which a weighting is applied of 20%;
•	100% for receivables from the Public Administration of countries in Credit Quality Class 3;
•	100% for receivables from private debtors;
•	100% for property, plant and equipment, investments and other assets;
•	150% for past due loans.

The non-recourse receivables purchased by Farmafactoring España are weighted at 20% since the 
counterparties of reference of such exposures are represented by the “Comunidad” (the Regions) 
and not by the entities of the Public Administration.
Receivables from the Portuguese health service are weighted at 100% since the country rating is 
Credit Quality Class 3. 

The Group constantly maintains, as a capital requirement against credit risk, an amount of regula-
tory capital equal to at least 8% of the weighted exposure to credit risk.

Capital requirement = 8% RWA

The Risk-Weighted Amount is determined by the sum of the risk-weighted assets of the various 
classes.

Counterparty risk
Counterparty risk represents a particular type of credit risk that generates a loss if the transac-
tions put in place with a specific counterparty have a positive value in the event of insolvency.
For Banca Farmafactoring the counterparty risk is represented only by derivative contracts put in 
place to hedge the risk of fluctuations in the interest rate: the application of the “Standardized” 
approach shows an insignificant amount.

Operational risk
The Group uses the “Basic” indicator approach to measure operational risk: the capital require-
ment is determined by applying a 15% coefficient to the three-year average of the relevant indica-
tor calculated on the items of the financial statements for the last three years, in accordance with 
European Regulation 575/2013.

Market risk
The Group measures market risk using the “Standardized” method. The regulation identifies and 
regulates the treatment of the various types of market risk in reference to the regulatory trading 
book. At December 31, 2015, there are no outstanding positions that fall in the regulatory trading 
book.
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Pillar II –The ICAAP Summary

This Pillar requires banks to have control strategies and processes for determining the adequacy 
of current and future capital. It is the Regulatory Authority’s responsibility to verify the reliability 
and accuracy of the relative results and, where necessary, to take the appropriate corrective ac-
tions. 
Each year the Banking Group presents the ICAAP summary to the Bank of Italy by April 30. The 
ICAAP summary shows the updated risk management system for the determination of the ad-
equacy of capital.
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B. Quantitative information

Categories/Amounts
A. RISK ASSETS
    A.1 Credit and 
    counterparty risk
1. Standardized approach
2. Internal rating based (IRB) approach
2.1 Basic indicator approach
2.2 Advanced measurement approach
3. Securitizations
B. REGULATORY CAPITAL 
REQUIREMENTS
B.1 Credit and counterparty risk
B.2 Credit valuation 
adjustment risk
B.3 Settlement risk
B.4 Market risk
1. Standardized approach
2. Internal models
3. Concentration risk
B.5 Operational risk
1. Basic indicator approach
2. Standardized approach
3. Advanced measurement approach
B.6 Other calculation elements
B.7 Total capital requirements
C. RISK ASSETS AND CAPITAL 
RATIOS	
C.1 Risk-weighted assets
C.2 Common Equity Tier 1 
Capital/Risk-weighted assets 
(CET1 capital ratio) (%) 
C.3 Tier 1 Capital/Risk-weighted 
assets (Tier 1 capital ratio) (%)
C.4 Total Own Funds/Risk-weighted 
assets (Total capital ratio) (%)

3,336,877 3,005,843 760,111
 
 
 
 
 

60,809

 

 
 
 

24,457
 
 

 85,266
 

1,065,819

24.3%

24.3%

24.3%

660,385
 
 
 
 
 

52,831

 
  

94
 
 
 

22,846
 
 
 

75,771
 

947,139

27.5%

27.5%

27.5%

 Unweighted assets
12.31.2015 12.31.201512.31.2014 12.31.2014

 Weighted assets/requirements

 (in € thousands)
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The unsolicited rating assigned to the Republic of Italy by DBRS is “A low” and therefore the receivables 
due from the Public Administration fall into Credit Quality Class 2, with a weighting equal to 50%.

In keeping with the provisions of EU Regulation 575/2013 (CRR), starting from December 31, 2015 
reporting, the consolidation area used only for supervisory regulations is headed by BFF Lux Hold-
ings S.à r.l..
For purposes of the preparation of the financial statements and the transmission of so-called 
“non-harmonized” reporting, reference will be still be made to the Banking Group ex T.U.B..

Part H - Related Party Transactions

1. Information on compensation to key executives

Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A.
• Compensation to the directors: €1,549 thousand.
• Compensation to the board of statutory auditors: €177 thousand.

On November 4, 2015, after approval by the Bank of Italy, 1,602,341 shares, representing 94.26% of 
the share capital of Banca Farmafactoring, were transferred to BFF Luxembourg  S.à r.l., a com-
pany controlled by the Centerbridge Partners Europe L.P. Fund, by the majority shareholder Farma 
Holding S.à r.l. and some minority shareholders.

The directors and executives of Banca Farmafactoring sold the investment in Banca Farmafactor-
ing S.p.A. and invested in BFF Lux Holdings S.à r.l., the majority shareholder of BFF Luxembourg 
S.à r.l..

The following table shows the number of shares, equal to 3.77% of share capital, held by directors 
and executives of Banca Farmafactoring in BFF Lux Holdings S.à r.l., at December 31, 2015. 

Directors and executives 16,279,126 BFF Lux Holdings S.à r.l.
CompanyNumber of shares

 (in € thousands)
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2. Information on related party transactions

There is a license agreement between Banca Farmafactoring and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
Farmafactoring España S.A.. This agreement covers IT user rights to the software, organizational 
methods and communication lines of Banca Farmafactoring, as well as the assistance, mainte-
nance and monitoring of these IT rights. Royalties are paid as consideration and, for the year 2015, 
amounted to about €441 thousand.

There is also an intercompany loan agreement between Banca Farmafactoring and Farmafactoring 
España, entered into on an arm’s length basis, which was utilized for €173 million at December 
31, 2015.

The ordinary shareholders’ meeting of Farmafactoring España held on February 24, 2016 approved 
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. Thanks to the gains made in vol-
umes and collections, the subsidiary reported a 420% increase in profit to €9,131 thousand from 
€2,175 thousand in the prior year. 
Following its engagement for a voluntary audit, Deloitte S.L. expressed an unqualified opinion on 
the financial statements of Farmafactoring España S.A..

The Group has factoring and mandate arrangements for the management and collection of receiv-
ables with its shareholder companies, conducted on an arm’s length basis.
Finally it should be mentioned that there are deposit account relationships with directors of the 
Group.
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Part L – Segment Reporting

The Banca Farmafactoring Banking Group at December 31, 2015 is composed of Banca Farmafac-
toring S.p.A., the parent, and the wholly-owned subsidiary Farmafactoring España S.A.
Banca Farmafactoring, like the subsidiary Farmafactoring España S.A., is engaged in the manage-
ment and sale of receivables due from the National Health Service and the Public Administration 
in Italy and Spain.
The Group also operates in Portugal under the freedom of provision of services principle.
 
The Group thus acts as a financial and operational support for leading Italian and international 
companies in various segments of the product spectrum (mainly the pharmaceutical and biomedi-
cal sectors) through non-recourse factoring.  
The Group’s clientele, formed primarily by multinational companies in the pharmaceutical and 
biomedical segments, generates receivables due from the National Health Service and the Public 
Administration as a result of their business activities. Currently the Group is diversifying its opera-
tions also into other product segments (Telecommunications and Utilities). 

The following table reports, for the last two years, the breakdown of the volumes realized by the 
Group as well as the outstanding volumes managed and the volumes purchased by the Group, with 
reference to the non-recourse factoring business, subdivided by category of debtor and geographi-
cal area.

5,764,216
4,550,826
1,102,277

111,113
467,170
412,596

54,574
55,028
55,028

6,286,414

Italy
National Health Service
Public Administration
Other
Spain 
National Health Service
Public Administration
Portugal
National Health Service
Total 

At December 31, 2015

Turnover 
managed

Receivables 
purchased 

Outstanding  

At December 31, 2014

1,797,015
951,243
824,665

21,107
183,434
142,210

41,224
28,392
28,392

2,008,841

2,481,156
1,512,774

939,586
28,796

449,590
395,016

54,574
55,028
55,028

2,985,774

5,085,095
4,423,865

580,652
80,578

336,261
308,350

27,911
29,365
29,365

5,450,721

1,271,491
1,012,464

250,330
8,696

250,698
227,699

22,999
27,228
27,228

1,549,417

2,161,323
1,804,930

344,872
11,521

310,938
283,027

27,911
29,365
29,365

2,501,626

As regards information relating to the breakdown by geographical area and by product segment of 
the customer, reference should be made to the tables in Part E of these Notes.

 (in € thousands)

Turnover 
managed

Receivables 
purchased 

Outstanding  
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Other disclosure

Fees paid to the audit firm and other firms in its network

As required by art. 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Issuers Regulation (Resolution 11971 of May 14, 
1999, and subsequent amendments and additions), the following table indicates the fees paid in 
2015 for audit and other services rendered by the audit firm and firms in its network. These fees 
represent the costs incurred and recorded in the financial statements, net of out-of-pockets ex-
penses and deductible VAT and the CONSOB contribution.

Audit  
Certification services (*)
Other services (**)
Other services (***)
Other services (****)
Total

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory S.r.l.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory S.r.l.

136
3

527
75

560
1,301

Fees (€/000)Service ProviderType of Service

(*) Issuance of comfort letters on the agreed procedures relating to compliance with financial covenants required by certain loan 
contracts.
(**) Activities conducted mainly in connection with the Bank’s listing process during 2015.
(***) Services rendered for methodological support in certain company projects.
(****) Due diligence activities performed by firms in the PwC international network on potential acquisitions of foreign companies.





INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLES 14 AND 16 OF
LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF 27 JANUARY 2010

To the shareholders of
Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A.

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banca Farmafactoring Group,
which comprise the balance sheet as of 31 December 2015, the income statement, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and the relatecd notes, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No.
38/2005.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia)
drawn up pursuant to article 11, paragraph 3, of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing audit procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The audit procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s professional judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view, in order to plan and perform audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Banca Farmafactoring Group as of 31 December 2015 and of the result of its operations and cash
flows for the year then ended in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of
Legislative Decree No. 38/2005.

Report on compliance with other laws and regulations

Opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the consolidated financial statements

We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) No. 720B in order to
express an opinion, as required by law, on the consistency of the report on operations, which is the
responsibility of the directors of Banca Farmafactoring S.p.A., with the consolidated financial
statements of Banca Farmafactoring Group as of 31 December 2015. In our opinion, the report on
operations is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of Banca Farmafactoring Group as
of 31 December 2015.

Milan, 11 march 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Signed by

Giovanni Ferraioli
(Partner)

This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the
convenience of international readers. We have not examined the translation of the
financial statements referred to this report.
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